REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 31, 2013 TO SEPTEMBER 29, 2014

Last amendment in force on May 31, 2013
This document has official status

chapter V-1.1,r. 24
REGULATION 51-102 RESPECTING CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONRb‘

P>

“

Securities Act

(chapter V-1.1, s. 331.1) (f})

PART 1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION Q/

1.1. Definitions and Interpretation ,&§
Q) In this Regulation: Qg

“acquisition date” has the same meaning as@%issuer's GAAP;

“AlF” means a completed Form 51-]%: Annual Information Form or, in the
case of an SEC issuer, a completed Form& 02F2 or an annual report or transition
report under the 1934 Act on Form 10- orm 20-F;

“asset-backed security” me rfs\as security that is primarily serviced by the cash
flows of a discrete pool of morggages, receivables or other financial assets, fixed or
revolving, that by their terms vert into cash within a finite period and any rights or
other assets designed to a VQ the servicing or the timely distribution of proceeds to
securityholders;

“board of dir " means, for a person that does not have a board of directors,
an individual or @p at acts in a capacity similar to a board of directors;

“busj acquisition report” means a completed Form 51-102F4 Business
Acquisitigf\Rpport;

<<®ass” includes a series of a class;

“‘common share” means an equity security to which are attached voting rights

ercisable in all circumstances, irrespective of the number or percentage of securities

owned, that are not less, per security, than the voting rights attached to any other
outstanding securities of the reporting issuer;



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 31, 2013 TO SEPTEMBER 29, 2014

“corporate law” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 54-101
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer
(chapter V-1.1, r. 29);

“date of transition to IFRS” means the date of transition to IFRSs as that term is
defined in Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;

“designated rating organization”’means (19

(@) each of DBRS Limited, Fitch, Inc., Moody’s Canada Inc.(@ﬁdard &
Poor’s Ratings Services (Canada), including their DRO affiliates; or Q‘

(b) any other credit rating organization that has be signated under
securities legislation;

“DRO affiliate” has the same meaning as in g&of Regulation 25-101

respecting Designated Rating Organizations (chapter V, r. 8.1);

“electronic format” has the same meaninw " Regulation 13-101 respecting
System for Electronic Document Analysis and R/& al (SEDAR) (chapter V-1.1, r. 2);

“equity investee” means a businetsg)hat the issuer has invested in and
accounted for using the equity method:; q/Q

“exchange-traded security” rhqans a security that is listed on a recognized
exchange or is quoted on a rec ﬁbd guotation and trade reporting system or is listed
on an exchange or quoted o otation and trade reporting system that is recognized
for the purposes of ation 21-101 respecting Marketplace Operation
(chapter V-1.1, r. 5) n Regulation  23-101  respecting  Trading Rules
(chapter V-1.1, r. 6);

“executivz< Oer means, for a reporting issuer, an individual who is

(@) Q/chair, vice-chair or president;

@7 a chief executive officer or chief financial officer;

<< (b)  a vice-president in charge of a principal business unit, division or function
\ ding sales, finance or production; or

(© performing a policy-making function in respect of the issuer;

“financial outlook” means forward-looking information about prospective financial
performance, financial position or cash flows that is based on assumptions about future
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economic conditions and courses of action and that is not presented in the format of a
historical statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive income or
statement of cash flows;

“financial statements” includes interim financial reports;

“first IFRS financial statements” has the same meaning as in Canadian @P
applicable to publicly accountable enterprises; (l/

“FOFI”, or “future-oriented financial information”, means fo(Vr%f-‘looking
information about prospective financial performance, financial positiognor €ash flows,
based on assumptions about future economic conditions and cou% of action, and
presented in the format of a historical statement of financial §M¥n, statement of
comprehensive income or statement of cash flows;

“form of proxy” means a document containing t@ormaﬁon required under
section 9.4 that, on completion and execution by orQ/ behalf of a securityholder,

becomes a proxy; (b

“forward-looking information” means d%@ure regarding possible events,
conditions or financial performance that is baged dh assumptions about future economic
conditions and courses of action and inclu ture-oriented financial information with
respect to prospective financial perfor e, financial position or cash flows that is
presented either as a forecast or a projecyon;

b
“information circular” meis(bcompleted Form 51-102F5 Information Circular;
“informed person” m

@ a directo@‘executive officer of a reporting issuer;

O

(b) a '@or or executive officer of a person that is itself an informed person
or subsidiar% reporting issuer,

(c C)any person who beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or
indire ting securities of a reporting issuer or a combination of both carrying more
tha o of the voting rights attached to all outstanding voting securities of the

gﬁing issuer other than voting securities held by the person as underwriter in the

r
@rse of a distribution; and

(d) a reporting issuer that has purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired
any of its securities, for so long as it holds any of its securities;
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“inter-dealer bond broker” means a person that is approved by the Investment
Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada under its Rule 36 Inter-Dealer Bond
Brokerage Systems, as amended, and is subject to its Rule 36 and its Rule 2100 Inter-
Dealer Bond Brokerage Systems, as amended;

“interim period” means, '\b‘

(@) in the case of a year other than a non-standard year or a transitiorf}%r, a
period commencing on the first day of the financial year and ending 9, 6 (bj)\ onths
before the end of the financial year, (L

(a.1) in the case of a non-standard year, a period commenc@%n the first day
of the financial year and ending within 22 days of the date th % 7 6 or 3 months
before the end of the financial year; or &

(b) in the case of a transition year, a period c@g/cing on the first day of
the transition year and ending Q/

(1) 3, 6, 9 or 12 months, if applic@g%lfter the end of the old financial

year; or &

(i) 12, 9, 6 or 3 months, ihg‘pblicable, before the end of the transition

year;
Vv

“‘issuer's GAAP” has the hﬁe«meaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principle Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25);

“MD&A” means a ?Tpleted Form 51-102F1 Management's Discussion &
Analysis or, in the c f an SEC issuer, a completed Form 51-102F1 or
management's discu%\ and analysis prepared in accordance with Item 303 of
Regulation S-K und@n 1934 Act;

“mark%p/ ce” means

(%S)an exchange;

<<®) a quotation and trade reporting system;
\ (c) any other person that

0] constitutes, maintains or provides a market or facility for bringing
together buyers and sellers of securities;
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(i) brings together the orders for securities of multiple buyers and
sellers; and

(i)  uses established, non-discretionary methods under which the
orders interact with each other, and the buyers and sellers entering the orders agree to
the terms of a trade; or '\bg

(d)  adealer that executes a trade of an exchange-traded security out!ﬂ&f a
marketplace, but does not include an inter-dealer bond broker;

b
“material change” means Q:l/
(@) a change in the business, operations or capital of t rting issuer that
would reasonably be expected to have a significant effect on rket price or value

of any of the securities of the reporting issuer; or &

board of directors or other persons acting in a similar ity or by senior management
of the reporting issuer who believe that confirmgan+of the decision by the board of
directors or any other persons acting in a simila[.ﬂ city is probable;

(b)  adecision to implement a change referr%% paragraph (a) made by the

“material contract” means any contrals?taat an issuer or any of its subsidiaries is
a party to, that is material to the issuer; (19

“mineral project” has the ;ghg«meaning as in Regulation 43-101 respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Miril rojects (chapter V-1.1, r. 15);

“new financial year ?Teans the financial year of a reporting issuer that
immediately follows a tr:n year,
“non-standar r" means a financial year, other than a transition year, that
does not have 3&@-@5, or 366 days if it includes February 29;
“notgi}lg security” means a restricted security that does not carry the right to
Il

vote ge , except for a right to vote that is mandated, in special circumstances, by
law; O@*

<< “notice-and-access” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of
ulation 54-101 respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a
\Reporting Issuer;

“old financial year” means the financial year of a reporting issuer that immediately
precedes a transition year;
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“operating income” means gross revenue minus royalty expenses and production
costs;

“preference share” means a security to which is attached a preference or right
over the securities of any class of equity securities of the reporting issuer, but does not

include an equity security; ,\b‘

“principal obligor” means, for an asset-backed security, a person that is dy@ted
to make payments, has guaranteed payments, or has provided alternative creg;ﬂs pport
for payments, on financial assets that represent one-third or more of th‘i{ gregate
amount owing on all of the financial assets servicing the asset-backed uriy;

“private enterprise” has the same meaning as in Part 3 @(gulation 52-107
respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Stan ,

“profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent” the same meaning as in
Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable ent es;

“profit or loss from continuing operations atiRute®le to owners of the parent” has
the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP applic& publicly accountable enterprises;

“proxy” means a completed an ‘becuted form of proxy by which a
securityholder has appointed a person % securityholder's nominee to attend and act
for the securityholder and on the securitylyplder's behalf at a meeting of securityholders;

M)

“proxy-related materials” (ebw securityholder material relating to a meeting of

securityholders that a perso 1% solicits proxies is required under corporate law or
securities legislation to se the registered holders or beneficial owners of the
securities;
“publicly acc %ble enterprise” has the same meaning as in Part 3 of
Regulation 52- @respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing
Standards;

“r %ed exchange” means

@) in Ontario, an exchange recognized by the securities regulatory authority
t &ry on business as a stock exchange;

\ (a.1) in Québec, a person authorized by the securities regulatory authority to
carry on business as an exchange; and

(b) in every other jurisdiction, an exchange recognized by the securities
regulatory authority as an exchange, self-regulatory organization or self-regulatory
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body, or a legal person, a partnership or any other entity authorized by the securities
regulatory authority to carry on securities trading in accordance with securities
legislation;

“recognized quotation and trade reporting system” means

reporting system recognized by the securities regulatory authority under s es

€) in every jurisdiction other than British Columbia, a quotation ar;&a\e
[
legislation to carry on business as a quotation and trade reporting system; aré.) .

(b) in British Columbia, a quotation and trade reporting syste%rjel{)gnized by
the securities regulatory authority under securities legislation as a n@ tion and trade
reporting system or as an exchange; %

issuer, if any of the

“restricted security” means an equity security of a re
following apply: Q

(@) there is another class of securities igl reporting issuer that, to a
reasonable person, appears to carry a greater nu@ of votes per security relative to

the equity security; &
(b)  the conditions attached to thb?ouiss of equity securities, the conditions
attached to another class of securities reporting issuer, or the reporting issuer’s

constating documents have provisions thg nullify or, to a reasonable person, appear to
significantly restrict the voting righa)b\the equity securities; or

(© the reporting is as issued another class of equity securities that, to a
reasonable person, appea }entitle the owners of securities of that other class to
participate in the earnin s&ssets of the reporting issuer to a greater extent, on a per
security basis, than th ers of the first class of equity securities;

“restricte @curity term” means each of the terms “non-voting security”,
“subordinate yodg security” and “restricted voting security”;

“reigted voting security” means a restricted security that carries a right to vote
subje restriction on the number or percentage of securities that may be voted by
on ore persons, unless the restriction is

\é (@) permitted or prescribed by statute; and
(b) is applicable only to persons that are not citizens or residents of Canada

or that are otherwise considered as a result of any law applicable to the reporting issuer
to be non-Canadians;
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“restructuring transaction” means
(@) a reverse takeover;
(b) an amalgamation, merger, arrangement or reorganization;

(c) a transaction or series of transactions involving a reporting ¢ r
acquiring assets and issuing securities that results in (l/

0] new securityholders owning or controlling more tham’@/ﬁ‘ of the
reporting issuer’s outstanding voting securities; and

(i) a new person, a new combination of persog@%ﬁg together, the

vendors of the assets, or new management

(A) being able to materially affecdﬁ& control of the reporting

issuer; or Q/

(B)  holding more than 20% c?e outstanding voting securities
of the reporting issuer, unless there is eV|d howing that the holding of those
securities does not materially affect the contr e reporting issuer; and

(d) any other transaction sim@o the transactions listed in paragraphs (a)
to (c), but does not include a subdivisio nsolidation, or other transaction that does
not alter a securityholder's propot™Nonate interest in the issuer and the issuer’s
proportionate interest in its ass \t

“retrospective” has ?’Same meaning as in Canadian GAAP applicable to
publicly accountable e NeS

nt§r
“retrospectiv as the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP applicable to
publicly accounté;Q-enterprises;

&

ﬁ* a reverse acquisition, which has the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP
ap to publicly accountable enterprises; or

eover’ means

(b) a transaction where an issuer acquires a person by which the

&curityholders of the acquired person, at the time of the transaction, obtain “control” of

the issuer, where, for purposes of this paragraph, control has the same meaning as in
Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;

“reverse takeover acquiree” means the legal parent in a reverse takeover;
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“reverse takeover acquirer’” means the legal subsidiary in a reverse takeover;
“SEC issuer” means an issuer that

(@) has a class of securities registered under section 12 of the 1934 Act ?r\b‘
required to file reports under section 15(d) of the 1934 Act; and Q

(b) is not registered or required to be registered as an investme%gﬁpany
under the Investment Company Act of 1940 of the United States of(lt/ rica, as

amended; Q/Q‘

“solicit”, in connection with a proxy, includes %
(@) requesting a proxy whether or not the requ I3 accompanied by or
included in a form of proxy; Q

(b) requesting a securityholder to execute c%%/to execute a form of proxy or
to revoke a proxy; O

(© sending a form of proxy or othe(ﬁo munication to a securityholder under
circumstances that to a reasonable personNQ ikely result in the giving, withholding or
revocation of a proxy; or q/

(d)  sending a form of pr ova securityholder by management of a reporting
%

issuer; !

but does not include

(e) sending m of proxy to a securityholder in response to a unsolicited
request made by or half of the securityholder;

) &)r ing ministerial acts or professional services on behalf of a person
soliciting a ;

sending, by an intermediary as defined in Regulation 54-101 respecting
Co% ication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer, of the
dQc

g ents referred to in that regulation;
\ (h)  soliciting by a person in respect of securities of which the person is the
beneficial owner;

(1) publicly announcing, by a securityholder, how the securityholder intends to
vote and the reasons for that decision, if that public announcement is made by
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0] a speech in a public forum; or

(i) a press release, an opinion, a statement or an advertisement
provided through a broadcast medium or by a telephonic, electronic or other
communication facility, or appearing in a newspaper, a magazine or other publlcq{
generally available to the public;

()] communicating for the purposes of obtaining the number s(lﬁrltles

. . . 3 b .

required for a securityholder proposal under the laws under which the rep(ﬂ(lﬁ issuer is

incorporated, organized or continued or under the reporting issueQ~ stating or
establishing documents; or

(k) communicating, other than a solicitation n behalf of the
management of the reporting issuer, to securityholders in th Ing circumstances:
(1) by one or more securityholders co |ng the business and affairs

of the reporting issuer, including its manageme proposals contained in a
management information circular, and no form of %s sent to those securityholders
by the securityholder or securityholders mak communlcatlon or by a person
acting on their behalf, unless the communlca made by

(A) a securityho o is an officer or director of the reporting
issuer if the communication is flnanced dijectly or indirectly by the reporting issuer;

B) a s lﬂﬂholder who is a nominee or who proposes a
nominee for election as a 'rrei;tor if the communication relates to the election of
directors;

(Cg%a securityholder whose communication is in opposition to an
amalgamation, arr ent, consolidation or other transaction recommended or
approved by th rd of directors of the reporting issuer and who is proposing or
intends to pr% n alternative transaction to which the securityholder or an affiliate or

associate %} securityholder is a party;
Q‘ (D) a securityholder who, because of a material interest in the

% atter to be voted on at a securityholder’'s meeting, is likely to receive a benefit
ts approval or non-approval, which benefit would not be shared pro rata by all

r holders of the same class of securities, unless the benefit arises from the
&curityholder's employment with the reporting issuer; or

(E) any person acting on behalf of a securityholder described in
any of clauses (A) to (D);

10
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(i) by one or more securityholders and concerns the organization of a
dissident’s proxy solicitation, and no form of proxy is sent to those securityholders by
the securityholder or securityholders making the communication or by a person acting
on their behalf;

(i)  as clients, by a person who gives financial, corporate governq\?‘
or proxy voting advice in the ordinary course of business and concerns pronyt
advice if

(A) the person discloses to the securityholder a cég‘inificant
relationship with the reporting issuer and any of its affiliates or with a s%ﬁfﬁolder who
has submitted a matter to the reporting issuer that the securityholde ds to raise at
the meeting of securityholders and any material interests the p @ in relation to a
matter on which advice is given; §

for giving the proxy voting advice only from the s tyholder or securityholders

(B) the person receives any spe@ ISSIOI’] or remuneration
receiving the advice; and (‘O

(C) the proxy voting adv}%e@ not given on behalf of any person
soliciting proxies or on behalf of a nominee fO(-gle ion as a director; or

(iv) by a person who d@not seek directly or indirectly the power to
act as a proxyholder for a securltyholde

“special meeting” has th %be meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 54-101
respecting Communication wi Hféeneflual Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer;

“special resolut the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 54-101
respecting Communic with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer;

“stratifica QQS the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 54-101
respecting Co unication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer;

nate voting security” means a restricted security that carries a right to
are securities of another class outstanding that carry a greater right to vote
security basis;

§ “transition year” means the financial year of a reporting issuer or business in
ich the issuer or business changes its financial year-end,;

“U.S. AICPA GAAS” has the same meaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards;

11
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“U.S. GAAP” has the same meaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards;

“U.S. laws” means the 1933 Act, the 1934 Act, all enactments made under those
Acts and all SEC releases adopting the enactments, as amended;

“U.S. marketplace” means an exchange registered as a “national SGC@QS
exchange” under section 6 of the 1934 Act, or the Nasdaq Stock Market; and (l/

“U.S. PCAOB GAAS” has the same meaning as in Regulation 52-10‘&§pecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards;

“venture issuer” means a reporting issuer that, as at the gﬁle time, did not

have any of its securities listed or quoted on any of the Toront Exchange, a U.S.
marketplace, or a marketplace outside of Canada and th jed States of America
other than the Alternative Investment Market of the Lo tock Exchange or the

PLUS markets operated by PLUS Markets Group pl ere the “applicable time” in

respect of (‘O

@) Parts 4 and 5 of this Regulation@:orm 51-102F1, is the end of the
applicable financial period; (b

(b) Parts 6 and 9 of this Reg@on and Form 51-102F6, is the end of the
most recently completed financial year;

(c) Part 8 of this Regu afb and Form 51-102F4, is the acquisition date; and
(d)  section 11.3 %IS Regulation, is the date of the meeting of the
securityholders. @
(2) In this Regul%n issuer is an affiliate of another issuer if
(@) rQo them is the subsidiary of the other, or

(b C)each of them is controlled by the same person.

3) @ﬂ the purposes of subsection (2), a person (first person) is considered to
cgn | another person (second person) if

(@) the first person beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or
indirectly, securities of the second person carrying votes which, if exercised, would
entitle the first person to elect a majority of the directors of the second person, unless
that first person holds the voting securities only to secure an obligation,

12
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(b) the second person is a partnership, other than a limited partnership, and
the first person holds more than 50% of the interests of the partnership, or

(c) the second person is a limited partnership and the general partner of the
limited partnership is the first person.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 1.1; M.O. 2005-25, s. 1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 1; M.O. 200708@[
M.O. 2008-06, s. 1 and 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 1; M.O. 2010-17, s. 1; M.O. 2013

M.O. 2013-04, s. 1; M.O. 2013-09, s. 1.

PART 2 APPLICATION Q:l/

2.1. Application

This Regulation does not apply to an investment fund,xQ/§

M.O. 2005-03, s. 2.1. Q
&

PART 3 LANGUAGE OF DOCUMENTS O
3.1. French or English 0.';&
(1) A person must file a documen“.@'}red to be filed under this Regulation in

French or in English.

English but delivers to securi ders a version of the document in the other language,
the person must file that version not later than when it is first delivered to
securityholders.

(2) Despite subsection (1), g zg’,berson files a document only in French or only in

3) In Quebec §rtlng issuer must comply with linguistic obligations and rights
prescribed by Q&

M.O. 2005€§(; 3.1; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11.
3.2. @ms Translated into French or English

<< If a person files a document under this Regulation that is a translation of a
\@um

ent prepared in a language other than French or English, the person must

(@) attach a certificate as to the accuracy of the translation to the filed
document; and

13
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(b) make a copy of the document in the original language available to a
registered holder or beneficial owner of its securities, on request.

M.O. 2006-04, s. 2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11.

PART 4 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS '\b‘
4.1. Comparative Annual Financial Statements and Audit (19

(1) Areporting issuer must file annual financial statements that include (f}) °

(@) a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of %ges in equity,
and a statement of cash flows for %

0] the most recently completed financial ye

(i) the financial year immediately @eding the most recently
completed financial year, if any; (‘O

(b) a statement of financial position,@t the end of each of the periods
referred to in paragraph (a); 0.')

(© in the following circumsta a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the financial year immedig#ely preceding the most recently completed
financial year: N

(1) the reporéﬂ?ésissuer discloses in its annual financial statements an

unreserved statement of co ce with IFRS; and

(i) th orting issuer

financial stateé ts;
C) (B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its annual

financﬁmlements; or

E << (C) reclassifies items in its annual financial statements;

applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its annual

(d) in the case of the reporting issuer's first IFRS financial statements, the
opening IFRS statement of financial position at the date of transition to IFRS; and

(e) notes to the annual financial statements;

14
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(2)  Annual financial statements filed under subsection (1) must be audited.

3) If a reporting issuer presents the components of profit or loss in a separate
income statement, the separate income statement must be displayed immediately
before the statement of comprehensive income filed under subsection (1). b‘

P>

4.2. Filing Deadline for Audited Annual Financial Statements (2).‘

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 3; M.O. 2010-17, s. 2.

The audited annual financial statements required to be filed qutrlgection 4.1

must be filed Q/
@) in the case of a reporting issuer other than a ve @suer, on or before
the earlier of ,&/

(1) the 90" day after the end of its n‘Qgecently completed financial
year; and (‘o

(i) the date of filing, in a&@gn jurisdiction, annual financial
statements for its most recently completed fir\agci year; or

(b) in the case of a venture is;&@}on or before the earlier of

(i) the 120th day af%'\he end of its most recently completed financial
year; and

(i) the d ?Of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, annual financial
statements for its most rgc completed financial year.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.@. . 2006-04, s. 4.

4.3. Interiafﬁa cial Report

(1) SudNegt'to sections 4.7 and 4.10, a reporting issuer must file an interim financial
repor ch interim period ended after it became a reporting issuer.

(§z<< The interim financial report required to be filed under subsection (1) must include
\ (@) a statement of financial position as at the end of the interim period and a

statement of financial position as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year,
if any;

15
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(b)  a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity
and a statement of cash flows, all for the year-to-date interim period, and comparative
financial information for the corresponding interim period in the immediately preceding
financial year, if any;

financial year, a statement of comprehensive income for the 3 month period endj
the last day of the interim period and comparative financial information (FP/ the
corresponding period in the immediately preceding financial year, if any;

(c) for interim periods other than the first interim period in a reporting iss;élebg

(d) in the following circumstances, a statement of financial [Q:lﬁ as at the
beginning of the immediately preceding financial year: Q/

0] the reporting issuer discloses in its integ ;nancial report an
unreserved statement of compliance with International Acc Standard 34 Interim
Financial Reporting; and

(i) the reporting issuer (‘OQ/

(A) applies an account'u(({Q)licy retrospectively in its interim
financial report; 0.')

(B) makes a re ective restatement of items in its interim
financial report; or

© recliﬂas |tems in its interim financial report;

(e) in the case portlng issuer's first interim financial report required to
be filed in the year of a IFRS the opening IFRS statement of financial position at
the date of transmon t S; and

() e interim financial report.

(2.1) If a ting issuer presents the components of profit or loss in a separate
income ent, the separate income statement must be displayed immediately
befor atement of comprehensive income filed under subsection (2).

(§z<< An auditor review of an interim financial report must be disclosed as follows:

@) If an auditor has not performed a review of an interim financial report
required to be filed under subsection (1), the interim financial report must be
accompanied by a notice indicating that the interim financial report has not been
reviewed by an auditor.
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(b) If a reporting issuer engaged an auditor to perform a review of an interim
financial report required to be filed under subsection (1) and the auditor was unable to
complete the review, the interim financial report must be accompanied by a notice
indicating that the auditor was unable to complete a review of the interim financial report
and the reasons why the auditor was unable to complete the review.

(© If an auditor has performed a review of the interim financial report re
to be filed under subsection (1) and the auditor has expressed a reservation oh?!( ion
in the auditor's interim review report, the interim financial report must be a nied
by a written review report from the auditor.

4) If an SEC issuer that is a reporting issuer

@) has filed an interim financial report prepared in a nce Wlth Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises for more interim periods
since its most recently completed financial year for Whl aI financial statements

have been filed; and

(b) prepares its annual financial state @cqr an interim financial report for
the period immediately following the periods re to in paragraph (a) in accordance

with U.S. GAAP,
| \‘b
the SEC issuer must q/Q

(c) restate the interim fh&@mcial report for the periods referred to in
paragraph (a) in accordance WKU . GAAP; and

(d) file the restat Vil'erim financial report referred to in paragraph (c) by the
filing deadline for the fingnN®Astatements referred to in paragraph (b).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4. . 2006-04, s. 5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 3.
4.4. Filing Q i: ne for an Interim Financial Report
m financial report must be filed

in the case of a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, on or before
0] the 45th day after the end of the interim period; and

Ié %rller of
(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
for a period ending on the last day of the interim period; or
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(b) in the case of a venture issuer, on or before the earlier of
0] the 60th day after the end of the interim period; and

(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
for a period ending on the last day of the interim period.

N
M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4. (19

4.5. Approval of Financial Statements (f})ﬂ

(1) The annual financial statements a reporting issuer is req to file under
section 4.1 must be approved by the board of directors before the ents are filed.

(2) The interim financial report a reporting issuer is requi file under section 4.3
must be approved by the board of directors before the rep ed.

3) In fulfilling the requirement in subsection (2), t?%&rd of directors may delegate
the approval of the interim financial report to t@ dit committee of the board of

directors. &

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4. ){b

4.6. Delivery of Financial Statemen&

(1) A reporting issuer mus Flbannually a request form to the registered holders
and beneficial owners of its e;mtles other than debt instruments, that the registered
holders and beneficial owr@ y use to request any of the following:

@ a paper%y of the reporting issuer’s annual financial statements and
MD&A for the annua@ ncial statements;

(b) py of the reporting issuer’s interim financial reports and MD&A for the
interim flnae)@,reports
(2) ite paragraph (1), the reporting issuer must, in accordance with the
pro es set out in Regulation 54-101 respecting Communication with Beneficial

rs of Securities of a Reporting Issuer (chapter V-1.1, r. 29) send the form referred

paragraph (1) to the beneficial owners of its securities who are identified under that

\Regulation as having chosen to receive all securityholder materials sent to beneficial
owners of securities.

3) If a registered holder or beneficial owner of securities, other than debt
instruments, of a reporting issuer requests the issuer's annual financial statements or
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interim financial reports, the reporting issuer must send a copy of the requested
financial statements to the person that made the request, without charge, by the later of,

(@) in the case of a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, 10 calendar
days after the filing deadline in subparagraph 4.2(a)(i) or 4.4(a)(i), section 4.7, or
subsection 4.10(2), as applicable, for the financial statements requested; '\b‘

(b) in the case of a venture issuer, 10 calendar days after the filing deé?& in
paragraph 4.2(b)(i) or 4.4(b)(i), section 4.7, or subsection 4.10(2), as applic@ige‘k or the
financial statements requested; and

(c) 10 calendar days after the issuer receives the request. @2

(4)  Areporting issuer is not required to send copies of annu cial statements or
interim financial reports under subsection (3) that were filed than one year before
the issuer receives the request. Q

(5)  Subsection (1) and the requirement to send ﬁél financial statements under
subsection (3) do not apply to a reporting is at sends its annual financial
statements to its securityholders, other than Ka s of debt instruments, within 140
days of the issuer's financial year-end an(alr‘;"a ccordance with Regulation 54-101
respecting Communication with Benef|C|aI rs of Securities of a Reporting Issuer.

(6) If a reporting issuer sends fmanc‘;}# statements under this section, the reporting
issuer must also send, at the samdNjme, the annual or interim MD&A relating to the
financial statements. *%3

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.6; M.O. 04, s. 6; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4; M.O.
2013-01, s. 2.

4.7. Filing of sz@%Statements After Becoming a Reporting Issuer

Q) Despit rovisions of this Part other than subsections (2), (3) and (4) of this
section, th %}annual financial statements and interim financial reports that a reporting
issuer m under sections 4.1 and 4.3 are the financial statements for the financial
year é‘mtenm periods immediately following the periods for which financial
staQ ts were included in a document filed of the issuer

\é (@) that resulted in the issuer becoming a reporting issuer; or

(b) in respect of a transaction that resulted in the issuer becoming a reporting
issuer.
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(2) If a reporting issuer is required to file annual financial statements for a financial
year that ended before the issuer became a reporting issuer, those annual financial
statements must be filed on or before the later of

(@) the 20th day after the issuer became a reporting issuer; and b‘
(b) the filing deadline in section 4.2. Q'\
3) If a reporting issuer is required to file an interim financial report fo%n(kerim

period that ended before the issuer became a reporting issuer, that inte'!l/ financial
report must be filed on or before the later of Q~

(@) the 10th day after the issuer became a reporting iss:@ d
(b) the filing deadline in section 4.4. ,&

(4) A reporting issuer is not required to provid mparative interim financial
information for periods that ended before the issuer b e a reporting issuer if

(@) to a reasonable person it is ,@cticable to present prior-period
information on a basis consistent with subsec‘l-'gn .3(2);

(b) the prior-period informatio?.@t Is available is presented; and
(c) the notes to the int ih\ﬁnancial report disclose the fact that the prior-

period information has not bee pared on a basis consistent with the most recent
interim financial information. LK

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.7; M o@be-m, 5.7, M.0. 2010-17, s. 4.
4.8. Changein Y@ nd
(1) AnSE &u r satisfies this section if

( C) complies with the requirements of U.S. laws relating to a change of fiscal
y

ear;
<< (b) it files a copy of all materials required by U.S. laws relating to a change of
| year at the same time as, or as soon as practicable after, they are filed with or
\lrnished to the SEC and, in the case of financial statements, no later than the filing
deadlines prescribed under sections 4.2 and 4.4.
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(2) If a reporting issuer decides to change its financial year-end by more than
14 days, it must file a notice as soon as practicable, and, in any event, not later than the
earlier of

(@) the filing deadline, based on the reporting issuer's old financial year- end
for the next financial statements required to be filed, either annual or interim, Whlch?\
comes first; and

(b) the filing deadline, based on the reporting issuer's new financi@(l/-end,
for the next financial statements required to be filed, either annual or inter'ﬂl,/ hichever

comes first. Q‘

(3)  The notice referred to in subsection (2) must state %
(@) that the reporting issuer has decided to change, ar-end;
(b) the reason for the change,; Qg
(© the reporting issuer's old financial ye@%
(d) the reporting issuer's new flnan@%&ar end;
(e) the length and ending Pﬁ) the periods, including the comparative
t

periods, of each interim financial report &td the annual financial statements to be filed
for the reporting issuer's transmon&ga( and its new financial year; and

financial statements and i financial reports for the reporting issuer's transition
year.

(4)  Forthe purpo®§) f this section,

é/%n ition year must not exceed 15 months; and

momb&

<< Despite subsection 4.3(1)(b), a reporting issuer is not required to file an interim
\ cial report for any period in its transition year that ends not more than 1 month

) the filing deadlig&prescribed under sections 4.2 and 4.4, for the annual

e first interim period after an old financial year must not exceed 4

(@) after the last day of its old financial year; or

(b) before the first day of its new financial year.
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(6) Despite subsection 4.1(1), if a transition year is less than 9 months in length, the
reporting issuer must include as comparative financial information to its annual financial
statements for its new financial year

€) a statement of financial position, a statement of comprehensive income, a
statement of changes in equity, a statement of cash flows, and notes to the financ
statements for its transition year; Q

(b) a statement of financial position, a statement of comprehensivgyncdme, a
statement of changes in equity, a statement of cash flows and notes td'@flnancial
statements for its old financial year; Q~

(© in the following circumstances, a statement of finag@%sition as at the

beginning of the old financial year:

0] the reporting issuer discloses in its financial statements an
unreserved statement of compliance with IFRS; and Q/

(i) the reporting issuer O

(A) applies an accouygrting® policy retrospectively in its annual
financial statements;

(B) makes a refr}spective restatement of items in its annual
financial statements; or N

o

(C) re Iaéeifies items in its annual financial statements; and

(d) in the cas e reporting issuer's first IFRS financial statements, the
opening IFRS statem financial position at the date of transition to IFRS.

(7 Despite s Qion 4.3(2), if interim periods for the reporting issuer's transition
year end 3, 6 r'12 months after the end of its old financial year, the reporting issuer

must inclug/

as comparative financial information in each interim financial report during

its ion year, the comparative financial information required by subsection 4.3(2),

exc®pt if an interim period during the transition year is 12 months in length and the

%rting issuer's transition year is longer than 13 months, the comparative financial

\lh ormation must be the statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive

income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 12 month
period that constitutes its old financial year;
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(b) as comparative financial information in each interim financial report during
its new financial year

0] a statement of financial position as at the end of its transition year;
and

equity and statement of cash flows for the periods in its transition year or old fifng+cial
year, for the same calendar months as, or as close as possible to, the calerﬁlS ) onths
in the interim period in the new financial year;

(i) the statement of comprehensive income, statement of cha{rj?gs\in

(c) in the following circumstances, a statement of fmanmaQ%on as at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period:

(1) the reporting issuer discloses in its | pn financial report an
unreserved statement of compliance with International AQ) Ing Standard 34 Interim

Financial Reporting; and Q/

(i) the reporting issuer

(A) applies an acco /%‘ policy retrospectively in its interim
financial report;

(B) makes a refr}spective restatement of items in its interim
financial report; or N

o

©) reglaéeifies items in its interim financial report; and

be filed in the year of ting IFRS, the opening IFRS statement of financial position at

(d) in the cas% reporting issuer's first interim financial report required to
the date of transitio RS.

end 12, 9, months before the end of the transition year, the reporting issuer must

(8) Despit 5 ection 4.3(2), if interim periods for a reporting issuer's transition year
include

as comparative financial information in each interim financial report during

\éﬁhSltlon year

0] a statement of financial position as at the end of its old financial
year; and

(i) the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows for periods in its old financial year, for the same
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calendar months as, or as close as possible to, the calendar months in the interim
period in the transition year;

(b)  as comparative financial information in each interim financial report during
its new financial year

(1) a statement of financial position as at the end of its transitior%é\r;

and (l/

(i) the statement of comprehensive income, statement m@é‘nges in
equity and statement of cash flows in its transition year or old financial or both, as
appropriate, for the same calendar months as, or as close as pos&% the calendar
months in the interim period in the new financial year;

(© in the following circumstances, a statement of ial position as at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period:

0] the reporting issuer discloses Ofa% interim financial report an
unreserved statement of compliance with Internat ccounting Standard 34 Interim
Financial Reporting; and &

(i) the reporting issuer Qr\(b

(A) applies an gaeounting policy retrospectively in its interim
financial report; N

o

B) m k'e& a retrospective restatement of items in its interim
financial report; or

(C@reclassifies items in its interim financial report; and

(d) in Se of the reporting issuer's first interim financial report required to
be filed in the y&gr 0f adopting IFRS, the opening IFRS statement of financial position at

9.<( Change in Corporate Structure

\ If an issuer is party to a transaction that resulted in,
(@) the issuer becoming a reporting issuer other than by filing a prospectus; or

(b) if the issuer was already a reporting issuer, in
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0] the issuer ceasing to be a reporting issuer,
(i) a change in the reporting issuer’s financial year end, or
(i)  achange in the name of the reporting issuer; '\b‘

the issuer must, as soon as practicable, and in any event not later @the
deadline for the first filing required under this Regulation following the trans iqp, file a

notice stating (L
(c) the names of the parties to the transaction; Q/Q‘
(d)  adescription of the transaction; &
(e) the effective date of the transaction; Q&Q/

() the name of each party, if any, that ce%%/fo be a reporting issuer after
the transaction and of each continuing entity; O

(9) the date of the reporting isgyers first financial year-end after the
transaction if paragraph (a) or subparagra&'@ii) applies;

(h)  the periods, including th‘elcomparative periods, if any, of the interim
financial reports and the annual fin Na-k statements required to be filed for the reporting
issuer’s first financial year after {heQransaction, if paragraph (a) or subparagraph (b)(ii)

applies; and ?‘

()  what doc n@ were filed under this Regulation that described the
transaction and Whee documents can be found in electronic format, if paragraph

(a) or subparagraph(b)N) applies.
LONS

M.O. 2005-03, §4.9; M.O. 2006-04, s. 9; M.O. 2010-17, s. 5.

4.10. R’Qg&Takeovers

(2) ®a reporting issuer must comply with section 4.9 because it was a party to a

rgv&se takeover, the reporting issuer must comply with section 4.8 unless

\ (@) the reporting issuer had the same year-end as the reverse takeover
acquirer before the transaction; or

(b) the reporting issuer changes its year-end to be the same as that of the
reverse takeover acquirer.
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(2) If a reporting issuer completes a reverse takeover, it must

(@) file the following financial statements for the reverse takeover acquirer,
unless the financial statements have already been filed:

(1) financial statements for all annual and interim periods ﬂﬁg
before the date of the reverse takeover and after the date of the financial st nts
included in an information circular or similar document, or under Item&f[.2 0f the
Form 51-102F3 Material Change Report, prepared in connection with the tm&ction; or

(i) if the reporting issuer did not file a docum@ eferred to Iin
subparagraph (i), or the document does not include the financj tements for the
reverse takeover acquirer that would be required to be inclu NY a prospectus, the
financial statements prescribed under securities legislation scribed in the form of
prospectus that the reverse takeover acquirer was eligib se prior to the reverse
takeover for a distribution of securities in the jurisdictior%

(b)  file the annual financial statements r@%ﬂ by paragraph (a) on or before

the later of &

0] the 20th day after the du@f the reverse takeover,
(i) the 90th date aft'e\r tﬁ%’end of the financial year; and
M)
(i)  the 120th$§bﬁer the end of the financial year if the reporting

issuer is a venture issuer; an

(c) file each i e@inancial report required by paragraph (a) on or before the
later of &
0] e 10th day after the date of the reverse takeover,
@, the 45th day after the end of the interim period;

(i)  the 60th day after the end of the interim period if the reporting

issQ®a venture issuer; and
\é (iv)  the filing deadline in paragraph (b).
(3) A reporting issuer is not required to provide comparative interim financial

information for the reverse takeover acquirer for periods that ended before the date of a
reverse takeover if
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(@) to a reasonable person it is impracticable to present prior-period
information on a basis consistent with subsection 4.3(2);

(b)  the prior-period information that is available is presented; and
(c) the notes to the interim financial report disclose the fact that the prior-pggitw‘

information has not been prepared on a basis consistent with the most recent i '
financial information. (l/

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.10; M.O. 2006-04, s. 10; M.O. 2007-08, s. 2; M.O. 201@@8”. 6.

4.11. Change of Auditor Q/Q‘
(1) In this section Q/&

“appointment” means, in relation to a reporting issuésﬁe earlier of

(@) the appointment as its auditor of a pers@d

(b)  the decision by the board of direc rQ the reporting issuer to propose to
holders of qualified securities to appoint s‘bgh erson as its auditor to replace its
predecessor auditor; r\

“consultation” means advice prO\(/med by a successor auditor, whether or not in
writing, to a reporting issuer durip%\be relevant period, which the successor auditor
concluded was an important factop)considered by the reporting issuer in reaching a
decision concerning i

(@) the applic t@of accounting principles or policies to a transaction,
whether or not the traré«ion is completed;

(b) a Q@Qprovided by an auditor on the reporting issuer's financial
statements; ((

(c C)scope or procedure of an audit or review engagement; or
<<®) financial statement disclosure;

“disagreement” means a difference of opinion between personnel of a reporting
\|§suer responsible for finalizing the reporting issuer's financial statements and the
personnel of a predecessor auditor responsible for authorizing the issuance of audit
reports on the reporting issuer's financial statements or authorizing the communication
of the results of the auditor's review of the reporting issuer's interim financial report, if
the difference of opinion
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(@) resulted in a modified opinion in the predecessor auditor's audit report on
the reporting issuer's financial statements for any period during the relevant period,;

(b)  would have resulted in a modified opinion in the predecessor auditor's
audit report on the reporting issuer's financial statements for any period during tr&
relevant period if the difference of opinion had not been resolved to the prede r
auditor's satisfaction, not including a difference of opinion based on incom o]
preliminary information that was resolved to the satisfaction of the predecerr udito

. . . MY
upon the receipt of further information; (L

r
r

(c) resulted in a qualified or adverse communication or de f assurance in
respect of the predecessor auditor's review of the reporting is yVinterim financial
report for any interim period during the relevant period; or §

(d)  would have resulted in a qualified or adver ’& munication or denial of
assurance in respect of the predecessor auditor's revie he reporting issuer's interim
financial report for any interim period during the r#ﬁt period if the difference of
opinion had not been resolved to the predecesso rfor's satisfaction, not including a
difference of opinion based on incomplete or py&l ary information that was resolved
to the satisfaction of the predecessor auditor y?)on he receipt of further information;

“predecessor auditor” means th itor of a reporting issuer that is the subject
of the most recent termination or resignatien;

M)
“qualified securities” mea s‘bcurities of a reporting issuer that carry the right to
participate in voting on the ap@‘\!ment or removal of the reporting issuer's auditor;

“relevant informa;’o@cular” means

(@) ifar Ing issuer's constating documents or applicable law require
holders of qualifi curities to take action to remove the reporting issuer's auditor or to

appoint a sucgesgol auditor
(% the information circular required to accompany or form part of every

notice@meting at which that action is proposed to be taken; or

<< (i) the disclosure document accompanying the text of the written
@)Iution provided to holders of qualified securities; or
(b) if paragraph (a) does not apply, the information circular required to
accompany or form part of the first notice of meeting to be sent to holders of qualified
securities following the preparation of a reporting package concerning a termination or
resignation;
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“relevant period” means the period

(@) commencing at the beginning of the reporting issuer's 2 most recently
completed financial years and ending on the date of termination or resignation; or

the predecessor auditor was not the reporting issuer's auditor throughout th iod

(b) during which the predecessor auditor was the reporting issuer's adu'g),\ if
described in paragraph (a);

b
“reportable event” means a disagreement, a consultation, or an ng(s]ﬂved ISsue;
“reporting package” means %Q/

(@) the documents referred to in subparagraphs (5 @d (6)(a)();

(b)  the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii) Qf received by the reporting
issuer, unless an updated letter referred to in clause (iii)(B) has been received by

the reporting issuer; O

(c) the letter referred to in clause‘-gi) )(ii)(B), if received by the reporting
issuer; and r\

(d) any updated letter refer& to in clause (6)(a)(iii)(B) received by the
reporting issuer; .

o)

“resignation” means mcation from an auditor to a reporting issuer of the
auditor's decision to resigr@ line to stand for reappointment;

“successor audi@means the person

(a) a%QQ :

(b) %t the board of directors have proposed to holders of qualified securities
be appoi 1€d) r

%(b that the board of directors have decided to propose to holders of qualified

s§c ties be appointed,

as the reporting issuer's auditor after the termination or resignation of the
reporting issuer's predecessor auditor;

“termination” means, in relation to a reporting issuer, the earlier of
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(@ the removal of its auditor before the expiry of the auditor's term of
appointment, the expiry of its auditor's term of appointment without reappointment, or
the appointment of a different person as its auditor upon expiry of its auditor's term of
appointment; and

(b)  the decision by the board of directors of the reporting issuer to propos&?‘
holders of its qualified securities that its auditor be removed before, or that a di t
person be appointed as its auditor upon, the expiry of its auditor's term of appoi t;

“unresolved issue” means any matter that, in the predecessor auddft% ?)pinion,
has, or could have, a material impact on the financial statements, or repoyts Yrovided by

the auditor relating to the financial statements, for any financial od during the
relevant period, and about which the predecessor auditor has d the reporting
issuer if

matter's implications before the date of termination or regigKation;

(@) the predecessor auditor was unable tc@%conclusion as to the
(b) the matter was not resolved to tfb%decessor auditor's satisfaction
before the date of termination or resignation; or&

(c) the predecessor auditor is noNgQ}er willing to be associated with any of
the financial statements; (1/

(2) For the purposes of this s Nm the term “material” has a meaning consistent
with the discussion of the term “ iality” in the issuer's GAAP.

(3)  This section does no ?ﬁly if

(@ the follo@s conditions are met:

0] ermination, or resignation, and appointment occur in connection
with an am g% tion, arrangement, takeover or similar transaction involving the
reporting is&r a reorganization of the reporting issuer;
Q‘ (i) the termination, or resignation, and appointment have been
dis in a news release that has been filed or in a disclosure document that has
delivered to holders of qualified securities and filed; and

e
\ (i)  no reportable event has occurred;

(b) the change of auditor is required by the legislation under which the
reporting issuer exists or carries on its activities; or
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(© the change of auditor arises from an amalgamation, merger or other
reorganization of the auditor.

(4)  An SEC issuer satisfies this section if it

(@ complies with the requirements of U.S. laws relating to a chang?\bk

auditor; Q

(b) files a copy of all materials required by U.S. laws relating to w{a ge of
auditor at the same time as, or as soon as practicable after, they areﬁl/ with or

furnished to the SEC,; Q~
(© issues and files a news release describing the infor disclosed in the
materials referred to in paragraph (b), if there are any reportabl ts; and

(d) includes the materials referred to in para (b) with each relevant
information circular. Q/

(5) Upon a termination or resignation of its audj eporting issuer must
(@) within 10 days after the date of /n%ation or resignation
(1) prepare a change ?@'}tor notice in accordance with subsection
(7) and deliver a copy of it to the predeceggor auditor; and
(i) request the\qe cgssor auditor to
(A) kw the reporting issuer's change of auditor notice;
( prepare a letter, addressed to the securities regulatory

authority, stating, fo statement in the change of auditor notice, whether the auditor
agrees, disagreeXgd the reasons why, or has no basis to agree or disagree; and

% (C)  deliver the letter to the reporting issuer within 20 days after

the date g@ ination or resignation;

<<®) within 30 days after the date of termination or resignation
0] have the audit committee of its board of directors or its board of
Xirectors review the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B) if received by the reporting
issuer, and approve the change of auditor notice;

(i) file a copy of the reporting package with the securities regulatory
authority;
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(i) deliver a copy of the reporting package to the predecessor auditor;

(iv) if there are any reportable events, issue and file a news release
describing the information in the reporting package; and b‘

o

(i) a summary of the contents of the reporting pack@ﬂlfh a Cross-
reference to the appendix.

(© include with each relevant information circular

(1) a copy of the reporting package as an appendix; and

(6) Upon an appointment of a successor auditor, a reporti &/ must
(@  within 10 days after the date of appomtment &

0] prepare a change of auditor not%( accordance with subsection
(7) and deliver it to the successor auditor and to th ecessor auditor;

(i) request the successor aqego$(
(A) review the relp@ng issuer's change of auditor notice;
(B) prepar kl'etter addressed to the securities regulatory
authority, stating, for each state S%n the change of auditor notice, whether the auditor

agrees, disagrees and the re why, or has no basis to agree or disagree; and

© @'Iver that letter to the reporting issuer within 20 days after
the date of appointmerg¥d

(iii Q-r.equest the predecessor auditor to, within 20 days after the date of
appointment

C) (A) confirm that the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B) does

not h@vbe updated; or

(B) prepare and deliver to the reporting issuer an updated letter
\&place the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B);

(b)  within 30 days after the date of appointment,
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(1) have the audit committee of its board of directors or its board of
directors review the letters referred to in clauses (6)(a)(ii)(B) and (6)(a)(iii))(B) if received
by the reporting issuer, and approve the change of auditor notice;

(i) file a copy of the reporting package with the securities regulatory
authority;

(i)  deliver a copy of the reporting package to the successorﬁ&itor
and to the predecessor auditor; and

b
(iv) if there are any reportable events, issue and file mﬁ/s release

disclosing the appointment of the successor auditor and eit escribing the
information in the reporting package or referring to the news r required under

subparagraph (5)(b)(iv). Q/
(@) the date of termination or resignation; (§/

(7) A change of auditor notice must state
(b)  whether the predecessor auditor &O

0] resigned on the predb&sor auditor's own initiative or at the
reporting issuer's request; q/

(i) was removed rNQproposed to holders of qualified securities to be
removed during the predecessoy aﬁ@tor's term of appointment; or

(i)  was n@a’ppointed or has not been proposed for reappointment;
(c) whether %ﬁermination or resignation of the predecessor auditor and any
appointment of th cessor auditor were considered or approved by the audit
committee of th onrting issuer's board of directors or the reporting issuer's board of
directors; 2(
( C)Nhether the predecessor auditor's report on any of the reporting issuer's

finang tements relating to the relevant period expressed a modified opinion and, if
Sso, Q cription of each modification;
(e

\é ) if there is a reportable event, the following information:
0] for a disagreement,

(A)  adescription of the disagreement;
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(B)  whether the audit committee of the reporting issuer's board
of directors or the reporting issuer's board of directors discussed the disagreement with
the predecessor auditor; and

(C) whether the reporting issuer authorized the predecessor
auditor to respond fully to inquiries by any successor auditor concerning .t
disagreement and, if not, a description of and reasons for any limitation; '\

o

(A) a description of the issue that was th (gject of the

(i) for a consultation,

consultation;

(B) a summary of the successor audi &al advice, if any,
provided to the reporting issuer concerning the issue; &

(C) a copy of the successor @or's written advice, if any,
received by the reporting issuer concerning the |ssue%

(D)  whether the reporti @er consulted with the predecessor

auditor concerning the issue and, if so, a su of the predecessor auditor's advice
concerning the issue; and Q

(A) ade %on of the issue;

(i)  for an unresolved iss

(B) er the audit committee of the reporting issuer's board
of directors or the re ssuer's board of directors discussed the issue with the
predecessor auditor;

9-8 whether the reporting issuer authorized the predecessor
auditor to res;r&i ully to inquiries by any successor auditor concerning the issue and,

if not, a de jon of and reasons for any limitation; and
& if there are no reportable events, a statement to that effect.

( If the successor auditor becomes aware that the change of auditor notice

ired by this section has not been prepared and filed by the reporting issuer, the

§uditor must, within 7 days, advise the reporting issuer in writing and deliver a copy of
the letter to the securities regulatory authority.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.11; M.O. 2006-04, s. 11; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 1;
M.O. 2010-17, s. 7.
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PART 4A FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.

4A.1. Application
N

This Part applies to forward-looking information that is disclosed by a ré@ing
issuer other than forward-looking information contained in oral statements.

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.
&

4A.2. Reasonable Basis %

A reporting issuer must not disclose forward-looking i tion unless the issuer
has a reasonable basis for the forward-looking informatiorQ

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. (‘OQ/
4A.3. Disclosure &O

A reporting issuer that discloses m?a%rial forward-looking information must
include disclosure that q/

(@) identifies fomard-loo}sgg,information as such;

(b) cautions users H&'ward-looking information that actual results may vary
from the forward-looking inf %’[ion and identifies material risk factors that could cause
actual results to differ mateally from the forward-looking information;

(© states @ aterial factors or assumptions used to develop forward-looking
information; and

(d) %cribes the reporting issuer's policy for updating forward-looking
IQNIfIT includes procedures in addition to those described in subsection 5.8(2).

M. -08, s. 3.

@T 4B FOFI AND FINANCIAL OUTLOOKS

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.

4B.1. Application
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(1) This Part applies to FOFI or a financial outlook that is disclosed by a reporting
issuer.

(2)  This Part does not apply to disclosure that is

(@)  subject to requirements in Regulation 51-101 respecting Standard
Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (chapter V-1.1, r. 23), or Regulation 1
respecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (chapter V-1.1, r. 15); or(L

(b) made to comply with the conditions of any exemptid!‘/cbram the
requirements referred to in paragraph (a) that a reporting issuer ei¥ed from a
securities regulatory authority unless the securities regulatory auth rders that this
Part applies to disclosure made under the exemption; or

(© contained in an oral statement. &@Q
M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. <<<,2
‘b

4B.2. Assumptions

(1) A reporting issuer must not disclose % ra flnanC|aI outlook unless the FOFI
or financial outlook is based on assumptlonstsk are reasonable in the circumstances.

(2) FOFI or a financial outlook that f‘based on assumptions that are reasonable in
the circumstances must, without Ilrpgagon

(@) be limited to a d for which the information in the FOFI or financial
outlook can be reasonably ted, and

(b) use the %unting policies the reporting issuer expects to use to prepare
its historical financi tements for the period covered by the FOFI or the financial

outlook. ‘ QQ‘

M.O. 2007- 3.

4B.3.§Hosure
<

In addition to the disclosure required by section 4A.3, if a reporting issuer
\' loses FOFI or a financial outlook, the issuer must include disclosure that

(@) states the date management approved the FOFI or financial outlook, if the
document containing the FOFI or financial outlook is undated; and
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(b) explains the purpose of the FOFI or financial outlook and cautions readers
that the information may not be appropriate for other purposes.

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.
PART 5 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS '\bg
5.1. Filing of MD&A (19

(1) A reporting issuer must file MD&A relating to its annual financial st@eﬂnts and

each interim financial report. Q~

(1.1) Despite subsection (1), a reporting issuer does not have t D&A relating to
the annual financial statements and interim financial reports regeae’under sections 4.7
and 4.10 for financial years and interim periods that ended the issuer became a
reporting issuer. Q

(2) The MD&A required to be filed must be filed o %éfore the earlier of

(@ the filing deadlines for the annua)g cial statements and each interim
financial report set out in sections 4.2 and 4.4~as applicable; and

(b) the date the reporting(i@'}r files the financial statements under
subsections 4.1(1) or 4.3(1), as applicabl

M)
M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.1; M.O. 200&)‘4’,);. 12; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.
5.2. Filing of MD&A for ssuers
Despite subsec@&l@), if an SEC issuer that is a reporting issuer is filing its
annual or interim MIR&Nprepared in accordance with Item 303 of Regulation S-K under

the 1934 Act, the Q&L Issuer must file that document on or before the earlier of

@) @e date the SEC issuer would be required to file that document under
section 5.X gnd

<<®) the date the SEC issuer files that document with the SEC.
AN

\w@. 2005-03, s. 5.2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.

5.3. Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers Without Significant Revenue
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(1) A venture issuer that has not had significant revenue from operations in either of
its last 2 financial years, must disclose in its MD&A, for each period referred to in
subsection (2), a breakdown of material components of

(@) exploration and evaluation assets or expenditures;

(b)  expensed research and development costs; Q
(c) intangible assets arising from development; (2)
b

(d) general and administration expenses; and Q:l/

(e) any material costs, whether expensed or recog as assets, not
referred to in paragraphs (a) through (d);

and if the venture issuer's business primarily iny, mining exploration and
development, the analysis of exploration and evaluatio ets or expenditures must be

presented on a property-by-property basis. (‘O
(2)  The disclosure in subsection (1) must be&@led for the following periods:

@) in the case of annual MD&A,K&hhe 2 most recently completed financial

years; and
YV

(b) in the case of intemm&A, for the most recent year-to-date interim
period and the comparative yeargto-gate period presented in the interim financial report.

(3)  Subsection (1) does V‘apply if the information required under that subsection
has been disclosed in th cial statements to which the MD&A relates.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5. 0. 2006-04, s. 14; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.
5.4. Discl&t{% gf Outstanding Share Data

a A @9 ing issuer must disclose in its MD&A the designation and number or
princi@mount of
hich there are securities outstanding;

E << (@) each class and series of voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer

(b)  each class and series of securities of the reporting issuer for which there
are securities outstanding if the securities are convertible into, or exercisable or
exchangeable for, voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer; and
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(© each class and series of voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer
that are issuable on the conversion, exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of
the reporting issuer.

(2) For the application of paragraph (1)(c), if the exact number or principal amount of
voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer that are issuable on the conver ioﬁg
exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of the reporting issuer | t
determinable, the reporting issuer must disclose the maximum number or ﬁ@pal
amount of each class and series of voting or equity securities that are issu@g‘ n the
conversion, exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of the reporting(ﬁ( er and, if
that maximum number or principal amount is not determinable, thegg ting issuer
must describe the exchange or conversion features and the mgg in which the

number or principal amount of voting or equity securities will be d ed.

3) The disclosure under subsections (1) and (2) must kb ared as of the latest
practicable date.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9. (§/
5.5. Approval of MD&A &O

(1) The annual MD&A that a reporting ist{lbr is required to file under this Part must
be approved by the board of directors b being filed.

(2) The interim MD&A that a r Mng issuer is required to file under this Part must
be approved by the board of dirgctor} before being filed.

(3) In fulfilling the requir in subsection (2), the board of directors may delegate
the approval of the intgr D&A required to be filed under this Part to the audit
committee of the boar irectors.

M.O. 2005-03, sQQ-C,.a.o. 2010-17, s. 9.
5.6. Deli&}%of MD&A

(1) & registered holder or beneficial owner of securities, other than debt
ins ts, of a reporting issuer requests the reporting issuer's annual or interim
QA, the reporting issuer must send a copy of the requested MD&A to the person that

e the request, without charge, by the delivery deadline set out in subsection 4.6(3)

\or the annual financial statements or interim financial report to which the MD&A relates.

(2) A reporting issuer is not required to send copies of any MD&A that was filed
more than 2 years before the issuer receives the request.
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(3)  The requirement to send annual MD&A under subsection (1) does not apply to a
reporting issuer that sends its annual MD&A and any related MD&A supplement to its
securityholders, other than holders of debt instruments, within 140 days of the issuer's
financial year-end and in accordance with Regulation 54-101 respecting Communication
with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer (chapter V-1.1, r. 29).

also send, at the same time, the annual financial statements or interim financial t to

4) If a reporting issuer sends MD&A under this section, the reporting issugg'\ust
which the MD&A relates.

)
M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 15; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. Z,QQ(-}? s. 9.

5.7. Additional Disclosure for Reporting Issuers with £ Mificant Equity
Investees

(1) A reporting issuer that has a significant equity @s&e must disclose in its

MD&A for each period referred to in subsection (2), Q/

(a) summarized financial information m equity investee, including the
aggregated amounts of assets, liabilities, revenué\ profit or loss; and

(b)  the reporting issuer's proporti ‘;{l interest in the equity investee and any
contingent issuance of securities by the %ty investee that might significantly affect the
reporting issuer's share of profit or Ioss.ﬂl/

M)
(2)  The disclosure in subse%ﬂh) must be provided for the following periods:

@) in the case of ?fual MD&A, for the 2 most recently completed financial
years; and @

(b) in the E of interim MD&A, for the most recent year-to-date interim
period and the ¢ rative year-to-date period presented in the interim financial report.

(3) Sub @on (1) does not apply if

the information required under that subsection has been disclosed in the
finaQ statements to which the MD&A relates; or

(b) the issuer files separate financial statements of the equity investee for the
}eriods referred to in subsection (2).

M.O. 2006-04, s. 16; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.
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5.8. Disclosure Relating to Previously Disclosed Material Forward-Looking
Information

(1)  This section applies to material forward-looking information that is disclosed by a
reporting issuer other than b‘

P>

(b) disclosure that is Q) .

(@) forward-looking information contained in an oral statement, or

(1) subject to the requirements in Regulation SJ@ELrespecting
Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (chapter 1, r. 23) or
Regulation 43-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure ineral Projects
(chapter V-1.1, r. 15), or

(i) made to comply with the condition 4\a y exemption from the
requirements referred to in subparagraph (i) that a r ing issuer received from a
securities regulatory authority unless the securities r ory authority orders that this
Part applies to disclosure made under the exempt|©
(2)  Areporting issuer must discuss in its M%f&&

(@) events and circumstance %t occurred during the period to which the
MD&A relates that are reasonably Ilkeln cause actual results to differ materially from
material forward-looking informatj Nor a period that is not yet complete that the
reporting issuer previously dlscié%)o the public; and

(b)  the expected 'kfences referred to in paragraph (a).

(3)  Subsection (2) @ not apply if the reporting issuer

(@) inc the information required by subsection (2) in a news release
issued and file the reporting issuer before the filing of the MD&A referred to in
subsection nd

& includes disclosure in the MD&A referred to in subsection (2) that
E << 0] identifies the news release referred to in paragraph (a);

(i) states the date of the news release; and

(i)  states that the news release is available at www.sedar.com.
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(4) A reporting issuer must disclose and discuss in its MD&A, material differences
between

(@) actual results for the annual or interim period to which the MD&A relates,
and

(b)  any FOFI or financial outlook for the period referred to in paragra@%)
that the reporting issuer previously disclosed.

(5) If during the period to which its MD&A relates, a reporting issue‘flc/&eides to
withdraw previously disclosed material forward-looking information, Q~

(@) the reporting issuer must disclose in its MD&A th %on and discuss

the events and circumstances that led the reporting issuer to cision, including a
discussion of the assumptions underlying the forward-lookp&y/ipformation that are no
longer valid, and Q

(b)  subsection (4) does not apply to the r@%g issuer with respect to the
MD&A

0] if the reporting issuer corp%ﬁ& with paragraph (a); and

(i) the MD&A is filed re the end of the period covered by the
forward-looking information.

N
(6) Paragraph 5(a) does noti)(pb if the reporting issuer
@) includes the i %ation required by paragraph (5)(a) in a news release
issued and filed by the,r ting issuer before the filing of the MD&A referred to in
subsection (5); and
(b) inc disclosure in the MD&A referred to in subsection (5) that
% identifies the news release referred to in paragraph (a);

(i) states the date of the news release; and

<< (i)  states that the news release is available at www.sedar.com.
\

™.0. 2007-08, s. 4: M.O. 2010-17, s. 10.

PART 6 ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM
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6.1. Requirement to File an AIF

A reporting issuer that is not a venture issuer must file an AlF.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 6.1.

x
N
P

Oy«
(@) on or before the 90th day after the end of the reportiQ‘i(s]ﬁjer's most
recently completed financial year; or

6.2. Filing Deadline for an AlF

An AIF must be filed,

(b) in the case of a reporting issuer that is an SECQNer filing its AIF on
Form 10-K or Form 20-F, on or before the earlier of &

(i) the 90th day after the end of the @Qgting issuer's most recently
completed financial year; and (‘O

(i) the date the reporting issue&@ its Form 10-K or Form 20-F with

&

M.O. 2005-03, s. 6.2; M.O. 2010-17, s. Q)

N

M.O. 2005-03, s. 6.3; M.O. 2 4,s. 17.

PART 7 MATERIAE @NGE REPORTS

the SEC.

6.3. (Revoked).

7.1. Publication terial Change

Q) If a mze/' | thange occurs in the affairs of a reporting issuer, the reporting issuer
must

& immediately issue and file a news release authorized by an executive
offi closing the nature and substance of the change; and

§ (b) as soon as practicable, and in any event within 10 days of the date on
x ich the change occurs, file a Form 51-102F3 Material Change Report with respect to

the material change.

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply if,
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€)) in the opinion of the reporting issuer, and if that opinion is arrived at in a
reasonable manner, the disclosure required by subsection (1) would be unduly
detrimental to the interests of the reporting issuer; or

(b) the material change consists of a decision to implement a change made
by senior management of the reporting issuer who believe that confirmation of tlﬁ;
decision by the board of directors is probable, and senior management of the rega{t\Ng
issuer has no reason to believe that persons with knowledge of the material ge
have made use of that knowledge in purchasing or selling securities of t re orting
issuer,

and the reporting issuer immediately files the report require zaer paragraph
(2)(b) marked so as to indicate that it is confidential, together w!' ten reasons for

non-disclosure.
¢
(4) (paragraph revoked). %Q/

3) (paragraph revoked).

(5) If a report has been filed under subsectj , the reporting issuer must advise
the securities regulatory authority in writing it Pelieves the report should continue to
remain confidential, within 10 days of the d f filing of the initial report and every 10

days thereafter until the material chang '%enerally disclosed in the manner referred to
in paragraph (1)(a), or, if the material chggge consists of a decision of the type referred
to in paragraph (2)(b), until that d(;rbbipn has been rejected by the board of directors of

the reporting issuer. *

(6) In Ontario, the report suer must advise the securities regulatory authority.

(7 If a report has beQfiled under subsection (2), the reporting issuer must promptly

persons are pushasing or selling securities of the reporting issuer with knowledge of
the materi %ﬂge that has not been generally disclosed.

M.O. 03, s. 7.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 18; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 2.
P ﬁﬁ 8 BUSINESS ACQUISITION REPORT
§.1. Interpretation and Application

(1) In this Part,
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“acquisition” includes an acquisition of an interest in a business that is
consolidated for accounting purposes or accounted for by another method, such as the
equity method;

“acquisition of related businesses” means the acquisition of 2 or more

businesses if
,\b‘

(@) the businesses were under common control or management be@the
acquisitions were completed;

“
(b) each acquisition was conditional upon the completio@ﬂéach other

acquisition; or Q/

(c) the acquisitions were contingent upon a single co event;

“business” includes an interest in an oil and gas @&ry to which reserves, as
defined in Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards isclosure for Oil and Gas
Activities (chapter V-1.1, r. 23), have been specificall Huted; and

“specified profit or loss” means prof&@loss from continuing operations
attributable to the owners of the parent, adjusggg t® exclude income taxes.

(2) This Part does not apply to a trar@on that is a reverse takeover.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.1; M.O. 2006-0&5&\19; M.O. 2007-08, s. 5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 12.

8.2. Obligation to File a B@ess Acquisition Report and Filing Deadline

(2) If a reporting issye mpletes a significant acquisition, it must file a business
acquisition report Withi@S days after the acquisition date.

(2) Despite Ction (1), if the most recently completed financial year of the
acquired busi nded 45 days or less before the acquisition date, a reporting issuer
must file a ess acquisition report

within 90 days after the acquisition date, in the case of an issuer other
thazr< nture issuer, or

\é (b)  within 120 days after the acquisition date, in the case of a venture issuer.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 20; M.O. 2010-17, s. 13.

8.3. Determination of Significance
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(1) An acquisition of a business or related businesses is a significant acquisition,

€)) for a reporting issuer that is not a venture issuer, if the acquisition satisfies
any of the 3 significance tests set out in subsection (2); and

(b)  for a venture issuer, if the acquisition satisfies either of the significqn\®‘
tests set out in paragraphs (2)(a) or (b) if “20%” is read as “40%”. Q

(2) For the purposes of subsection (1), the significance tests are: Q) .

(@) The asset test: The reporting issuer's proportionatgéh]fre of the
consolidated assets of the business or related businesses exc@ 20% of the
consolidated assets of the reporting issuer calculated using the a annual financial
statements of each of the reporting issuer and the business elated businesses
for the most recently completed financial year of each that ¢ before the acquisition

and advances to the business or related bu ss€s as at the acquisition date
exceeds 20% of the consolidated assets of the ﬁing issuer as at the last day of the
most recently completed financial year of(rgf reporting issuer ended before the
acquisition date, excluding any investmentb\i r advances to the business or related
businesses as at that date. q/Q

date. Q
(b)  The investment test: The reporting iss% consolidated investments in

(© The profit or loss te ?\Ihe reporting issuer's proportionate share of the
consolidated specified profit or | ségf the business or related businesses exceeds 20%
of the consolidated specified it or loss of the reporting issuer calculated using the
audited annual financial st ts of each of the reporting issuer and the business or
related businesses for t e%t recently completed financial year of each ended before
the acquisition date.

(3) Despite s QOI’] (1), if an acquisition of a business or related businesses is
significant bze/ on the significance tests in subsection (2),

( C)a reporting issuer that is not a venture issuer may re-calculate the

signifi using the optional significance tests in subsection (4); and

<< (b) a venture issuer may re-calculate the significance using the optional
@hificance tests in paragraphs (4)(a) or (b) if “20%” is read as “40%".
4) The optional significance tests are:

(@) The asset test: The reporting issuer's proportionate share of the
consolidated assets of the business or related businesses exceeds 20% of the

46



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 31, 2013 TO SEPTEMBER 29, 2014

consolidated assets of the reporting issuer, calculated using the financial statements of
each of the reporting issuer and the business or the related businesses for the most
recently completed interim period or financial year of each, without giving effect to the
acquisition.

(b)  The investment test: The reporting issuer's consolidated investmen
and advances to the business or related businesses as at the acquisitio e
exceeds 20% of the consolidated assets of the reporting issuer as at the last d the
most recently completed interim period or financial year of the reporg . [Ssuer,
excluding any investments in or advances to the business or related busiﬂg?es as at

that date. Q~

(© The profit or loss test: The specified profit or loss ated under the
following subparagraph (i) exceeds 20% of the specified profit s calculated under
the following subparagraph (ii): &

(1) the reporting issuer's proportion share of the consolidated
specified profit or loss of the business or related busi for the later of

(A)  the most recently coﬁ@d financial year of the business or
related businesses; or (b

(B) the 12 mon '\ded on the last day of the most recently
completed interim period of the business pr related businesses;

M)
(i) the reportii{clgbuer's consolidated specified profit or loss for the
later of

(A) @ most recently completed financial year, without giving

effect to the acquisitior@s

the 12 months ended on the last day of the most recently
completed er/ period of the reporting issuer, without giving effect to the acquisition.

(4.1) purposes of subsections (2) and (4), the reporting issuer must not
reme%ﬂs previously held equity interest in the business or related businesses.

(.& For the purposes of paragraphs (2)(b) and (4)(b), the reporting issuer's
\ stments in and advances to the business or related businesses must include

(@) the consideration transferred for the acquisition, measured in accordance
with the issuer's GAAP,
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(b) payments made in connection with the acquisition which do not constitute
consideration transferred but which would not have been paid unless the acquisition
had occurred, and

(© contingent consideration for the acquisition measured in accordance with
the issuer's GAAP.

(5) If an acquisition does not meet any of the significance tests under paragrﬁ@@),
the acquisition is not a significant acquisition.

b
(6) Despite subsection (3), the significance of an acquisition of a bu%é}{ or related
businesses may be re-calculated using financial statements for peri at ended after
the acquisition date only if, after the acquisition date, the busines ated businesses
remained substantially intact and were not significantly reorga)a and no significant
assets or liabilities were transferred to other entities. &

the business or the related businesses has incurred /the significance test must be
applied using the absolute value of the loss fro uing operations attributable to
owners of the parent, adjusted to exclude incony& S.

(7 For the purposes of paragraphs (2)(c) and (4)(%,; any of the reporting issuer,

(8) For the purposes of paragraph (2 (Q?And clause (4)(c)(ii))(A), if the reporting
issuer's consolidated specified profit or, $ or the most recently completed financial
year was lower by 20% or more than its(ilerage consolidated specified profit or loss for
the 3 most recently completed fi h«;ial years, the issuer may, subject to subsection
(10), substitute the average COESQOI ted specified profit or loss for the 3 most recently

completed financial years i termining whether the significance test set out in
paragraph (2)(c) or (4)(c) is&!ied.

(9) For the purpo@f clause (4)(c)(ii)(B) if the reporting issuer's consolidated
specified profit or | or the most recently completed 12-month period was lower
by 20% or mor its average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 most
recently compl 12-month periods, the issuer may, subject to subsection (10),
substitute verage consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 most recently
completed\13-month periods in determining whether the significance test set out in
parag@'ﬂ)(c) is satisfied.

(A0)\ If the reporting issuer's consolidated specified profit or loss for either of the 2
ier financial periods referred to in subsections (8) and (9) is a loss, the reporting
\|§suer's specified profit or loss for that period is considered to be zero for the purposes
of calculating the average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 financial periods.

(11) If a reporting issuer has made multiple investments in the same business, then
for the purposes of applying subsections (2) and (4),
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(@) if the initial investment and one or more incremental investments were
made during the same financial year, the investments must be aggregated and tested
on a combined basis;

(b) if one or more incremental investments were made in a financial
subsequent to the financial year in which an initial or incremental investment was
and the initial or previous incremental investments are reflected in audited('r/ uaI
financial statements of the reporting issuer previously filed, the reporting must
apply the significance tests set out in subsections (2) and (4) on a Comtﬂ]( Dasis to
the incremental investments not reflected in audited financial statementQLt e reporting
issuer previously filed; and Q/

:n a financial year

made and the initial
s of the reporting issuer
nificance tests set out in
ents on a combined basis.

(c) if one or more incremental investments were
subsequent to the financial year in which the initial investm
investment is not reflected in audited annual financial sta
previously filed, the reporting issuer must apply th
subsections (2) and (4) to the initial and incremental I@J

(11.1) For the purposes of calculating they& onal profit or loss test under
clause (4)(c)(ii)(A), a reporting issuer may us?g forma consolidated specified profit or
loss for its most recently completed fmanmaw r that was included in a previously filed
document if

(@) the reporting issuer E\made a significant acquisition of a business after
its most recently completed fln ear; and

(b) the previous@document included

0] l%d annual financial statements of that acquired business for

the periods requwed@ Part; and

ii& the pro forma financial information required by subsection 8.4(5)
or (6)
(22) termining whether an acquisition of related businesses is a significant

n, related businesses acquired after the ending date of the most recently filed
a d annual financial statements of the reporting issuer must be considered on a
é\bined basis.

(13) For the purposes of calculating the significance tests in subsections (2) and (4),
the amounts used for the business or related businesses must

@) be based on the issuer's GAAP, and
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(b) be translated into the same presentation currency as that used in the
reporting issuer's financial statements.

(13.1) Paragraph 8.3(13)(a) does not apply to a venture issuer if

(@) the financial statements for the business or related businesses refe@‘{o
in subsections 8.3(2) and (4) (l/

0] are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP G@eable to
private enterprises, and Q~

(i) are prepared in a manner that consolidates qubsidiaries and
accounts for significantly influenced investees and joint ve using the equity

method;
and Qg&

(b) none of the accounting principles Ibed in paragraphs 3.11(1)(a)
through (e) of Regulation 52-107 respecting gptable Accounting Principles and
Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25) wegg uskd to prepare financial statements for
the business or related businesses referred& subsections 8.3(2) and (4).

(14) Despite subsections (2) and (4), t % significance of an acquisition of a business
or related businesses may be ce#j%m%ted using unaudited financial statements of the
business or related businesse comply with section 3.11 of Regulation 52-107
respecting Acceptable Acco Principles and Auditing Standards if the financial
statements of the busines %’related businesses for the most recently completed
financial year have not e%.udlted

(15) Despite subs& (2) and (4), the significance of an acquisition of a business
or related busi% may be calculated using the audited financial statements for the

financial year i diately preceding the reporting issuer's most recently completed
financial y the reporting issuer has not been required to file, and has not filed,

audited figQngial statements for its most recently completed financial year.
@ﬁm& M.O. 2006-04, s. 21; M.O. 2010-17, s. 14.

\ »  Financial Statement Disclosure for Significant Acquisitions
(2) If a reporting issuer is required to file a business acquisition report under section

8.2, the business acquisition report must include the following for each business or
related businesses:

50



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 31, 2013 TO SEPTEMBER 29, 2014

(@) a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity
and a statement of cash flows for the following periods:

0] if the business has completed one financial year,

(A) the most recently completed financial year ended orkv‘
before the acquisition date; and Q

(B) the financial year immediately preceding the m@%ently
completed financial year, if any; or (L

(i) if the business has not completed one financia , the financial
period commencing on the date of formation and ending on a t more than 45
days before the acquisition date;

(b) a statement of financial position as at theégd of each of the periods
specified in paragraph (a); and Q/

(© notes to the financial statements. O

(2)  The most recently completed financia}-ger d referred to in subsection (1) must
be audited. r\

(3) If a reporting issuer is requiredq: include financial statements in a business
acquisition report under subsectngNQ.)\ the business acquisition report must include
financial statements for *

(@ the most rece &Completed interim period or other period that started the
day after the date of the s&nent of financial position specified in paragraph (1)(b) and

ended, @

0] Q-bn the case of an interim period, before the acquisition date; or

in the case of a period other than an interim period, after the interim
period refdyed to in subparagraph (i) and on or before the acquisition date; and

<<®) a comparable period in the preceding financial year of the business.

%) If a reporting issuer is required under subsection (3) to include an interim

%ancial report in a business acquisition report and the financial statements for the
business or related businesses acquired are prepared in accordance with Canadian
GAAP applicable to private enterprises, as permitted under Regulation 52-107
respecting  Acceptable  Accounting  Principles and  Auditing  Standards
(chapter V-1.1, r. 25), the interim financial report must include
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(@) abalance sheet as at the end of the interim period and a balance sheet as
at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any;

(b) an income statement, a statement of retained earnings and a cash flow
statement, all for the year-to-date interim period, and comparative financial inform ti(ﬁg
for the corresponding interim period in the immediately preceding financial year, @W

and (l/

(c) notes to the financial statements. (f}) °
4) Despite subsection (3), the business acquisition report m lude financial
statements for a period ending not more than one interim perj fore the period

referred to in subparagraph (3)(a)(i) if

(@) the business does not, or related businesse %t, constitute a material
departure from the business or operations of the reportiQ/ suer immediately before the
acquisition; and (‘O

(b) (paragraph revoked). &O
(c) either ){b
0] the acquisition date‘lw, and the reporting issuer files the business
acquisition report, within the follo 'hgtime after the business's or related businesses'
most recently completed interim zﬂbd:
(A) vays, if the reporting issuer is not a venture issuer; or
(B@GO days, if the reporting issuer is a venture issuer; or
(i) %@ reporting issuer filed a document before the acquisition date
that included, fid@ntial statements for the business or related businesses that would
have been ired if the document were a prospectus, and those financial statements
are for €)iod ending not more than one interim period before the interim period
referr@"m subparagraph (3)(a)(i).

( << If a reporting issuer is required to include financial statements in a business
\h isition report under subsection (1) or (3), the business acquisition report must
INclude

(@ apro forma statement of financial position of the reporting issuer,
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(1) as at the date of the reporting issuer's most recent statement of
financial position filed, that gives effect, as if they had taken place as at the date of the
pro forma statement of financial position, to significant acquisitions that have been
completed, but are not reflected in the reporting issuer's most recent statement of
financial position for an annual or interim period; or

(i) if the reporting issuer has not filed a statement of financia{ﬁpét\n

for any annual or interim period, as at the date of the acquired business's mo ent
statement of financial position, that gives effect, as if they had taken place ag<gt the date
of the pro forma statement of financial position, to significant acquisiticmﬁ at have

been completed,; Q‘
(b) a pro forma income statement of the reporting iss @ gives effect to

significant acquisitions completed since the beginning of the fi %ﬁ year referred to in
clause (i)(A) or (ii))(A), as applicable, as if they had taken pb%; the beginning of that

financial year, for each of the following financial periods: Q
0] the reporting issuer's (§/

(A)  most recently compu@inancial year for which it has filed
financial statements; and (b

(B) interim perioﬁL@which it has filed an interim financial report
that started after the period in clause (A)land ended immediately before the acquisition
date or, in the reporting issuer's diﬂ:;s{ien, after the acquisition date; or

income for any annual or in period, for the business's or related businesses'

(i) if the regdﬂ*g issuer has not filed a statement of comprehensive
(A@most recently completed financial year that ended before the
acquisition date; anco

(B) period for which financial statements are included in the
business a@;’tion report under paragraph (3)(a); and

pro forma earnings per share based on the pro forma financial statements
ref(ivé o in paragraph (b).

@ Despite paragraph (5)(a) and clauses (5)(b)(i)(B) and (5)(b)(ii)(B), if the reporting
\|§suer relies on subsection (4), the business acquisition report may include

(@) a pro forma statement of financial position as at the date of the statement

of financial position filed immediately before the reporting issuer's most recent
statement of financial position filed; and
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(b) a pro forma income statement for the period ending not more than one
interim period before the interim period referred to in clause (5)(b)(i)(B) or (5)(b)(ii)(B),
as applicable.

(7 If a reporting issuer is required to include pro forma financial statements }n\vg
business acquisition report under subsection (5), Q

(@) the reporting issuer must identify in the pro forma financial%agﬁents
each significant acquisition, if the pro forma financial statements give eﬂb to more
than one significant acquisition; Q~

(b) the reporting issuer must include in the pro forma fingQ2¥¥ statements

(1) adjustments attributable to each signij'@. acquisition for which
there are firm commitments and for which the complete fQ\ 1al effects are objectively

determinable; Q/
Q

(i) adjustments to conform a%n for the business or related
businesses to the issuer's accounting policies, @K

(i)  a description of the un ‘hng assumptions on which the pro forma
financial statements are prepared, -referenced to each related pro forma
adjustment;

N

(c) if the financial yea Q@ of the business differs from the reporting issuer's
year-end by more than 93 ay& for the purpose of preparing the pro forma income
statement for the reporting i 's most recently completed financial year, the reporting
issuer must construct a come statement of the business for a period of 12
consecutive months e@g no more than 93 days before or after the reporting issuer's
year-end, by addin @ esults for a subsequent interim period to a completed financial
year of the busi é.and deducting the comparable interim results for the immediately
preceding year,;

C)’ a constructed income statement is required under paragraph (c), the pro
forma ial statements must disclose the period covered by the constructed income
sta t on the face of the pro forma financial statements and must include a note
S & that the financial statements of the business used to prepare the pro forma

cial statements were prepared for the purpose of the pro forma financial
atements and do not conform with the financial statements for the business included
elsewhere in the business acquisition report;

(e) if a reporting issuer is required to prepare a pro forma income statement
for an interim period required by paragraph (5)(b), and the pro forma income statement
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for the most recently completed financial year includes results of the business which are
also included in the pro forma income statement for the interim period, the reporting
issuer must disclose in a note to the pro forma financial statements the revenue,
expenses and profit or loss from continuing operations included in each pro forma
income statement for the overlapping period; and

0] a constructed period referred to in paragraph (c) does not have@'\be

audited. (l/

(8) If a reporting issuer is required under subsection (1) to incIOT%ﬁnancial
statements for more than one business because the significant acqui@ nvolves an
acquisition of related businesses, the financial statements required u% subsection (1)
must be presented separately for each business, except for the @ ds during which
the businesses have been under common control or manage Y in which case the
reporting issuer may present the financial statements of the esses on a combined

basis. Q

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.4; M.O. 2006-04, s. 22; M.O. 2008@{ 2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 15.

8.5. (Revoked). &O

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.5; M.O. 2006-04, s. 23. ?{b

8.6. Exemption for Significant Acf:m'rsitions Accounted for Using the Equity
Method N

o)

A reporting issuer is e>§e'n$ﬂt from the requirements in section 8.4 if

(@) the acquisifi . or will be, of an equity investee;

(b) the b s acquisition report includes disclosure for the periods for
which financial ?(Qments are otherwise required under subsection 8.4(1) that

% summarizes financial information of the equity investee, including
the aggregatgd amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and profit or loss; and
O (i) describes the reporting issuer's proportionate interest in the equity
vgﬁee and any contingent issuance of securities by the equity investee that might
\ ificantly affect the reporting issuer's share of profit or loss;

(c) the financial information provided under paragraph (b) for the most
recently completed financial year
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(1) has been derived from audited financial statements of the equity
investee; or

(i) has been audited; and
(d)  the business acquisition report '\b‘

0] identifies the financial statements referred to in subparagra@ll/%)(i)
from which the disclosure provided under paragraph (b) has been derived,; OQ .

(i) discloses that the financial information provided %(el/paragraph
(b), if not derived from audited financial statements, has been audite

(i)  discloses that the auditor expressed an ified opinion with
respect to the financial statements referred to in subpar, (i) or the financial
information referred to in subparagraph (ii). Q

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 24; M.O. 201@{ 16.

8.7. (Revoked). &O

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.7; M.O. 2006-04, s. 25. ?{b
8.8. Exemption for Significant Acqu(a?tions if Financial Year End Changed

M)
If under section 8.4 a re 6?&3 issuer is required to provide financial statements
for a business acquired and t &siness changed its financial year end during either of
the financial years require e included, the reporting issuer may include financial
statements for the transi ic&ar in satisfaction of the financial statements for one of the
years, provided that t nsition year is at least 9 months.

M.O. 2005-03, s @90 2006-04, s. 26.

8.9. Exe ign from Comparatives if Financial Statements Not Previously
Prepare

®reporting issuer is not required to provide comparative information for an
inteMgn financial report required under subsection 8.4(3) for a business acquired if

\ (@) to a reasonable person it is impracticable to present prior-period
information on a basis consistent with the most recently completed interim period of the
acquired business;

(b)  the prior-period information that is available is presented; and
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(c) the notes to the interim financial report disclose the fact that the prior-
period information has not been prepared on a basis consistent with the most recent
interim financial information.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.9; M.O. 2006-04, s. 27; M.O. 2010-17, s. 17. '\b‘
8.10. Acquisition of an Interest in an Oil and Gas Property (19

(1) Despite subsections 8.3(1), 8.3(2), 8.3(3) and 8.3(4), the a:G@'Pests in
paragraphs 8.3(2)(a) and 8.3(4)(a) do not apply to an acquisition Q‘

(@) of a business that is an interest in an oil and g perty or related
businesses that are interests in oil and gas properties; and &

(b)  thatis not of securities of another issuer, unlg§s\he vendor transferred the
business referenced in paragraph (1)(a) to the other iss nd that other issuer

0] was created for the sole purp@%acilitating the acquisition; and

(i) other than assets or opeﬁgés relating to the transferred business,

has no
Q\

(A)  substantial a‘slets; or

(B) opeitiwis:ory.

(2) Despite subsection ?3(1), 8.3(2), 8.3(3), 8.3(4), 8.3(8), 8.3(9), 8.3(10)
and 8.3(11.1), a reporti er must substitute “operating income” for “specified profit
or loss” for the purpos§u the profit or loss test in paragraphs 8.3(2)(c) and 8.3(4)(c) if
the acquisition is on cribed in subsection (1).

3) Exempti&f om Financial Statement Disclosure - A reporting issuer is exempt
from the r&t)' ents in section 8.4 if

@* the significant acquisition is an acquisition described in subsection (1);
<< (b)  the reporting issuer is unable to provide the financial statements in respect
e significant acquisition otherwise required under this Part because those financial
&atements do not exist or because the reporting issuer does not have access to those
financial statements;

(© the acquisition does not constitute a reverse takeover,
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(d) (paragraph revoked);

(e) in respect of the business or related businesses, for each of the financial
periods for which financial statements would, but for this section, be required under
section 8.4, the business acquisition report includes

(1) an operating statement for the business or related busi S
prepared in accordance with subsection 3.11(5) of Regulation 52-107 reﬁl/ ing
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. ;

b
uef that gives
orting issuer’s
are required to
financial year, for

(i) a pro forma operating statement of the reporting §
effect to significant acquisitions completed since the beginning of th
most recently completed financial year for which financial state
have been filed, as if they had taken place at the beginning
each of the financial periods referred to in paragraph 8.4(5)(l)¢$

(i)  a description of the property or pro@es and the interest acquired
by the reporting issuer; and (‘O

(iv)  disclosure of the annual ou@ gas production volumes from the
business or related businesses; (b

) the operating statement f %e most recently completed financial period
referred to in subsection 8.4(1) is audite%iand

M)
()  the business acqui itclb report discloses
QN

0] the esti ?@d reserves and related future net revenue attributable
to the business or relat Inesses, the material assumptions used in preparing the
estimates and the ider@\and relationship to the reporting issuer or to the vendor of the

person who prepare@ estimates; and

related bugf es for the first year reflected in the estimates disclosed under

ii{( the estimated oil and gas production volumes from the business or
subpara )]

4) @reporting issuer is exempt from the requirements of subparagraphs (3)(e)(i), (ii)
aQdyv), if

\ @) production, gross sales, royalties, production costs and operating income
were nil for the business or related businesses for each financial period; and

(b) the business acquisition report discloses this fact.
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M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.10; M.O. 2006-04, s. 28; M.O. 2008-06, s. 3; M.O. 2010-17, s. 18;
M.O. 2013-04, s. 2.

8.11. Exemption for Multiple Investments in the Same Business

Despite section 8.4, a reporting issuer is exempt from the requirements t fb‘
financial statements for an acquired business, other than the pro forma fi I
statements required by subsection 8.4(5), in a business acquisition repo
reporting issuer has made multiple investments in the same business and t ac uired
business has been consolidated in the reporting issuer's most recent a financial

statements that have been filed. Q~

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.11; M.O. 2006-04, s. 29; M.O. 2010-17, s. 19. %

PART 9 PROXY SOLICITATION AND INFORMATION LARS
9.1. Sending of Proxies and Information Circularng

(2) If management of a reporting issuer gives ('g of a meeting to its registered
holders of voting securities, management mu )S] e same time as or before giving
that notice, send to each registered holder o‘k&t g securities who is entitled to notice
of the meeting a form of proxy for use at them ting.

(2) A person that solicits proxies fr% registered holders of voting securities of a
reporting issuer must, '\ N

€) in the case of |tat|on by or on behalf of management of a reporting
issuer, send an informati cular with the notice of meeting to each registered
securityholder whose pr X@SO“CIted or

(b) in the of any other solicitation, concurrently with or before the

solicitation, sen an ormation circular to each registered securityholder whose proxy
is solicited.

(B Qg%/ph revoked).
M%ﬁégéo\% s. 9.1; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 3.

\ » . Notice-and-Access
(1) A person soliciting proxies may use notice-and-access to send proxy-related

materials to a registered holder of voting securities of a reporting issuer if all of the
following apply:
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(@) the registered holder of voting securities is sent a notice that contains the
following information and no other information:

0] the date, time and location of the reporting issuer's meeting for
which the proxy-related materials are being sent;

(i) a description of each matter or group of related matters identigt 'E\En
the form of proxy to be voted on, unless that information is already included in of
proxy that is being sent to the registered holder of voting securities under pa@rg (b);

(i)  the website addresses for SEDAR and the non@(}](R website
where the proxy-related materials are posted;

(iv)  areminder to review the information circuk&/@e voting;

(v) an explanation of how to obtain a '%{ copy of the information
circular and, if applicable, the documents in paragraph @from the person,;

(vi)  a plain-language explanation @%e-and-access that includes the
following information: &

(A) if the person isN‘{bwg stratification, a list of the types of
registered holders or beneficial owners will receive paper copies of the information
circular and, if applicable, the document&aragraph (2)(b);

M)

(B) thee tfrbted date and time by which a request for a paper
copy of the information circul !‘Sod, if applicable, the documents in paragraph (2)(b), is
to be received in order for %’requester to receive the paper copy in advance of any

i &‘the proxy and the date of the meeting;

deadline for the submi§
an explanation of how the registered holder is to return the
proxy, including eadline for return of the proxy;

g( (D) the sections of the information circular where disclosure
regardin&@ matter or group of related matters identified in the notice can be found,

O (E) atoll-free telephone number the registered holder can call to
g§t formation about notice-and-access;

(b)  the registered holder of voting securities is sent, by prepaid mail, courier
or the equivalent, the notice required by paragraph (a) and a form of proxy for use at the
meeting and, in the case of a solicitation by or on behalf of management of the reporting
issuer, the notice and form of proxy are sent at least 30 days before the date of the
meeting;
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(c) in the case of a solicitation by or on behalf of management of the reporting
issuer, the reporting issuer files on SEDAR the notification of meeting and record dates
in the manner and within the time specified by Regulation 54-101 respecting
Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer
(chapter V-1.1, r. 29);

(d) public electronic access to the information circular, form of proxy@the
notice in paragraph (a) is provided on or before the date that the pers 0 Iciting
proxies sends the notice in paragraph (a) to registered holders in the followﬂ@ﬂanner:

0] the documents are filed on SEDAR as required tion 9.3;

(i) the documents are posted until the date one year from the
date that the documents are posted, on a website other thar& bsite for SEDAR;

(e) a toll-free telephone number is provided f e by the registered holder of
voting securities to request a paper copy of the inf #On circular and, if applicable,
the documents in paragraph (2)(b), at any time fr date that the person soliciting
proxies sends the notice in paragraph (a) to t Qistered holder up to and including
the date of the meeting, including any adjourqlgen :

) if a request for a paper c f the information circular and, if applicable,
the documents in paragraph (2)(b), isifeceived at the toll-free telephone number
provided under paragraph (e) or B)gany other means, a paper copy of any such
document requested is sent fr en.bf charge by the person soliciting proxies to the
requester at the address spe%ﬂ'ﬁ% in the request in the following manner:

(1) in the e of a request received prior to the date of the meeting,
within 3 business da er receiving the request, by first class mail, courier or the

equivalent;

ii& in the case of a request received on or after the date of the
meeting, a jthin one year of the information circular being filed, within 10 calendar
days aftexXeg€iving the request, by prepaid mail, courier or the equivalent.
(2) @mss an information circular is included with the proxy-related materials, a
r ing issuer that sends proxy-related materials to a registered holder of voting
rities using notice-and-access must not include with the proxy-related materials any
\lh ormation or document that relates to the particulars of any matter to be submitted to
the meeting, except for the following:

(@) the information required to be included in the notice under
paragraph (1)(a);
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(b)  financial statements of the reporting issuer to be approved at the meeting
and MD&A related to those financial statements, which may be part of an annual report.

(3) A notice under paragraph (1)(a) and the form of proxy may be combined in a
single document.

N
M.O. 201301, s. 5. (19

9.1.2. Posting materials on non-SEDAR website (2)«

2; ferred to in

documents:

(1) A person that posts proxy-related materials in the man
subparagraph 9.1.1(1)(d)(ii) must also post on the website the foll

(@) any disclosure material regarding the meeting
registered holders or beneficial owners of voting securitieQ

e person has sent to

(b) any written communications the per %oliciting proxies has made
available to the public regarding each matter or gr matters to be voted upon at the
meeting, whether or not they were sent to re md holders or beneficial owners of
voting securities.

(2) Proxy-related materials that are @d under subparagraph 9.1.1(1)(d)(ii)) must
be posted in a manner and be in a for‘ﬁm that permit an individual with a reasonable
level of computer skill and knowle(;qgs{oxdo all of the following easily:

(@) access, read a rch the documents on the website;

(b) download& int the documents.
M.O. 2013-01, s.
9.1.3. Conse @%her delivery methods

ter certainty, section 9.1.1 does not

prevent a registered holder of voting securities from consenting to a
@n s use of other delivery methods to send proxy-related materials;

(b)  terminate or modify a consent that a registered holder of voting securities

previously gave to a person regarding the use of other delivery methods to send proxy-
related materials; or
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(c) prevent a person from sending proxy-related materials using a delivery
method to which a registered holder has consented prior to February 11, 2013.

M.O. 2013-01, s. 5.
9.1.4. Instructions to receive paper copies '\bg

(1) Despite section 9.1.1, a reporting issuer may obtain standing instructionq?n a
registered holder of voting securities that a paper copy of the information cir d, if
applicable, the documents in paragraph 9.1.1(2)(b), be sent to the regist older in
all cases when the reporting issuer uses notice-and-access. Q~

(2) If a reporting issuer has obtained standing instructions fr %gistered holder
under subsection (1), the reporting issuer must do both of the% 0
(

@) include with the notice required by paragrap 1)(a) any paper copies
of information circulars and, if applicable, the docu S in paragraph 9.1.1(2)(b),

required to comply with standing instructions obtaine r subsection (1);
(b) include with the notice under p h (a) a description, or otherwise
inform the registered holder of, the means fch the registered holder may revoke

the registered holder’s standing instructions

M.O. 2013-01, s. 5. ‘1,
M)
9.1.5. Compliance with SEC ﬁitfb-and-Access Rules
A reporting issuer t ?I’S an SEC issuer can send proxy-related materials to
registered holders undgr ion 9.1 using a delivery method permitted under U.S.

federal securities law, 4 h of the following apply:

(@ th issuer is subject to, and complies with Rule 14a-16 under the
1934 Act; %(

(b C%sidents of Canada do not own, directly or indirectly, outstanding voting
securig rrying more than 50% of the votes for the election of directors, and none of
the Ing apply:

(1) the majority of the executive officers or directors of the issuer are
sidents of Canada;

(i) more than 50% of the consolidated assets of the issuer are located
in Canada;
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(i)  the business of the issuer is administered principally in Canada.

M.O. 2013-01, s. 5.
9.2. Exemptions from Sending Information Circular

Q) Subsection 9.1(2) does not apply to a solicitation by a person in respﬁ't\of

securities of which the person is the beneficial owner. (l/

(2) Paragraph 9.1(2)(b) does not apply to a solicitation if the totaq%rﬁber of
securityholders whose proxies are solicited is not more than 15. Q‘

(3) For the purposes of subsection (2), 2 or more persons w joint registered

owners of one or more securities are considered to be one sec der.

or a person acting on behalf of management, may, cit proxies from registered
securityholders of a reporting issuer without sending rmation circular, if

(4) Despite paragraph 9.1(2)(b), a person, other than&?&nent of a reporting issuer

(@) the solicitation is made to the publj&&)woadcast, speech or publication;

(b)  soliciting proxies by broadcaslsgaeech or publication is permitted by the

laws under which the reporting issuer orporated, organized or continued and the
person making the solicitation complie@bwith the requirements, if any, of those laws
relating to the broadcast, speech 0‘5 ication;

(© the person has % the following information:

0] the n@ and address of the reporting issuer to which the

solicitation relates, @

(i) Qgg information required under item 2, sections 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4 and
paragraphs () add¥(d) of item 5 of Form 51-102F5,
1)

any information required to be disclosed in respect of the

broad ~speech or publication by the laws under which the reporting issuer is
inc ted, organized or continued, and
\é (iv)  acopy of any communication intended to be published; and

(d) the broadcast, speech or publication contains the information referred to in
paragraphs (c)(i) to (iii).
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(5) Subsection (4) does not apply to a person that is proposing, at the time of the
solicitation, a significant acquisition or restructuring transaction involving the reporting
issuer and the person, under which securities of the person, or securities of an affiliate
of the person, are to be changed, exchanged, issued or distributed, unless

(@) the person has filed an information circular or other document contaipi\m
the information required by section 14.4 of Form 51-102F5; and Q

(b) the solicitation refers to that information circular or other dorqsniek and
discloses that the circular or other document is on SEDAR. (L

(6)  Subsection (4) does not apply to a person that is nominati EF proposing to
nominate, at the time of the solicitation, an individual, including f or herself, for
election as a director of the reporting issuer, unless

(@  the person has filed an information circular her document containing
the information required by Form 51-102F5 in respect o proposed nominee; and

(b) the solicitation refers to that informas %ircular or other document and
discloses that the circular or other document is 9& AR.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M?))ZOOS-lO, s. 4.
9.3. Filing of Information Circulars apd Proxy-Related Material

M)
A person that is required rﬁbr this Regulation to send an information circular or
form of proxy to registered ityholders of a reporting issuer must promptly file a
copy of the information circldy; Yform of proxy and all other material required to be sent
by the person in connec io“&th the meeting to which the information circular or form of
proxy relates.

M.O. 2005-03, s @go 2008-06, s. 11.
9.3.1. Con <§ Information Circular

(1) fect to Item 8 of Form 51-102F5, if a reporting issuer sends an information
circul a securityholder under paragraph 9.1(2)(a), the issuer must,

% (@) disclose all compensation paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or
Xt erwise provided, directly or indirectly, by the issuer, or a subsidiary of the issuer, to
each NEO and director, in any capacity, including, for greater certainty, all plan and
non-plan compensation, direct or indirect pay, remuneration, economic or financial
award, reward, benefit, gift or perquisite paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or
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otherwise provided to the NEO or director for services provided, directly or indirectly, to
the issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer, and

(b) include detail and discussion of the compensation, and the decision-
making process relating to compensation, presented in such a way that it provides a
reasonable person, applying reasonable effort, an understanding of

0] how decisions about NEO and director compensation are mﬁ@
(i) the compensation paid, made payable, awarded, graﬂ?@ﬁiven or

otherwise provided to each NEO and director, and

(i)  how specific NEO and director compensatio éﬁs to the overall
stewardship and governance of the reporting issuer. &

(2)  The disclosure required under subsection (1) mu rovided for the periods
set out in, in accordance with, and subject to any e tions set out in, Form 51-
102F6, which came into force on December 31, 2008

(3) For the purposes of this section, “NEO” lan” have the meaning ascribed to
those terms in Form 51-102F6, which came iq-gfo ce on December 31, 2008.

(4)  This section does not apply to suer in respect of a financial year ending
before December 31, 2008.

N
M.O. 2008-18, s. 2; M.O. 2011&%1.
9.4. Content of Form of

(1) A form of proxy«sQX to securityholders of a reporting issuer by a person soliciting
proxies must indicage y* bold-face type whether or not the proxy is solicited by or on
behalf of the ment of the reporting issuer, provide a specifically designated
blank space forating the form of proxy and specify the meeting in respect of which the
proxy is so@.

(2) mformation circular sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer or the form of
pro hich the information circular relates must

% €) indicate in bold-face type that the securityholder has the right to appoint a
}erson to represent the securityholder at the meeting other than the person if any,
designated in the form of proxy; and

(b) contain instructions as to the manner in which the securityholder may
exercise the right referred to in paragraph (a).
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3) If a form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer contains a
designation of a named person as nominee, it must provide an option for the
securityholder to designate in the form of proxy some other person as the
securityholder's nominee.

(4) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer must prov%\n
option for the securityholder to specify that the securities registered the
securityholder's name will be voted for or against each matter or grou%fﬂ lated
matters identified in the form of proxy, in the notice of meeting or in aﬂl{ ormation
circular, other than the appointment of an auditor and the election of dingr .

(5) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reportin
discretionary authority with respect to each matter referred tQe
which a choice is not specified if the form of proxy or the i
bold-face type how the securities represented by the pr
each matter or group of related matters. Q/

er may confer
bsection (4) as to
tion circular states in
be voted in respect of

(6) A form of proxy sent to securityholders 236 orting issuer must provide an
option for the securityholder to specify that the,\ ities registered in the name of the
securityholder must be voted or withheld fron}g)tl g in respect of the appointment of an
auditor or the election of directors. r\

(7)  An information circular sent to se‘avrityholders of a reporting issuer or the form of
proxy to which the information circy,g\[elates must state that

(@) the securities r, ented by the proxy will be voted or withheld from
voting in accordance with t ructions of the securityholder on any ballot that may be
called for; and

(b) if the &yholder specifies a choice under subsection (4) or (6) with

respect to any 0 be acted upon, the securities will be voted accordingly.
8 Af f proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer may confer
discretio uthority with respect to

&@) amendments or variations to matters identified in the notice of meeting;
a

\ (b)  other matters which may properly come before the meeting,

if,
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(© the person by whom or on whose behalf the solicitation is made is not
aware within a reasonable time before the time the solicitation is made that any of those
amendments, variations or other matters are to be presented for action at the meeting;
and

(d) a specific statement is made in the information circular or in the forrp\bﬁ
proxy that the proxy is conferring such discretionary authority. Q

(9) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer mus oilfonfer

authority to vote (L
Nssuer unless a

(@) for the election of any person as a director of a report%%
bona fide proposed nominee for that election is hamed in the inf YOn circular or, in
the case of a solicitation under subsection 9.2(4), the d&/ t required under

paragraph 9.2(6)(a); or &

(b) at any meeting other than the meeting sp%d in the notice of meeting or
any adjournment of that meeting. (‘O

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.4; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O,@-l?, s. 20.

9.5. Exemption Qr\‘b
Sections 9.1 to 9.4 do not appl;f]o a reporting issuer, or a person that solicits
proxies from registered holders of @qusecurities of a reporting issuer, if

(@) the reporting is or other person complies with the requirements of the
laws relating to the solig n of proxies under which the reporting issuer is
incorporated, organized tinued,;

(b) the re ents referred to in subsection (a) are substantially similar to
the requirement& Is Part; and

(c) Qﬁ(e reporting issuer or other person files a copy of any information circular
and for Q}) oxy, or other documents that contain substantially similar information,
prom’@ﬂer the reporting issuer or other person sends the circular, form or other
do% t in connection with the meeting.

N

@. 2005-03, s. 9.5; M.O. 2006-04, s. 30; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 5.

PART 10 RESTRICTED SECURITY DISCLOSURE

10.1. Restricted Security Disclosure
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(2) If a reporting issuer has outstanding restricted securities, or securities that are
directly or indirectly convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for restricted
securities or securities that will, when issued, result in an existing class of outstanding
securities being considered restricted securities, each document referred to in
subsection (2) must

€) refer to restricted securities using a term that includes the appr@e
restricted security term; (1/

(b) not refer to securities by a term that includes “common”, or “ ence” or
“preferred”, unless the securities are common shares or preQ~ e shares,
respectively;

(c) describe any restrictions on the voting rights of 2«/@:@ securities;

(d)  describe the rights to participate, if any, of h of restricted securities if
a takeover bid is made for securities of the reporting |s%with voting rights superior to
those attached to the restricted securities; (‘O

(e) state the percentage of the ag% te voting rights attached to the
reporting issuer's securities that are repres by the class of restricted securities;
and

) if holders of restricted sec‘}nies have no right to participate if a takeover
bid is made for securities of the emeng issuer with voting rights superior to those
attached to the restricted secuLfgabontaln a statement to that effect in bold-face type.

(2)  Subsection (1) app@“{he following documents:

@ an mforn@n circular;

(b) ent required by this Regulation to be delivered upon request by a
reporting |s ny of its securityholders; and

(c C)an AIF prepared by a reporting issuer.

3) @spite subsection (2), annual financial statements, an interim financial report

D&A or other accompanying discussion by management of those financial

%ements are not required to include the details referred to in paragraphs (1)(c), (d),
and (f)

4) Each reference to restricted securities in any document not referred to in

subsection (2) that a reporting issuer sends to its securityholders must include the
appropriate restricted security term.
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(5) A reporting issuer must not refer, in any of the documents described in
subsection (4), to securities by a term that includes “common” or “preference” or
“preferred”, unless the securities are common shares or preference shares,
respectively.

(6) Despite paragraph (1)(b) and subsection (5), a reporting issuer may, in on e

only in a document referred to in subsection (2) or (4), describe the restricted s ies

by the term used in the constating documents of the reporting issuer, to the($<ote t that

term differs from the appropriate restricted security term, if the descriptiorﬂt{ on the
a

front page of the document and is in the same type face and type 5@ that used

generally in the document. Q/
M.O. 2005-03, s. 10.1; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727; M.O. 20@ . 4; M.O. 2010-17,

s. 21. &

10.2. Dissemination of Disclosure Documents to H@r of Restricted Securities

Q) If a reporting issuer sends a document to Iders of any class of its equity
securities the document must also be sent by ﬂ& porting issuer at the same time to
the holders of its restricted securities.

(2) A reporting issuer that is requireq@hls Regulation to arrange for, or voluntarily
makes arrangements for, delivery of the fpocuments referred to in subsection (1) to the
beneficial owners of any securitiesrg@class of equity securities registered in the name
of a registrant, must make simial ‘@rangements for delivery of the documents to the
beneficial owners of securitie, a class of restricted securities registered in the name
of the registrant. %‘

M.O. 2005-03, s. 106@

10.3. Exempti r Certain Reporting Issuers

The jsions of sections 10.1 and 10.2 do not apply to

securities that carry a right to vote subject to a restriction on the number or

per e of securities that may be voted or owned by persons that are not citizens or
resi¥ents of Canada or that are otherwise considered as a result of any law applicable
\ e reporting issuer to be non-Canadians, but only to the extent of the restriction; and
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(b)  securities that are subject to a restriction, imposed by any law governing
the reporting issuer, on the level of ownership of the securities by any person or
combination of persons, but only to the extent of the restriction.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 10.3; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 3.
PART 11 ADDITIONAL FILING REQUIREMENTS
11.1. Additional Disclosure Requirements (2)
(1) Areporting issuer must file a copy of any disclosure material Q:l/
(@) thatit sends to its securityholders; Q/
(b) in the case of an SEC issuer, that it files w%y urnishes to the SEC
under the 1934 Act, including material filed as exhibitgtO\ Other documents, if the
material contains information that has not been includ disclosure already filed in a

jurisdiction by the SEC issuer; or (‘O

(c) that it files with another provi@r territorial securities regulatory
authority other than in connection with a distr@gtio :

(2) A reporting issuer must file the rial on the same date as, or as soon as
practicable after, the earlier of

M)
(@ the date on whi hn.'me reporting issuer sends the material to its
securityholders;

(b) the date OS @‘u the reporting issuer files or furnishes the material to the

SEC; and
O

(c) th on which the reporting issuer files that material with the other
provincial or terN0rlal securities regulatory authority.

M.O. 200809, s. 11.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 31.

11.Q®1ange of Status Report

\0% A reporting issuer must file a notice promptly after the occurrence of either of the
lowing:

(@) the reporting issuer becomes a venture issuer; or

(b)  the reporting issuer ceases to be a venture issuer.
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M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.2.

11.3. Voting Results

A reporting issuer that is not a venture issuer must, promptly following a me tir&
of securityholders at which a matter was submitted to a vote, file a report that dis@s,
for each matter voted upon (l/

(@) a brief description of the matter voted upon and the outcome@tﬂe vote;

and Q~

(b) if the vote was conducted by ballot, including a vot matter in which
votes are cast both in person and by proxy, the number or per e of votes cast for,
against or withheld from the vote. ,&/

M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.3. Q
&

11.4. Financial Information O

A reporting issuer must file a copy of a%n ws release issued by it that discloses
information regarding its historical or probg ive financial performance or financial
condition for a financial year or interim

M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.4; M.O. 201o-¢1gx5.«23.

11.5. Re-filing Documents *

If a reporting issu R&des it will

(@) re-file @) ument filed under this Regulation, or

(b) e%ae financial information for comparative periods in financial
statements @ reasons other than retrospective application of a change in an
accountipd\sgandard or policy or a new accounting standard,
d the information in the re-fled document, or re-stated financial information,
'Il%ffer materially from the information originally filed, the issuer must immediately
e and file a news release authorized by an executive officer disclosing the nature
§nd substance of the change or proposed changes.

M.O. 2006-04, s. 32; M.O. 2010-17, s. 24.
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11.6. Executive Compensation Disclosure for Certain Reporting Issuers

(1)  Areporting issuer that does not send to its securityholders an information circular
that includes the disclosure required by Item 8 of Form 51-102F5 and that does not file
an AIF that includes the executive compensation disclosure required by Item 18 of
Form 51-102F2 must \b‘

(@) disclose all compensation paid, payable, awarded, granted, g@ or
otherwise provided, directly or indirectly, by the issuer, or a subsidiary of tf%ps er, to

each NEO and director, in any capacity, including, for greater certalnty lan and
non-plan compensation, direct or indirect pay, remuneration, econ r financial
award, reward, benefit, gift or perquisite paid, payable, awarded d given, or

otherwise provided to the NEO or director for services prowde or indirectly, to
the issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer, and

(b) include detail and discussion of the com on and the decision-
making process relating to compensation, presented | ch a way that it provides a
reasonable person, applying reasonable effort, an un nding of

0] how decisions about NEO a@ector compensation are made,

(i) the compensation paid e payable, awarded, granted, given or
otherwise provided to each NEO and dir, , and

(i)  how specific @and director compensation relates to the overall
stewardship and governance of orting issuer.

(2)  The disclosure requi nder subsection (1) must be provided for the periods
set out in, and in ce with Form 51-102F6, which came into force on
December 31, 2008. é

(3) The dis requwed under subsection (1) must be filed not later
than 140 da&/ e end of the reporting issuer's most recently completed financial
year.

4) e purposes of this section, “NEO” and “plan” have the meaning ascribed to
tth ms in Form 51-102F6, which came into force on December 31, 2008.

This section does not apply to an issuer that satisfies securities legislation

\Equirements relating to information circulars, proxies and proxy solicitation under

section 4.6 or 5.7 of Regulation 71-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure and Other
Exemptions Relating to Foreign Issuers (chapter V-1.1, r. 37).
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(6) This section does not apply to an issuer in respect of a financial year ending
before December 31, 2008.

M.O. 2008-18, s. 4; M.O. 2011-05, s. 2.
PART 12 FILING OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS '\b‘
12.1. Filing of Documents Affecting the Rights of Securityholders (19

(1) A reporting issuer must file copies of the following documents, and}% Thaterial
amendments to the following documents, unless previously filed:

(@) articles of incorporation, amalgamation, contin or any other
constating or establishing documents of the issuer, unless the ing or establishing
document is a statutory or regulatory instrument; ,&/

(b) by-laws or other corresponding instrumen@rrently in effect;

(© any securityholder or voting trust a cnént that the reporting issuer has
access to and that can reasonably be regarded & terial to an investor in securities of
the reporting issuer; (b

(d) any securityholders' rights %s or other similar plans; and

(e) any other contract of igsuer or a subsidiary of the issuer that creates or
can reasonably be regarded i terially affecting the rights or obligations of its

securityholders generally.

(2) A document requ'gée be filed under subsection (1) may be filed in paper format

(@) it a@gbefore June 1, 2005; and

(b) @oes not exist in an acceptable electronic format.

M.O. 3, s. 12.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 33.

1 g( Filing of Material Contracts
}1 Unless previously filed, a reporting issuer must file a material contract entered

into

(@) within the last financial year; or
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(b) before the last financial year if that material contract is still in effect.

(2) Despite subsection (1), a reporting issuer is not required to file a material
contract entered into in the ordinary course of business unless the material contract is

(@) a contract to which directors, officers, or promoters are parties other 5®‘
a contract of employment; Q

(b)  a continuing contract to sell the majority of the reporting issue@)g‘r ducts
or services or to purchase the majority of the reporting issuer’s requiremeﬁt/ f goods,
services, or raw materials; Q‘

(© a franchise or licence or other agreement to use a , formula, trade
secret, process or trade name;

(d) a financing or credit agreement with terms %ve a direct correlation
with anticipated cash distributions; Q/

(e) an external management or external é%stration agreement; or

() a contract on which the regeé&g issuer's business is substantially
dependent. r\

(3) A provision in a material contracf}led pursuant to subsections (1) or (2) may be
omitted or marked to be unread li?edf an executive officer of the reporting issuer
reasonably believes that disclosyr that provision would be seriously prejudicial to the
interests of the reporting issu%r‘ggwould violate confidentiality provisions.

(4) Subsection (3) dqe apply if the provision relates to:
(@) debtc nts and ratios in financing or credit agreements;
(b) é\/&ntg of default or other terms relating to the termination of the material

contract; or

& other terms necessary for understanding the impact of the material
co% n the business of the reporting issuer.
If a provision is omitted or marked to be unreadable under subsection (3), the
Xporting issuer must include a description of the type of information that has been
omitted or marked to be unreadable immediately after the provision in the copy of the
material contract filed by the reporting issuer.
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(6) Despite subsections (1) and (2), a reporting issuer is not required to file a
material contract entered into before January 1, 2002.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 12.2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 5.
12.3. Time for Filing of Documents y\b‘

The documents required to be filed under sections 12.1 and 12.2 must beﬂl% no
later than the time the reporting issuer files a material change report in Forn@l- 2F3,
if the making of the document constitutes a material change for the issuer, GT/

@) no later than the time the reporting issuer's AlF is filed section 6.1, if
the document was made or adopted before the date of the issuer’ vor

(b) if the reporting issuer is not required to file an er section 6.1, within
120 days after the end of the issuer's most recently cg®p\ted financial year, if the
document was made or adopted before the end of the | r's most recently completed

financial year. (‘O

M.O. 2005-03, s. 12.3; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, ’g@

PART 13 EXEMPTIONS ?{b

Q

13.1. Exemptions from this Regulatio

M)
(1)  The securities regulatory Lf?@)rity may grant an exemption from this Regulation,
in whole or in part, subject t h conditions or restrictions as may be imposed in the
exemption. Q?“

(2) Despite subse@s (1), in Ontario only the regulator may grant such an
exemption.

3) Except i@n:ario, an exemption referred to in subsection (1) is granted under the
statute ref to in Appendix B of Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions
(chapter J., r. 3), opposite the name of the local jurisdiction.

M.Qr -03, s. 13.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 34; M.O. 2008-18, s. 6 and 13.

@Q. Existing Exemptions

(1) A reporting issuer that was entitled to rely on an exemption, waiver or approval
granted to it by a securities regulatory authority relating to continuous disclosure
requirements of securities legislation or securities directions existing immediately before
this Regulation came into force is exempt from any substantially similar provision of this
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Regulation to the same extent and on the same conditions, if any, as contained in the
exemption, waiver or approval.

(2) A reporting issuer must, at the time that it first intends to rely on subsection (1) in
connection with a filing requirement under this Regulation, inform the securities
regulatory authority in writing of

(@) the general nature of the prior exemption, waiver or approval and (I&ate

on which it was granted; and .

(b) the requirement under prior securities legislation or securi%%ections in
respect of which the prior exemption, waiver or approval applied ar% substantially
similar provision of this Regulation.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.2. &@Q

13.3. Exemption for Certain Exchangeable Securityéjers

Q) In this section: OCO

“designated Canadian jurisdiction” m Alberta British Columbia, Manitoba,
New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Ontario, Queb{%r Saskatchewan,;

“designated exchangeable secu‘}ay means an exchangeable security which

provides the holder of the securlty‘;gh tconomic and voting rights which are, as nearly
as possible except for tax |mpI| , equivalent to the underlying securities;

“exchangeable sec eans a security of an issuer that is exchangeable for,
or carries the right of Ider to purchase, or of the parent issuer to cause the
purchase of, an under security;

“exchang&@e Security issuer” means a person that has issued an exchangeable
security;

‘D @ Issuer”, when used in relation to an exchangeable security issuer, means
the pe§ﬁhat issues the underlying security; and

“underlying security” means a security of a parent issuer issued or transferred, or
@e issued or transferred, on the exchange of an exchangeable security.
(2)  An exchangeable security issuer satisfies the requirements in this Regulation if

(@) the parent issuer is the beneficial owner of all the issued and outstanding
voting securities of the exchangeable security issuer;
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(b)  the parent issuer is either

0] an SEC issuer with a class of securities listed or quoted on a U.S.
marketplace that has filed all documents it is required to file with the SEC; or

(i) a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction th@as

filed all documents it is required to file under this Regulation; (l/
(c) the exchangeable security issuer does not issue any securit'@éﬁﬁd does
not have any securities outstanding, other than Q‘
0] designated exchangeable securities; %Q/
(i) securities issued to and held by the pa suer or an affiliate of
the parent issuer; Q

(i)  debt securities issued to and heldﬁﬁanks, loan corporations, loan
and investment corporations, savings companies, gast=€orporations, treasury branches,
savings or credit unions, financial services coop§ es, insurance companies or other
financial institutions; or

(iv)  securities issued %}Ier exemptions from the prospectus
requirement in section 2.35 and repistration requirement in section 3.35 of
Regulation 45-106 respecting Q;R[ospectus and Registration Exemptions

(chapter V-1.1, r. 21); *
(d)  the exchange ?'Security issuer files in electronic format,

0] if q%\ parent issuer is not a reporting issuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdictio pies of all documents the parent issuer is required to file with
the SEC under 4 Act, at the same time as, or as soon as practicable after, the
filing by the par&t iIssuer of those documents with the SEC; or

&

jurisdiegu,~
<< (A) a notice indicating that the exchangeable security issuer is
%%ing on the continuous disclosure documents filed by its parent issuer and setting out
x ere those documents can be found in electronic format, if the parent issuer is a
reporting issuer in the local jurisdiction; or

if the parent issuer is a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian

(B) copies of all documents the parent issuer is required to file
under securities legislation, other than in connection with a distribution, at the same time
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as the filing by the parent issuer of those documents with a securities regulatory
authority;

(e) the exchangeable security issuer concurrently sends to all holders of
designated exchangeable securities all disclosure materials that are sent to holders of
the underlying securities in the manner and at the time required by

0] U.S. laws and any U.S. marketplace on which securitie!ﬁthe
parent issuer are listed or quoted, if the parent issuer is not a reportingcssg‘ rin a
designated Canadian jurisdiction; or

(i) securities legislation, if the parent issuer is a r%%ng issuer in a

designated Canadian jurisdiction;

N
) the parent issuer &@Q

(1) complies with U.S. laws and equirements of any U.S.
marketplace on which the securities of the parent ¢ r are listed or quoted if the
[

parent issuer is not a reporting issuer in a igrfated Canadian jurisdiction, or
securities legislation if the parent issuer is a re mg issuer in a designated Canadian
jurisdiction, in respect of making public disgigsure of material information on a timely
basis; and r\

(i) immediately issues‘]n Canada and files any news release that
discloses a material change in its %fgs(ss

(g) the exchangeall&=Security issuer issues in Canada a news release and
files a material change rep l%}ccordance with Part 7 of this Regulation for all material
changes in respect of t e%irs of the exchangeable security issuer that are not also
material changes in th irs of its parent issuer; and

(h) th @Gent issuer includes in all mailings of proxy solicitation materials to
g%t d exchangeable securities a clear and concise statement that

holders of degi
(% explains the reason the mailed material relates solely to the parent
issuer‘OQ~
<< (i) indicates that the designated exchangeable securities are the
@nomic equivalent to the underlying securities; and

(i)  describes the voting rights associated with the designated
exchangeable securities.
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(3) The insider reporting requirement and the requirement to file an insider profile
under National Instrument 55-102 System for Electronic Disclosure by Insiders
(chapter V-1.1, r. 30) does not apply to any insider of an exchangeable security issuer in
respect of securities of the exchangeable security issuer so long as,

(@) if the insider is not the parent issuer, '\b‘

0] the insider does not receive, in the ordinary course, informﬂ? as
to material facts or material changes concerning the parent issuer before @5‘* terial
facts or material changes are generally disclosed, and (L

(i) the insider is not an insider of the parent issﬁ;% any capacity

other than by virtue of being an insider of the exchangeable secur] er,

(b) the parent issuer is the beneficial owner of the issued and
outstanding voting securities of the exchangeable security JqSNeT;

(c) if the insider is the parent issuer, the in@ﬂoes not beneficially own any
designated exchangeable securities other than segsitts acquired through the exercise
of the exchange right and not subsequently trad& the insider;

(d)  the parent issuer is an SEC ilsgulr or a reporting issuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdiction; and q/

(e) the exchangeable s Lhi[ysissuer has not issued any securities and does
not have any securities outstarE'Cg ther than

0] design xchangeable securities;
(i) se@ﬁies issued to and held by the parent issuer or an affiliate of

the parent issuer;

and invest orporations, savings companies, trust corporations, treasury branches,
savings rpdit unions, financial services cooperatives, insurance companies or other
finang itutions; and

:ii& debt securities issued to and held by banks, loan corporations, loan

<< (iv)  securities issued under exemptions from the prospectus
irement in section 2.35 and registration requirement in section 3.35 of
\Regulation 45-106 respecting Prospectus and Registration Exemptions.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 35; M.O. 2008-06, s. 6 and 11; M.O. 2009-05,
s. 1.
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13.4. Exemption for Certain Credit Support Issuers
(2) In this section:

“alternative credit support” means support, other than a guarantee, for the
payments to be made by the issuer, as stipulated in the terms of the securities or ig@‘
agreement governing rights of, or granting rights to, holders of the securities that Q

(@) obliges the person providing the support to provide the issue@it:hlfunds
sufficient to enable the issuer to make the stipulated payments, or (L

(b)  entitles the holder of the securities to receive, from t rson providing
the support, payment if the issuer fails to make a stipulated paym %

“credit support issuer” means an issuer of securities ich a credit supporter
has provided a guarantee or alternative credit support; Q

“credit supporter” means a person that providqﬁduarantee or alternative credit
support for any of the payments to be made by (ssder of securities as stipulated in
the terms of the securities or in an agreement g& ing rights of, or granting rights to,

holders of the securities; 0.')

“designated Canadian jurisdictio ’%t}ans Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba,
New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Ontario,Pbuébec or Saskatchewan; “designated credit
support securities” means Q;\ )

(@) non-convertible t securities or convertible debt securities that are
convertible into non-convert k%ecurities of the credit supporter; or

(b) non-con\@ble preferred shares or convertible preferred shares that are
convertible into sec(riyes of the credit supporter, in respect of which a parent credit
supporter has pr,

(c) @ernative credit support that

0] entitles the holder of the securities to receive payment from the
cre&r pporter, or enables the holder to receive payment from the credit support

ié , within 15 days of any failure by the credit support issuer to make a payment; and
\ (i) results in the securities receiving the same credit rating as, or a
higher credit rating than, the credit rating they would have received if payment had been

fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the credit supporter, or would result in the
securities receiving such a rating if they were rated; or
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(d) a full and unconditional guarantee of the payments to be made by the
credit support issuer, as stipulated in the terms of the securities or in an agreement
governing the rights of holders of the securities, that results in the holder of such
securities being entitled to receive payment from the credit supporter within 15 days of
any failure by the credit support issuer to make a payment;

“parent credit supporter” means a credit supporter of which the reporting is@w’s
a subsidiary;

“subsidiary credit supporter” means a credit supporter that is a suhs@rg/ of the
parent credit supporter; and

“summary financial information” includes the following line |§®Q/
(@) revenue; ,&

(b) profit or loss from continuing operation@ributable to owners of the

parent; (‘O

(c) profit or loss attributable to ownersﬂ@e parent; and

(d) unless the accounting princi Ibgased to prepare the financial statements
of the person permits the preparation &‘ue person's statement of financial position
without classifying assets and liabilities &W\/een current and non-current and the person
provides alternative meaningful fi?gx;ial information which is more appropriate to the

industry, *

0] current S;

(i) nc@urrent assets;

(ii%Qchent liabilities; and
C)@) non-current liabilities.

(1.1) he purposes of subparagraph (2)(g)(ii), consolidating summary financial
infg n must be prepared on the following basis:

% (@) an entity’s annual or interim summary financial information must be
Xerived from the entity’s financial information underlying the corresponding consolidated
financial statements of the parent credit supporter for the corresponding period;

(b) the parent credit supporter column must account for investments in all
subsidiaries under the equity method; and
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(c) all subsidiary entity columns must account for investments in non-credit
supporter subsidiaries under the equity method.

(2) Except as provided in this section, a credit support issuer satisfies the
requirements in this Regulation if

(@) the parent credit supporter is the beneficial owner of all the outﬁ@ing

voting securities of the credit support issuer; .

(b) the parent credit supporter is either Q:l/

der the laws of
ates of America or
uired to file with the

0] an SEC issuer that is incorporated or organi
the United States of America or any state or territory of the Unj
the District of Columbia and that has filed all documents i
SEC; or ’\

(i) a reporting issuer in a designat%%%madlan jurisdiction that has
filed all documents it is required to file under this

(© the credit support issuer does &ue any securities, and does not have
any securities outstanding, other than r\

0] designated credit sﬁaport securities;

M)
(i) securities ?gl% to and held by the parent credit supporter or an

affiliate of the parent credit s ter;

(i) ities issued to and held by banks, loan corporations, loan
and investment corpor S, savings companies, trust corporations, treasury branches,
savings or credit un > financial services cooperatives, insurance companies or other

financial |nst|tut

@ securities issued under exemptions from the prospectus
require () section 2.35 and registration requirement in section 3.35 of
Regul 5-106 respecting Prospectus  and Registration Exemptions
(ch V-1.1, r. 21);

\é (d) the credit support issuer files in electronic format,
(1) if the parent credit supporter is not a reporting issuer in a

designated Canadian jurisdiction, copies of all documents the parent credit supporter is
required to file with the SEC under the 1934 Act, at the same time or as soon as

83



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 31, 2013 TO SEPTEMBER 29, 2014

practicable after the filing by the parent credit supporter of those documents with the
SEC; or

(i) if the parent credit supporter is a reporting issuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdiction,

(A)  a notice indicating that the credit support issuer is r:(l;rfg\n

the continuous disclosure documents filed by the parent credit supporter and s out
where those documents can be found for viewing in electronic format, | he credit
support issuer is a reporting issuer in the local jurisdiction; or (L

(B) copies of all documents the parent supporter is
required to file under securities legislation, other than in connec' h a distribution,
at the same time as the filing by the parent credit supporter o documents with a
securities regulatory authority; Q/

(e) if the parent credit supporter is not a r@mg issuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdiction, the parent credit supporter (‘O

0] complies with U.S. laws @ the requirements of any U.S.
marketplace on which securities of the par credit supporter are listed or quoted in
respect of making public disclosure of matema\ formation on a timely basis; and

(i) immediately issues‘]n Canada and files any news release that
discloses a material change in its %fgs(ss

() the credit supp suer issues in Canada a news release and files a
material change report |n ance with Part 7 for all material changes in respect of
the affairs of the credit issuer that are not also material changes in the affairs of
the parent credit supp&&s

(99 th %qupport issuer files, in electronic format, in the notice referred to

in clause (d)(l or in or with the copy of each consolidated interim financial report and
consolidate nnual financial statements filed under subparagraph (d)(i) or
clause ( , either

0] a statement that the financial results of the credit support issuer are

gfded in the consolidated financial results of the parent credit supporter, if at that
(A) the credit support issuer has minimal assets, operations,

revenue or cash flows other than those related to the issuance, administration and

repayment of the securities described in paragraph (c), and
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(B) each item of the summary financial information of the
subsidiaries of the parent credit supporter on a combined basis, other than the credit
support issuer, represents less than 3% of the corresponding items on the consolidated
financial statements of the parent credit supporter being filed or referred to under
paragraph (d), or

(i) for the periods covered by the consolidated interim financial '\rt
or consolidated annual financial statements of the parent credit support q)ed,
consolidating summary financial information for the parent credit supporte re ented
with a separate column for each of the following: (L

(A) the parent credit supporter; @2
(B) the credit support issuer; Q/@%

(C) any other subsidiaries of theQ'aﬁQnt credit supporter on a

combined basis; Q/

(D)  consolidating adjustme@ d
(E) the total consolidaged amounts;

(h) the credit support issuer p@a corrected notice under clause (d)(ii)(A) if
the credit support issuer filed the ice with the statement contemplated in
subparagraph (g)(i) and the %Nih support issuer can no longer rely on

subparagraph (g)(i); \\

0] in the case o gnated credit support securities that include debt, the
credit support issuer copcWRently sends to all holders of such securities all disclosure
materials that are se holders of similar debt of the parent credit supporter in the

manner and at the ti@ quired by

parent credj pporter are listed or quoted, if the parent credit supporter is not a

reportina r in a designated Canadian jurisdiction; or
O (i) securities legislation, if the parent credit supporter is a reporting

g&r in a designated Canadian jurisdiction; and

;i)Q U.S. laws and any U.S. marketplace on which securities of the

() in the case of designated credit support securities that include preferred
shares, the credit support issuer concurrently sends to all holders of such securities all
disclosure materials that are sent to holders of similar preferred shares of the parent
credit supporter in the manner and at the time required by
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(1) U.S. laws and any U.S. marketplace on which securities of the
parent credit supporter are listed or quoted, if the parent credit supporter is not a
reporting issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction; or

(i) securities legislation, if the parent credit supporter is a reporting
issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction. '\

(k) no person other than the parent credit supporter has provided a g\.@tee
or alternative credit support for the payments to be made under any @ue and
outstanding securities of the credit support issuer.

(2.1) A credit support issuer satisfies the requirements of this Reg%%n where there
is a parent credit supporter and one or more subsidiary credit sup

(@) the conditions in paragraphs (2)(a) to (f), (i), ar}(' e complied with;

(b) the parent credit supporter controls eac sidiary credit supporter and
the parent credit supporter has consolidated the fina tatements of each subsidiary
credit supporter into the parent credit supporter’s@a ial statements that are filed or
referred to under paragraph (2)(d); &

(c) the credit support issuer files, nQectronic format, in the notice referred to
in clause (2)(d)(ii)(A) or in or with the c?@f each consolidated interim financial report
and the consolidated annual financial stgements filed under subparagraph (2)(d)(i) or
clause (2)(d)(ii)(B), for a period ¢ @ed by any consolidated interim financial report or
consolidated annual financial %ents of the parent credit supporter filed by the
parent credit supporter, consQlftfd{ing summary financial information for the parent credit
supporter presented with a (%rate column for each of the following:

0] ent credit supporter;
(ii)Q e credit support issuer;
@ each subsidiary credit supporter on a combined basis;

(iv)  any other subsidiaries of the parent credit supporter on a combined

\é (V) consolidating adjustments; and

(vi)  the total consolidated amounts;
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(d) no person, other than the parent credit supporter or a subsidiary credit
supporter has provided a guarantee or alternative credit support for the payments to be
made under the issued and outstanding designated credit support securities; and

(e) the guarantees or alternative credit supports are joint and several.

(2.2) Despite paragraph (2.1)(c), the information set out in a column in accor@'ﬁse
with q/

(@)  subparagraph (2.1)(c)(iv), may be combined with the informaﬂ'?%%t out in
h ¥t

accordance with any of the other columns in paragraph (2.1)(c); if em of the
summary financial information set out in a column in rdance with
subparagraph (2.1)(c)(iv) represents less than 3% of the corres g items on the
consolidated financial statements of the parent credit supporter, filed or referred to

under paragraph (2)(d), &Q/

(b) subparagraph (2.1)(c)(ii) may be combin@th the information set out in
accordance with any of the other columns in parag (2.1)(c); if the credit support

issuer has minimal assets, operations, revenue or ows other than those related to
the issuance, administration and repaymeﬂ f the securities described in
paragraph (2)(c). (b

3) The insider reporting requireme %d the requirement to file an insider profile
under National Instrument 55-102 Systelgr for Electronic Disclosure by Insiders (SEDI)
(chapter V-1.1, r. 30) do not appl tbs@m insider of a credit support issuer in respect of
securities of the credit supportiilﬁbso long as,

(@ the condition@ﬁragraphs (2)(a) to (c) are complied with;
(b) if the insi@\'s not a credit supporter,

0] e insider does not receive, in the ordinary course, information as
to material fagtNOr material changes concerning a credit supporter before the material
facts or m?;@ changes are generally disclosed, and

(i) the insider is not an insider of a credit supporter in any capacity
othg(@n by virtue of being an insider of the credit support issuer; and

(© if the insider is a credit supporter, the insider does not beneficially own any
Xesignated credit support securities;

(4) A parent credit supporter is not a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian

jurisdiction for the purposes of subparagraph (2)(b)(ii) if the parent credit supporter
complies with a requirement of this Regulation by relying on a provision of
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Regulation 71-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure and Other Exemptions Relating to
Foreign Issuers (chapter V-1.1, r. 37).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.4; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727; M.O. 2006-04, s. 36; M.O. 2008-
06, s. 7 and 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 7, M.O. 2009-05, s. 2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 26;
M.O. 2012-05, s. 1.

PART 14  EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION (19
14.1. Effective Date (f})"
(Omitted). @2

M.O. 2005-03, s. 14.1. &
14.2. Transition Q&Q/

Despite section 14.1, section 5.7 applies for fin@& years of the reporting issuer
beginning on or after January 1, 2007.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 14.2; Erratum, 2005, G.O. ,73‘7; M.O. 2006-04, s. 37.

14.3. Transition - Interim Financial RP@"[\

(2) Despite section 4.4 and p &graph 4.10(2)(c), the first interim financial report
required to be filed in the ye r% adopting IFRS in respect of an interim period
beginning on or after January ITR011 may be filed

(@) in the cas @reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, on or before
the earlier of

0] e 75th day after the end of the interim period; and

the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
for a per'g(gming on the last day of the interim period; or

<<®) in the case of a venture issuer, on or before the earlier of
\é (1) the 90th day after the end of the interim period; and

(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
for a period ending on the last day of the interim period.
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(2) Despite subsection 5.1(2), the MD&A required to be filed under subsection 5.1(1)
relating to the first interim financial report required to be filed in the year of adopting
IFRS in respect of an interim period beginning on or after January 1, 2011 may be filed
on or before the earlier of

(@) the filing deadline for the interim financial report set out in subsection'(\m

and
D

(b) the date the reporting issuer files the interim financial r@jrt under

subsections (1) or 4.3(1), as applicable. (L °

(3) Despite subsection 4.6(3), if a registered holder or beneficial @of securities,
other than debt instruments, of a reporting issuer requests th er's first interim
financial report required to be filed in the year of adopting IFRSGQANSpect of an interim
period beginning on or after January 1, 2011, the reporting may send a copy of
the required interim financial report and the interim relating to the interim

financial report to the person that made the request, wit charge, by the later of,

(@) in the case of a reporting issuer re@%n subsection (1), 10 calendar
days after the filing deadline set out in subs& (1), for the financial statements
requested,;

(b) in the case of a reporting }%r not relying on subsection (1), 10 calendar
days after the filing deadline in subparagfaph 4.4(a)(i) or 4.4(b)(i), subsection 4.10(2) or
subsection 14.3(1), as applicable, Rgsba financial statements requested; and

(© 10 calendar day, er the issuer receives the request.

(4) Subsections (1), @ (3) do not apply unless the reporting issuer:

, for the first time, a statement of compliance with International
4 Interim Financial Reporting; and

(@) is disc
Accounting Sta

(b) @ not previously file financial statements that disclosed compliance with
rrs. O

(5) @J;sections (1), (2) and (3) do not apply if the first interim financial report is in
respRct of an interim period ending after March 30, 2012.

AN
™.0. 2010-17, s. 27.
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FORM 51-102F1 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Description of MD&A

MD&A is a narrative explanation, through the eyes of management, of ho
company performed during the period covered by the financial statements, and’z/
company's financial condition and future prospects. MD&A comp nts and
supplements your financial statements, but does not form part of @

statements. Q~

Your objective when preparing the MD&A should be to im your company's
overall financial disclosure by giving a balanced discussion of ompany's financial
performance and financial condition including, without limitag ch considerations as
liquidity and capital resources - openly reporting bad new, ell as good news. Your

MD&A should Q/

- help current and prospective inve@r@understand what the financial
statements show and do not show; &

financial

- discuss material information t n~a1ay not be fully reflected in the financial
statements, such as contingent liabil defaults under debt, off-balance sheet
financing arrangements, or other contractjal obligations;

b
- discuss important t(rbds and risks that have affected the financial
statements, and trends and r'gk'}‘that are reasonably likely to affect them in the future;

and

- provide 1 ation about the quality, and potential variability, of your
company's profit o and cash flow, to assist investors in determining if past
performance is i Ive of future performance.

(b) Dat @ﬁormatlon

parlng the MD&A, you must take into account information available up to
the of the MD&A. If the date of the MD&A is not the date it is filed, you must ensure
Ié sclosure in the MD&A is current so that it will not be misleading when it is filed.

Use of “Company”
Wherever this Form uses the word “company”, the term includes other types of

business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business
entities.
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(d) Explain Your Analysis

Explain the nature of, and reasons for, changes in your company's performance.
Do not simply disclose the amount of change in a financial statement item from period
to period. Avoid using boilerplate language. Your discussion should assist the read?r\wg
understand trends, events, transactions and expenditures. Q

(e) Focus on Material Information (2).‘

information that is not material. Exercise your judgment when d ining whether

Focus your MD&A on material information. You do not@% 0 disclose
information is material.

® Determination of what is Material Information Q/§

securities in your company likely be influenced or ch if the information in question
was omitted or misstated? If so, the information is jaly=fnaterial.

Would a reasonable investor's decision whetéQFr not to buy, sell or hold
() Venture Issuers Without Significant é&nue
If your company is a venture issk@vi hout significant revenue from operations,
fiAin

focus your discussion and analysis 0 ancial performance on expenditures and
progress towards achieving your bhg\ess objectives and milestones.

(h)  Reverse Takeover Tr%n'%actions

If an acquisition i; @erse takeover, the MD&A should be based on the reverse

takeover acquirer's fin | statements.
() (paragrap, ed).
) Res Issuers

&ur company has mineral projects, your disclosure must comply with
Re n 43-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects

( ter V-1.1, r. 15), including the requirement that all scientific and technical
stlosure be based on a technical report or other information prepared by or under the
§upervision of a qualified person.

If your company has oil and gas activities, your disclosure must comply with

Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 23).
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(k) Numbering and Headings
The numbering, headings and ordreing of items included in this Form are

guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need not be repeated
elsewhere.

Q\
()  Omitting Information (1/

You do not need to respond to any item in this Form that is inapplice(b@ °

(m) Defined Terms Q/
If a term is used but not defined in this Form, refer to P Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (chaptef,Qf-2.1, r. 24) and to

Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions (chapter V-1.1, f a term is used in this
Form and is defined in both the securities statute Q1e local jurisdiction and in
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure#@aﬁons, refer to section 1.4 of
Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecti tinuous Disclosure Obligations
(Decision 2012-PDG-0236, 2012-12-20) for furtb& idance.

This Form also uses accounting tehébthat are defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accoun enterprises. For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy ftatement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations N

o

(n)  Plain Language *

Write the MD&A s at readers are able to understand it. Refer to the plain
language principles l%d in section 1.5 of Policy Statement 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclos bligations for further guidance. If you use technical terms,
explain them in %ir and concise manner.

(o) Avagj Prior Period Information
&u have not presented comparative financial information in your financial
t

sta% S, in your MD&A you must provide prior period information relating to financial
mance that is available.

r
}b; Use of “Financial Condition”

This Form uses the term “financial condition”. Financial condition reflects the
overall health of the company and includes your company's financial position (as shown
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on the statement of financial position) and other factors that may affect your company's
liquidity, capital resources and solvency.

PART 2 CONTENT OF MD&A
ltem 1 Annual MD&A \b‘
1.1 Date (19

Specify the date of your MD&A. The date of the MD&A must be nﬂ%ﬁer than
the date of the auditor's report on the annual financial statements fo@ company's

most recently completed financial year. Q/
1.2 Overall Performance @t

Provide an analysis of your company's financial ¢ '&%financial performance
and cash flows. Discuss known trends, demands, com nts, events or uncertainties
that are reasonably likely to have an effect on your ¢ y's business. Compare your

company's performance in the most recently compte{etfinancial year to the prior year's
performance. Your analysis should address at Ie& e following:

(@) operating segments that are){e‘aaortable segments as those terms are
described in the issuer's GAAP; q/

(b)  other parts of your blﬁgess if

(1) they hay, disproportionate effect on revenue, profit or loss or
cash needs; or %‘

(i) n@are any legal or other restrictions on the flow of funds from

one part of your co s business to another;

(© 'n&s y and economic factors affecting your company's performance;

(g?C)Nhy changes have occurred or expected changes have not occurred in

your y's financial condition and financial performance; and
<< (e) the effect of discontinued operations on current operations.
ﬁTRUCTIONS

0] When explaining changes in your company's financial condition and results,

include an analysis of the effect on your continuing operations of any acquisition,
disposition, write-off, abandonment or other similar transaction.
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(i) A discussion of financial condition should include important trends and risks that
have affected the financial statements, and trends and risks that are reasonably likely to
affect them in the future.

(@ii)  Include information for a period longer than 2 financial years if it will help tlﬁ;
reader to better understand a trend. Q'\

1.3. Selected Annual Information (2).‘

(2) Provide the following financial data derived from your company’ n(rlfal financial
statements for each of the 3 most recently completed financial years:

(@) total revenue; &
g/able to owners of the

(© profit or loss attributable to owners 6%2 parent, in total and on a per-
share and diluted per-share basis; &

(b) profit or loss from continuing operations
parent, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-shar

(d)  total assets; r\
(e)  total non-current financ'iil ﬁg,lailities; and
M)
() distributions cash i\ﬁa}nds declared per-share for each class of share.

(2) Discuss the factors % have caused period to period variations including
discontinued operation nges in accounting policies, significant acquisitions or
dispositions and chan%in the direction of your business, and any other information
your company belie ould enhance an understanding of, and would highlight trends
in, financial posig(Q-a.nd financial performance.

INSTRUCT,

0] &mh of the 3 most recently completed financial years, indicate the
g principles that the financial data has been prepared in accordance with, the

acg
e&ntation currency and the functional currency if different from the presentation
\Qency.

(i) If the financial data provided was not prepared in accordance with the same

accounting principles for all 3 years, focus the discussion on the important trends and
risks that have affected the business.
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1.4  Discussion of Operations

Discuss your analysis of your company's operations for the most recently
completed financial year, including

(@) total revenue by reportable segment, including any changes in u®‘
amounts caused by selling prices, volume or quantity of goods or services being s@,\vr
the introduction of new products or services;

(b)  any other significant factors that caused changes in total reveﬂ@ °
(c) cost of sales or gross profit; @2
(d)  for issuers that have significant projects that @&ot yet generated

revenue, describe each project, including your company's%’a r the project and the
status of the project relative to that plan, and expenditur e and how these relate
to anticipated timing and costs to take the project to the@ stage of the project plan;

(e) for resource issuers with producing % or mines under development,
identify any milestone, including, without limita Gﬂine expansion plans, productivity
improvements, plans to develop a new depesit, dr production decisions, and whether
the milestone is based on a technical re d& d under Regulation 43-101 respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Pro'pé

) factors that caused a?\ghange in the relationship between costs and
revenue, including changes inigbof labour or materials, price changes or inventory

adjustments;

(9) commitme t@/ents, risks or uncertainties that you reasonably believe
will materially affei@\company's future performance including total revenue and

profit or loss from ¢ Ing operations attributable to owners of the parent;

revenue a profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to owners of the

(h) r&t of inflation and specific price changes on your company's total
parent; E ;z

@ a comparison in tabular form of disclosure you previously made about how
yQuUK company was going to use proceeds (other than working capital) from any
%ncing, an explanation of variances and the impact of the variances, if any, on your
X)mpany's ability to achieve its business objectives and milestones; and

() unusual or infrequent events or transactions.

INSTRUCTION
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Your discussion under paragraph 1.4(d) should include
0] whether or not you plan to expend additional funds on the project; and

(i) any factors that have affected the value of the project(s) such as changKﬁg
commodity prices, land use or political or environmental issues. Q

1.5 Summary of Quarterly Results (2).‘

Provide the following information in summary form, derived fro D/company's
financial statements, for each of the 8 most recently completed quart@

(@) total revenue; &
g/able to owners of the

is; and

(b) profit or loss from continuing operations
parent, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-shar

(© profit or loss attributable to owners 6%2 parent, in total and on a per-
share and diluted per-share basis. &

Discuss the factors that have cause ‘hriations over the quarters necessary to
understand general trends that have dq/@)ped and the seasonality of the business.

INSTRUCTIONS N

o)

(1) In the case of the an ua\MD&A, your most recently completed quarter is the
guarter that ended on the la %’y of your most recently completed financial year.

(i) You do not ha@m provide information for a quarter prior to your company
u

becoming a reporti er if your company has not prepared financial statements for
those quarters. <<Q~

(i)  For %i})ns 1.2, 1.3, 1.4 and 1.5 consider identifying, discussing and analyzing
the follo éj ctors:

ﬁ{@) changes in customer buying patterns, including changes due to new

téc ologies and changes in demographics;
\ (B) changes in selling practices, including changes due to new distribution
arrangements or a reorganization of a direct sales force;

(C) changes in competition, including an assessment of the issuer's
resources, strengths and weaknesses relative to those of its competitors;
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(D) the effect of exchange rates;

(E) changes in pricing of inputs, constraints on supply, order backlog, or other
input-related matters;

(F) changes in production capacity, including changes due to plant cl@us
and work stoppages; (1/

. . N
(G) changes in volume of discounts granted to customers, volur@f returns
and allowances, excise and other taxes or other amounts reflecte net basis
against revenue;

(H) changes in the terms and conditions of service ¢

() the progress in achieving previously announé&w estones;

J) for resource issuers with producing mi entlfy changes to cash flows
caused by changes in production throughput, he de, cut-off grade, metallurgical
recovery and any expectation of future changes&

(K) if you have an equity mvestete?that is significant to your company, the
nature of the investment and &gmﬁcancgl/ our company.

(iv)  For each of the 8 most r bqtl'y completed quarters, indicate the accounting
principles that the financial data ggeen prepared in accordance with, the presentation
currency and the functional ¢ cy if different from the presentation currency.

accounting principles 8 quarters, focus the discussion on the important trends and
risks that have affec@ e business.

1.6 Liqui%ﬂQ‘

P G:ge an analysis of your company's liquidity, including

(v) If the financial dg@ovided was not prepared in accordance with the same

its ability to generate sufficient amounts of cash and cash equivalents, in
ort term and the long term, to maintain your company's capacity, to meet your
panys planned growth or to fund development activities;

(b)  trends or expected fluctuations in your company's liquidity, taking into
account demands, commitments, events or uncertainties;

(c) its working capital requirements;
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(d) liquidity risks associated with financial instruments;

(e) if your company has or expects to have a working capital deficiency,
discuss its ability to meet obligations as they become due and how you expect it to
remedy the deficiency;

() statement of financial position conditions or profit or loss attribd@ to
owners of the parent or cash flow items that may affect your company's I|qU|

(9) legal or practical restrictions on the ability of subs@anesQ}~ sfer funds
to your company and the effect these restrictions have had or may h n the ability of
your company to meet its obligations; and

(h)  defaults or arrears or significant risk of defaults ears on

0] distributions or dividends paymer@ease payments, interest or
principal payment on debt; (‘O

(i) debt covenants; and &O
(i)  redemption or rem@\n@n sinking fund  payments,

and how your company intends tg%re the default or arrears or address the risk.
M)

INSTRUCTIONS \\‘b

0] In discussing your ¢ ny's ability to generate sufficient amounts of cash and
cash equivalents you sho describe sources of funding and the circumstances that
could affect those es that are reasonably likely to occur. Examples of
circumstances that d affect liquidity are market or commodity price changes,
economic down efaults on guarantees and contractions of operations.

(i) In dj Ing trends or expected fluctuations in your company's liquidity and
quuidity IS Bssociated with financial instruments you should discuss

provisions in debt, lease or other arrangements that could trigger an
(ﬁonal funding requirement or early payment. Examples of such situations are
isions linked to credit rating, profit or loss, cash flows or share price; and

(B) circumstances that could impair your company's ability to undertake
transaction considered essential to operations. Examples of such circumstances are the
inability to maintain investment grade credit rating, earnings per-share, cash flow or
share price.
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(i) In discussing your company's working capital requirements you should discuss
situations where your company must maintain significant inventory to meet customers'
delivery requirements or any situations involving extended payment terms.

or loss or cash flow items you should present a summary, in tabular form, of conty I
obligations including payments due for each of the next 5 years and thereaKag he
summary and table do not have to be provided if your company is a ventur%n r. An
example of a table that can be adapted to your company's particular stances

follows: (,Q‘

(iv)  In discussing your company's statement of financial position conditions or ob‘g
ét_ﬁa

Payments Due by Period
Contractual Total Less than 1year | 1-3years 4 - After 5 years
Obligations (,
Debt AV
Finance Lease Q ~
Obligations (/ ‘
Operating Leases C')v
Purchase ~
Obligations(1) ,(O
Other N\
Obligations(2) 3
Total Contractual Q\
Obligations Q)
(1) “Purchase Obligation” means an agreen¥nt to purchase goods or services that is enforceable
and legally binding on your company t &cifies all significant terms, including: fixed or minimum

transaction.
2) “Other Obligations” mea s?sher financial liabilities reflected on your company's statement of
financial position.

guantities to be purchased; fixed, mini T r variable price provisions; and the approximate timing of the

The tabular &ntaﬁon may be accompanied by footnotes to describe
provisions that c ncrease or accelerate obligations, or other details to the extent
necessary for %ﬁerstanding of the timing and amount of your company's specified

contractual % ions.
@JI Resources

<< ovide an analysis of your company's capital resources, including

\s (@ commitments for capital expenditures as of the date of your company's
financial statements including

(1) the amount, nature and purpose of these commitments;

(i) the expected source of funds to meet these commitments; and
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(i)  expenditures not yet committed but required to maintain your
company's capacity, to meet your company's planned growth or to fund development
activities;

(b) known trends or expected fluctuations in your company's ca @k
resources, including expected changes in the mix and relative cost of these res ;

and (l/

(c) sources of financing that your company has arranged but not@éblged.

INSTRUCTIONS Q/Q

0] Capital resources are financing resources available to y pany and include
debt, equity and any other financing arrangements that y sonably consider will
provide financial resources to your company. Q

(i) In discussing your company's commitments y%%&fould discuss any exploration
and development, or research and developmer@ enditures required to maintain
properties or agreements in good standing &

1.8 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements ){b

Discuss any off-balance sheet a%gements that have, or are reasonably likely
to have, a current or future effect rNhe financial performance or financial condition of
your company including, withou ation, such considerations as liquidity and capital
resources. *&

business purpose an ivities, their economic substance, risks associated with the
arrangements, and ey terms and conditions associated with any commitments.
Your discussion include

In your discussio;%@ff balance sheet arrangements you should discuss their

@) %description of the other contracting party(ies);

& the effects of terminating the arrangement;

(c) the amounts receivable or payable, revenue, expenses and cash flows
@llting from the arrangement;

(d)  the nature and amounts of any other obligations or liabilities arising from
the arrangement that could require your company to provide funding under the
arrangement and the triggering events or circumstances that could cause them to arise;
and
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(e) any known event, commitment, trend or uncertainty that may affect the
availability or benefits of the arrangement (including any termination) and the course of
action that management has taken, or proposes to take, in response to any such

circumstances.
,\b‘

(1) Off-balance sheet arrangements include any contractual arrangem%gﬁh an
entity not reported on a consolidated basis with your company, undefl/ ich your

company has
<</<2~

(A) any obligation under certain guarantee contracts;

INSTRUCTIONS

(B) aretained or contingent interest in assets trans to an unconsolidated
entity or similar arrangement that serves as credit, liquidit rket risk support to that
entity for the assets; Q/

(C) any obligation under certain derivati @%uments or

(D) any obligation held by your &ny in an unconsolidated entity that
provides financing, liquidity, market risk dlt risk support to your company, or
engages in leasing, hedging activities g %earch and development services with your
company. f'l/

(i) Contingent liabilities arisi gfbjt of litigation, arbitration or regulatory actions are
not considered to be off-bala heet arrangements.

(i)  Disclosure of offd ce sheet arrangements should cover the most recently
completed financial y However, the discussion should address changes from the
previous year wher discussion is necessary to understand the disclosure.

(iv)  The di c§<5|:;n need not repeat information provided in the notes to the financial
statements e discussion clearly cross-references to specific information in the
relevant @ and integrates the substance of the notes into the discussion in a manner
that e@ﬂs the significance of the information not included in the MD&A.

19\ Transactions Between Related Parties
\ Discuss all transactions between related parties as defined by the issuer's GAAP.

INSTRUCTION
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In discussing your company's transactions between related parties, your
discussion should include both qualitative and quantitative characteristics that are
necessary for an understanding of the transactions' business purpose and economic
substance. You should discuss

(A) the relationship and identify the related person or entities; '\b‘
(B) the business purpose of the transaction; (19

(C) the recorded amount of the transaction and describe the m%arement
basis used; and

(D) any ongoing contractual or other commitment éﬂting from the

transaction. Q/

1.10 Fourth Quarter Q

Discuss and analyze fourth quarter events or ié’lhat affected your company's
financial condition, financial performance or flows, year-end and other
adjustments, seasonal aspects of your co ﬁs business and dispositions of
business segments. If your company has filegaseparate MD&A for its fourth quarter, you
may satisfy this requirement by incorporating\t t MD&A by reference.

1.11 Proposed Transactions ‘1/

cash flows of any propos set or business acquisition or disposition if your
company's board of direct senior management who believe that confirmation of
the decision by the bogr robable, have decided to proceed with the transaction.
Include the status of a quired shareholder or regulatory approvals.

O

You @{not have to disclose this information if, under section 7.1 of
Regulatigfh\5)-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, your company has
filed m 51-102F3 Material Change Report regarding the transaction on a
co '@ial basis and the report remains confidential.

b
Discuss the expected efée%bon financial condition, financial performance and

INSTRUCTION

\ Critical Accounting Estimates

If your company is not a venture issuer, provide an analysis of your company's
critical accounting estimates. Your analysis should
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(@) identify and describe each critical accounting estimate used by your
company including

0] a description of the accounting estimate;

(i) the methodology used in determining the critical accour}ti\lw

estimate; Q

(i)  the assumptions underlying the accounting estimate t (Jﬁte to
matters highly uncertain at the time the estimate was made;

(iv)  any known trends, commitments, events or unc@% ties that could
materially affect the methodology or the assumptions described; $

(v) if applicable, why the accounting esti%( reasonably likely to
change from period to period and have a material impact Qt inancial presentation;

(b)  explain the significance of the accour(é/estimate to your company's
financial position, changes in financial position a@ ncial performance and identify
the financial statement line items affected by the@ unting estimate;

(c) (paragraph revoked); ){b

(d)  discuss changes made to‘lmlcal accounting estimates during the past 2
financial years including the reas prs the change and the quantitative effect on your
company's overall financial perf&%\ce and financial statement line items; and

(e) identify the bIe segments of your company's business that the

accounting estimate afe and discuss the accounting estimate on a reportable
segment basis, if your pany operates in more than one reportable segment.

|NSTRUCT|0N2<Q~

0] @wtlng estimate is a critical accounting estimate only if
it requires your company to make assumptions about matters that are
hig certain at the time the accounting estimate is made; and

% (B) different estimates that your company could have used in the current

}eriod, or changes in the accounting estimate that are reasonably likely to occur from
period to period, would have a material impact on your company's financial condition,
changes in financial condition or financial performance.

103



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 31, 2013 TO SEPTEMBER 29, 2014

(i) As part of your description of each critical accounting estimate, in addition to
gualitative disclosure, you should provide quantitative disclosure when quantitative
information is reasonably available and would provide material information for investors.
Similarly, in your discussion of assumptions underlying an accounting estimate that
relates to matters highly uncertain at the time the estimate was made, you should
provide quantitative disclosure when it is reasonably available and it would pro i@g
material information for investors. For example, quantitative information may inc%@a
sensitivity analysis or disclosure of the upper and lower ends of the range of eﬂl/ tes
from which the recorded estimate was selected. .

1.13 Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption Q:l/

Discuss and analyze any changes in your company' unting policies,
including §

(@) for any accounting policies that you have %d or expect to adopt
subsequent to the end of your most recently com d financial year, including
changes you have made or expect to make vquntariI&those due to a change in an
accounting standard or a new accounting standar ou do not have to adopt until a
future date, you should &

0] describe the new stan&éh the date you are required to adopt it
and, if determined, the date you plan to tit;

(i) disclose the étbods of adoption permitted by the accounting
standard and the method you e&eﬁﬁl)to use;

(i) discus V’Te expected effect on your company's financial
(@Exte that you cannot reasonably estimate the effect; and

statements, or if applicasl
(iv) ss the potential effect on your business, for example technical
violations or def debt covenants or changes in business practices; and

(b) @ any accounting policies that you have initially adopted during the most
recently eted financial year, you should

O (1) describe the events or transactions that gave rise to the initial

ag&ion of an accounting policy;

(i) describe the accounting policy that has been adopted and the
method of applying that policy;
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(i)  discuss the effect resulting from the initial adoption of the
accounting policy on your company's financial position, changes in financial position and
financial performance;

(iv) if your company is permitted a choice among acceptable
accounting policies, '\

(A) state that you made a choice among acceptable alterﬁ@es;

(B) identify the alternatives; (L °

(C)  describe why you made the choice that ya@;‘and

(D) discuss the effect, where materi your company's
financial position, changes in financial position and finang rformance under the

alternatives not chosen; and

(v) if no accounting literature exists that coérfhe accounting for the events
or transactions giving rise to your initial adoption @ accounting policy, explain your
decision regarding which accounting policy tQaQ and the method of applying that

principle.
INSTRUCTION Q'{b
v

You do not have to present Hs\discussion under paragraph 1.13(b) for the initial
adoption of accounting policigs” esulting from the adoption of new accounting
standards. i
1.14 Financial Instru %and Other Instruments

For financial i@ ments and other instruments,

€)) iQu s the nature and extent of your company's use of, including
relationshi ong, the instruments and the business purposes that they serve;

& describe and analyze the risks associated with the instruments;
<< (c) describe how you manage the risks in paragraph (b), including a
eussion of the objectives, general strategies and instruments used to manage the

ks, including any hedging activities;

(d) disclose the financial statement classification and amounts of income,
expenses, gains and losses associated with the instrument; and
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(e) discuss the significant assumptions made in determining the fair value of
financial instruments, the total amount and financial statement classification of the
change in fair value of financial instruments recognized in profit or loss for the period,
and the total amount and financial statement classification of deferred or unrecognized
gains and losses on financial instruments. b‘

N

INSTRUCTIONS Q

(1) “Other instruments” are instruments that may be settled by the deli\%{}non-
financial assets. A commodity futures contract is an example of an instrurn'i/ hat may
be settled by delivery of non-financial assets. Q‘

(i) Your discussion under paragraph 1.14(a) should %:e a reader's
understanding of the significance of recognized and unrecognj struments on your
company's financial position, financial performance and c ws. The information
should also assist a reader in assessing the amounts, &g and certainty of future
cash flows associated with those instruments. Also dj s the relationship between
liability and equity components of convertible debt ins&énts.

(i)  For purposes of paragraph 1.14(c), if ompany is exposed to significant
price, credit or liquidity risks, consider prgyviding a sensitivity analysis or tabular
information to help readers assess the de exposure. For example, an analysis of
the effect of a hypothetical change in th@vailing level of interest or currency rates on
the fair value of financial instruments angr future profit or loss and cash flows may be
useful in describing your company'(sbb)gmsure to price risk.

(iv)  For purposes of parag a'p)xl.14(d), disclose and explain the revenue, expenses,
gains and losses from hed@?&ttivities separately from other activities.

1.15 Other MD&A R@irements
@ Yo &A must disclose that additional information relating to your

company, inclu®g' your company's AlF if your company files an AlF, is on SEDAR at
www.sedar

Your MD&A must also provide the information required in the following
secj of Regulation 51-102, if applicable:

(1) section 5.3 involving additional disclosure for venture issuers
xlthout significant revenue;

(i) section 5.4 involving disclosure of outstanding share data; and
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(i)  section 5.7 involving additional disclosure for reporting issuers with
significant equity investees.

(c) Your MD&A must include the MD&A disclosure required by
Regulation 52-109 respecting Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim
Filings (chapter V-1.1, r. 27) and, as applicable, Form 52-109F1 Certification of Anp{%k
Filings — Full Certificate, Form 52-109F1R Certification of Refiled Annual Filinga r
Form 52-109F1 AIF Certification of Annual Filings in Connection with Vquntanﬂ‘/
AlF.

led

b

Item 2 Interim MD&A Q:l/
Specify the date of your interim MD&A. ,&E

2.1 Date

2.2 Interim MD&A Qg

Interim MD&A must update your compa 'cgmual MD&A for all disclosure
required by Item 1 except section 1.3. This disc% must include

(@) adiscussion of your analysis d{b

0] current quarter ancf}ear-to-date results including a comparison of
financial performance to the correﬂg\ding periods in the previous year;

(i.0) a comp ns&n of cash flows to the corresponding period in the
previous year; %‘

(i) C s in financial performance and elements of profit or loss
attributable to owne he parent that are not related to ongoing business operations;

ii& any seasonal aspects of your company's business that affect its
financial pogfgop, financial performance or cash flows; and

& a comparison of your company's interim financial condition to your
cor22 's financial condition as at the most recently completed financial year-end.

@TRUCHONS

(1) If the first MD&A you file in this Form (your first MD&A) is an interim MD&A, you
must provide all the disclosure called for in Item 1 in your first MD&A. Base the
disclosure, except the disclosure for section 1.3, on your interim financial report. Since
you do not have to update the disclosure required in section 1.3 in you interim MD&A,
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your first MD&A will provide disclosure under section 1.3 based on your annual financial
statements. Your subsequent interim MD&A for that year will update your first interim
MD&A.

(i) For the purposes of paragraph 2.2(b), you may assume the reader has access to
your annual MD&A or your first MD&A. You do not have to duplicate the discussion alw‘
analysis of financial condition in your annual MD&A or your first MD&A. For exangseMif
economic and industry factors are substantially unchanged you may make a st ent
to this effect.

(i)  For the purposes of subparagraph 2.2(a)(i), you shoulng(Jﬁrally give
prominence to the current quarter. Q/

conditions or profit
present a summary,
ated under section 1.6.
ified contractual obligations

(iv)  In discussing your company's statement of financial po
or loss or cash flow items for an interim period, you do not
in tabular form, of all known contractual obligations co
Instead, you should disclose material changes in the
during the interim period. (‘O

(v) Interim MD&A prepared in accordanca@ ltem 2 is not required for your
company's fourth quarter as relevant fourth(zsa er content will be contained in your
company's annual MD&A prepared in accor&Q e with Item 1 (see section 1.10).

(vi)  In your interim MD&A, update th‘lsummary of quarterly results in section 1.5 by
providing summary information for(tg\&most recently completed quarters.

(vii)  Your annual MD&A ot include all the information in Item 1 if you were a
venture issuer as at the e our last financial year. If you ceased to be a venture
issuer during your interi @od, you do not have to restate the MD&A you previously
filed. Instead, provide%ﬁisclosure for the additional sections in Item 1 that you were
exempt from as a v issuer in the next interim MD&A you file. Base your disclosure
for those sectio our interim financial report.

2.3 Oth rim MD&A Requirements

& interim MD&A must include the interim MD&A disclosure required by
52-109 respecting Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim
F i%s and, as applicable, Form 52-109F2 Certification of Interim Filings — Full
\ ificate or Form 52-109F2R Certification of Refiled Interim Filings.

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F1; M.O. 2005-25, s. 2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 38; M.O. 2007-08,
S. 6; M.O. 2008-17, s. 1, M.O. 2008-18, s. 8 and 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 28; M.O. 2011-02,
s. 1.
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FORM 51-102F2 ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Description of AIF

An AIF (annual information form) is required to be filed annually by tNN
companies under Part 6 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Di ure
Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24). An AIF is a disclosure document intendemﬂ ovide
material information about your company and its business at a point i e in the
context of its historical and possible future development. Your AlFAesCribes your
company, its operations and prospects, risks and other external fact at impact your

company specifically. %

This disclosure is supplemented throughout the year bsequent continuous
disclosure filings including news releases, material chang orts, business acquisition
d

reports, financial statements and management discussi% analysis.
(b)  Date of Information OCO

Unless otherwise specified in this F 'She information in your AIF must be
presented as at the last day of your compaNy'¥most recently completed financial year.
If necessary, you must update the infor %)n in the AIF so it is not misleading when it
is filed. For information presented asfir any date other than the last day of your
company's most recently comple}%b\fiﬂancial year, specify the relevant date in the

disclosure. !

(c)  Use of “Company” ?‘

Wherever this @u uses the word “company”, the term includes other types of
business organizati uch as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business

entities.

All r ces to “your company” in Iltems 4, 5, 6, 12, 13, 15 and 16 of this Form
apply co iyely to your company, your company's subsidiaries, joint ventures to which
your ny is a party and entities in which your company has an investment

d for by the equity method.

accQ
@ Focus on Material Information
Focus your AIF on material information. You do not need to disclose information

that is not material. Exercise your judgment when determining whether information is
material. However, you must disclose all corporate and individual cease trade orders,
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bankruptcies, penalties and sanctions in accordance with Item 10 and section 12.2 of
this Form.

(e) Determination of What is Material
Would a reasonable investor's decision whether or not to buy, sell or ow‘
securities in your company likely be influenced or changed if the information in q n

was omitted or misstated? If so, the information is likely material. (l/

()] Incorporating Information by Reference (f})

by reference
the referenced
Y"Unless you have
uments incorporated
profile, you must file it
ument is on SEDAR at

You may incorporate information required to be included in yo
to another document, other than a previous AIF. Clearly i .
document or any excerpt of it that you incorporate into yo
already filed the referenced document or excerpt, including
by reference into the document or excerpt, under your S
with your AIF. You must also disclose that the
www.sedar.com. (‘O

(9) Defined Terms &O

If a term is used but not defined in th ‘hrm, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Oblj %)ns and to Regulation 14-101 respecting
Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term{# used in this Form and is defined in both the
securities statute of a local jurisdi 6\and in Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous
Disclosure Obligations, refer to s%on 1.4 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Discl Obligations (Decision 2012-PDG-0236, 2012-12-20)
for further guidance. &“

This Form als s accounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian

GAAP applicable blicly accountable enterprises. For further guidance, see

subsections 1. %and (8) of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
stire Obligations.

Continuous {/
nguage

@rlte the AIF so that readers are able to understand it. Refer to the plain

&age principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102

ecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use technical
\erms, explain them in a clear and concise manner.

(1) Special Purpose Entities
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If your company is a special purpose entity, you may have to modify the
disclosure items in this Form to reflect the special purpose nature of your company's
business.

() Numbering and Headings

guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need not be ted

The numbering, headings and ordering of items included in this F:é%?xe
elsewhere.

“

(k)  Omitting Information q’

You do not need to respond to any item in this Form that ii@gﬁlicable and you

may omit negative answers. Q/
Item 1 Cover Page (§/

PART 2 CONTENT OF AIF

1.1 Date &O
Specify the date of your AIF. The db&nust be no earlier than the date of the

auditor's report on the financial stateme r your company's most recently completed

financial year.

N
You must file your AlF wi\tﬂfbo days of the date of the AIF.

1.2 Revisions \&?‘

If you revise ompany's AlF after you have filed it, identify the revised
version as a “revise

ltem 2 T&e of Contents

eQ(Contents

21 7T
<<®c ude a table of contents.
3
N

Corporate Structure

3.1 Name, Address and Incorporation
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(1) State your company's full corporate name or, if your company is an
unincorporated entity, the full name under which it exists and carries on business, and
the address(es) of your company's head and registered office.

(2) State the statute under which your company is incorporated, continued or
organized or, if your company is an unincorporated entity, the laws of the jurisdictio

foreign jurisdiction under which it is established and exists. Describe the substapee™of
any material amendments to the articles or other constating or establishing do% nts
of your company. .

3.2 Intercorporate Relationships Q:l/

Describe, by way of a diagram or otherwise, the interc %ﬁe relationships
among your company and its subsidiaries. For each subsidiary

(@) the percentage of votes attaching to all voti urities of the subsidiary
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or | ctly, by your company;
(b) the percentage of each class of rgs{yficted securities of the subsidiary

beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, dire{{ r indirectly, by your company; and
(c) where it was incorporated, COI’K‘IQbSd, formed or organized.
INSTRUCTION Vv
N
You may omit a particular sutiﬁh/ if, at the most recent financial year-end of your

company,

0] the total assets q H&ubsidiary do not exceed 10% of the consolidated assets
of your company;

(i) the reven e subsidiary does not exceed 10% of the consolidated revenue

of your com@ ahd
(i) t2§€oj itions in paragraphs (i) and (ii) would be satisfied if you

@) aggregated the subsidiaries that may be omitted under paragraphs (i) and
(Q, $nd

\ (B) changed the reference in those paragraphs from 10% to 20% .

Item 4 General Development of the Business
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4.1 3 Year History

Describe how your company's business has developed over the last 3 completed
financial years. Include only events, such as acquisitions or dispositions, or conditions
that have influenced the general development of the business. If your company
produces or distributes more than one product or provides more than one kin
service, describe the products or services. Also discuss changes in your com@'s
business that you expect will occur during the current financial year. (l/

4.2  Significant Acquisitions (f})ﬂ

Disclose any significant acquisition completed by your comp% uring its most
recently completed financial year for which disclosure is requi nder Part 8 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligati providing a brief
summary of the significant acquisition and stating whether company has filed a
Form 51-102F4 in respect of the acquisition. &

ltem 5 Describe the Business (‘OQ/
5.1 General &O

Describe the business of your co 0@ and its operating segments that are
reportable segments as those terms escribed in the issuer's GAAP. For each
reportable segment include:

N
(@ Summary - For p&d{bs or services,
()  their pri &HI markets;

(i) di@ution methods;

(iii I each of the 2 most recently completed financial years, as dollar
amounts or a rcentages, the revenue for each category of products or services that
accounted @5% or more of total consolidated revenue for the applicable financial
é )

year de&~ m
O

A. sales or transfers to joint ventures in which your company is

a icipant or to entities in which your company has an investment accounted for by
\ quity method,

B. sales to customers, other than those referred to in clause A,

outside the consolidated entity, and

C. sales or transfers to controlling shareholders;
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(iv)  if not fully developed, the stage of development of the products or
services and, if the products are not at the commercial production stage

A. the timing and stage of research and development

N

B. whether your company is conducting its own resedl&nd
using
b

programs,

development, is subcontracting out the research and development or@ a

combination of those methods, and (L

C. the additional steps required to reach coré;ial production
and an estimate of costs and timing.

(b) Production and Services - The actual or pro method of production
and, if your company provides services, the actual or ed method of providing

services. Q/

(©) Specialized Skill and Knowledge - S@cription of any specialized skill
and knowledge requirements and the extent& ich the skill and knowledge are
available to your company.

(d) Competitive Conditions % competitive conditions in your company's
principal markets and geographic arges, including, if reasonably possible, an
assessment of your company's co iMve position.

(e) New Products -‘ﬁ&ou have publicly announced the introduction of a new
product, the status of the pr .

() Compo - The sources, pricing and availability of raw materials,
component parts or ed products.

(9) nQn ible Properties - The importance, duration and effect of identifiable
intangible rties, such as brand names, circulation lists, copyrights, franchises,
licences gRtgnts, software, subscription lists and trademarks, on the segment.

{(@) Cycles - The extent to which the business of the reportable segment is
a

c§c | or seasonal.

0] Economic Dependence - A description of any contract upon which your
company's business is substantially dependent, such as a contract to sell the major part
of your company's products or services or to purchase the major part of your company's
requirements for goods, services or raw materials, or any franchise or licence or other
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agreement to use a patent, formula, trade secret, process or trade name upon which
your company's business depends.

() Changes to Contracts -A description of any aspect of your company's
business that you reasonably expect to be affected in the current financial year by
renegotiation or termination of contracts or sub-contracts, and the likely effect. '\b‘

(k) Environmental Protection - The financial and operational e@ of
environmental protection requirements on the capital expenditures, profit @0 S and
competitive position of your company in the current financial year and (Pl/ xXpected

effect in future years. Q‘

()] Employees - The number of employees as at the é/recent financial
year-end or the average number of employees over the y@ hichever is more
meaningful to understand the business.

(m) Foreign Operations - Describe the de@ence of your company and
any reportable segment upon foreign operations. (‘O

(n) Lending - With respect to your coﬁ@/s lending operations, disclose the
investment policies and lending and investmeg{ reStrictions.

(2) Bankruptcy and Similar Proce s - Disclose the nature and results of any
bankruptcy, receivership or similar prodeedings against the company or any of its
subsidiaries, or any voluntary ba hgotcy, receivership or similar proceedings by the

company or any of its subsidiarigs, ‘Within the 3 most recently completed financial years
or during or proposed for the g&ent financial year.

3) Reorganizations,- N&cClose the nature and results of any material reorganization
of your company or ang%kits subsidiaries within the 3 most recently completed financial
years or completed @ g or proposed for the current financial year.

(4) Social o&%ronmental Policies - If your company has implemented social or
environme olicies that are fundamental to your operations, such as policies
regarding,\xogr company's relationship with the environment or with the communities in
Which&s business, or human rights policies, describe them and the steps your
cor22 as taken to implement them.

\ Risk Factors
Disclose risk factors relating to your company and its business, such as cash
flow and liquidity problems, if any, experience of management, the general risks

inherent in the business carried on by your company, environmental and health risks,
reliance on key personnel, regulatory constraints, economic or political conditions and
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financial history and any other matter that would be most likely to influence an investor's
decision to purchase securities of your company. If there is a risk that securityholders of
your company may become liable to make an additional contribution beyond the price of
the security, disclose that risk.

INSTRUCTIONS \b‘
0] Disclose the risks in order of seriousness from the most serious to tﬁ&ast
serious. .

(i) A risk factor should not be de-emphasized by including exceg?’l(el/caveats or

conditions.
K

5.3 Companies with Asset-backed Securities Outstandi%’/g\&
If your company had asset-backed securities out@di that were distributed
under a prospectus, disclose the following information: Q/

(2) Payment Factors - A description of a gi%nts, covenants, standards or
preconditions that may reasonably be expecte& ffect the timing or amount of any
payments or distributions to be made under thg asset-backed securities.

(2) Underlying Pool of Assets - F %\) most recently completed financial years
of your company or the lesser period ¢@mmencing on the first date on which your
company had asset-backed secuty ibQ sutstanding, financial disclosure that described
the underlying pool of financiali servicing the asset-backed securities relating to

(@ the compositi ?Pthe pool as of the end of each financial year or partial

period;
(b) profit ﬁses from the pool on at least an annual basis or such shorter
period as is rea e given the nature of the underlying pool of assets;

(c) %e payment, prepayment and collection experience of the pool on at least
an ann (t)a is or such shorter period as is reasonable given the nature of the
under@‘pool of assets;

E << (d)  servicing and other administrative fees; and

(e) any significant variances experienced in the matters referred to in
paragraphs (a) through (d).

(2.1) If any of the financial disclosure disclosed in accordance with subsection (2) has
been audited, disclose the existence and results of the audit.
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3) Investment Parameters - The investment parameters applicable to investments
of any cash flow surpluses.

4) Payment History - The amount of payments made during the 3 most recently
completed financial years or the lesser period commencing on the first date on w,
your company had asset-backed securities outstanding, in respect of princip
interest or capital and yield, each stated separately, on asset-backed securitie %our
company outstanding.
b
(5)  Acceleration Event - The occurrence of any event that has I%Lo(,l/or with the
passage of time could lead to, the accelerated payment of principal, i st or capital of
asset-backed securities.

(6) Principal Obligors - The identity of any principal
asset-backed securities of your company, the percentage
servicing the asset-backed securities represented b
obligor and whether the principal obligor has file
Form 10-K or Form 20-F in the United States.

for the outstanding
e pool of financial assets
ligations of each principal
AIF in any jurisdiction or a

<O
INSTRUCTIONS (b

(1) Present the information requeste %}Ier subsection (2) in a manner that enables
a reader to easily determine the statyg of the events, covenants, standards and
preconditions referred to in subsec‘rg?\(i) of this item.

(i) If the information requié’d}under subsection (2)

asset-backed securiti t is compiled on a larger pool of the same assets from which
the securitized asse@ randomly selected so that the performance of the larger pool
is representative Qhe performance of the pool of securitized assets, or

(A) is not c@speciﬁcally on the pool of financial assets servicing the

(B) he case of a new company, where the pool of financial assets servicing
the ass ed securities will be randomly selected from a larger pool of the same
asset hat the performance of the larger pool will be representative of the

pe% nce of the pool of securitized assets to be created, a company may comply
ubsection (2) by providing the information required based on the larger pool and
\ losing that it has done so.

5.4 Companies With Mineral Projects

If your company had a mineral project, disclose the following information for each
project material to your company:
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(1) Project Description and Location
(@) The area (in hectares or other appropriate units) and the location of the

project.

including surface rights, obligations that must be met to retain the project e

(b)  The nature and extent of your company's title to or interest in the ﬁphggast,
th
expiration date of claims, licences and other property tenure rights.

b
(© The terms of any royalties, overrides, back-in rights, p (]ffs or other
agreements and encumbrances to which the project is subject.

(d)  All environmental liabilities to which the project is
(e)  The location of all known mineralized zone 'ﬁm eral resources, mineral
reserves and mine workings, existing tailing ponds te deposits and important

natural features and improvements. (‘O

() To the extent known, the permlt @must be acquired to conduct the
work proposed for the project and if the permigs have been obtained.

(2) Accessibility, Climate, Local R?@'r\ces, Infrastructure and Physiography
(a8 The means of accesat)b(he property.

(b) The proximity h}e property to a population centre and the nature of
transport. &“

(c) To the es@ﬁ relevant to the mining project, the climate and length of the
operating season.

(d) T&s;fficiency of surface rights for mining operations, the availability and
sources of r, water, mining personnel, potential tailings storage areas, potential
waste diggQspl areas, heap leach pads areas and potential processing plant sites.

<<®) The topography, elevation and vegetation.
\ History
€) The prior ownership and development of the property and ownership

changes and the type, amount, quantity and results of the exploration work undertaken
by previous owners, and any previous production on the property, to the extent known.
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(b) If your company acquired a project within the 3 most recently completed
financial years or during the current financial year from, or intends to acquire a project
from, an informed person or promoter of your company or an associate or affiliate of an
informed person or promoter, the name of the vendor, the relationship of the vendor to
your company, and the consideration paid or intended to be paid to the vendor.

expected to receive a greater than 5% interest in the consideration received e

(c) To the extent known, the name of every person that has receiv@\is
b
received by the vendor referred to in paragraph (b).

b

(4) Geological Setting - The regional, local and property geology. Q:l/

(5) Exploration - The nature and extent of all exploration wor, %ucted by, or on
behalf of, your company on the property, including

(@ the results of all surveys and investigati % the procedures and
parameters relating to surveys and investigations; g

(b) an interpretation of the exploration in@%on;

(© whether the surveys and inveggattons have been carried out by your
company or a contractor and if by a contrac'&{, e name of the contractor; and

Q

(d)  a discussion of the reliab‘imy or uncertainty of the data obtained in the

program. (b )
(6) Mineralization - T ineralization encountered on the property, the
surrounding rock types an ant geological controls, detailing length, width, depth

and continuity together yvi description of the type, character and distribution of the
mineralization. &

(7 Drilling - %ype and extent of drilling, including the procedures followed and
an interpretatio@f [l results.
8) S iNg and Analysis - The sampling and assaying including

@) description of sampling methods and the location, number, type, nature,

sga&ng or density of samples collected;

(b) identification of any driling, sampling or recovery factors that could
materially impact the accuracy or reliability of the results;

(© a discussion of the sample quality and whether the samples are
representative and of any factors that may have resulted in sample biases;
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(d) rock types, geological controls, widths of mineralized zones, cut-off grades
and other parameters used to establish the sampling interval; and

(e) guality control measures and data verification procedures.

(9) Security of Samples - The measures taken to ensure the validity and inte@‘of

samples taken. (l/
(10) Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve Estimates - The mine(a%‘éources
and mineral reserves, if any, including Q~

(@) the quantity and grade or quality of each category, éﬂﬂeral resources
and mineral reserves; @

(b) the key assumptions, parameters and m@ds used to estimate the
mineral resources and mineral reserves; and Q/

(© the extent to which the estimate c?ineral resources and mineral
reserves may be materially affected by metallv@, environmental, permitting, legal,
title, taxation, socio-economic, marketing, polgcaland other relevant issues.

(11) Mining Operations - For developﬁ‘ut\t properties and production properties, the
mining method, metallurgical process, prdguction forecast, markets, contracts for sale of
products, environmental condition%"saxes, mine life and expected payback period of

capital. *

(12) Exploration and D &d‘pment - A description of your company's current and
contemplated exploratio &velopment activities.

INSTRUCTIONS

0] Disclo u&r garding mineral exploration development or production activities on
material p must comply with, and is subject to the limitations set out in,
Regulati -101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects
(chap .1, r. 15). Use the appropriate terminology to describe mineral reserves and
esources. Base the disclosure on a technical report, or other information,

mi
%&red by or under the supervision of a qualified person.

You may satisfy the disclosure requirements in section 5.4 by reproducing the
summary from the technical report on the material property, and incorporating the
detailed disclosure in the technical report into the AlIF by reference.
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(i) In giving the information required under section 5.4 include the nature of
ownership interests, such as fee interests, leasehold interests, royalty interests and any
other types and variations of ownership interests.

5.5 Companies with Oil and Gas Activities

If your company is engaged in oil and gas activities as definﬁ\in
Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas /(q/ ies

(chapter V-1.1, r. 23), disclose the following information: (2)
(2) Reserves Data and Other Information Q:l/

€) In the case of information that, for purposes of For 1F1 Statement
of Reserves Data and Other Oil and Gas Information, is to be ed as at the end of
a financial year, disclose that information as at your compan st recently completed
financial year-end. Q&

prepared for a financial year, disclose that informa@ r your company's most recently
completed financial year. &

(b) In the case of information that, for pur%! of Form 51-101F1, is to be

(c) (paragraph revoked). r\

(2) Report of Independent Qualifiepp Reserves Evaluator or Auditor - Include
with the disclosure under subsectiﬁg\(lﬁ a report in the form of Form 51-101F2 Report

on Reserves Data by Indepengder) Qualified Reserves Evaluator or Auditor, on the
reserves data included in the osure required under subsection (1).

3) Report of Man @nt -Include with the disclosure under subsection (1) a
report in the form of %@ 51-101F3 Report of Management and Directors on Oil and

Gas Disclosure und gulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and
Gas Activities th rs to the information disclosed under subsection (1).

4) Mate%Changes — To the extent not reflected in the information disclosed in

response o) Subsection (1), disclose the information contemplated by Part 6 of
Regul 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities in
res of material changes that occurred after your company’s most recently

c eted financial year-end.
iéSTRUCTION

The information presented in response to section 5.5 must be in accordance with
Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities.
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Item 6 Dividends and Distributions

6.1 Dividends and Distributions

(2) Disclose the amount of cash dividends or distributions declared per security for
each class of your company’s securities for each of the 3 most recently compl?\

financial years.

(2) Describe any restriction that could prevent your company from paym%jnﬁends
or distributions.

(3) Disclose your company’s current dividend policy and any |Q/%ed change in

dividend policy. :

Item 7 Description of Capital Structure &
7.1  General Description of Capital Structure Qg

Describe your company's capital struc tate the description or the
designation of each class of authorized |ty, and describe the material
characteristics of each class of authorized se |nclud|ng voting rights, provisions for
exchange, conversion, exercise, redemptl d retraction, dividend rights and rights
upon dissolution or winding-up. q/
INSTRUCTION Q;\«
This section requires only a JJm&{ summary of the provisions that are material from a
securityholder's standpoint. rovisions attaching to different classes of securities do

not need to be set out | . This summary should include the disclosure required in
subsection 10.1(1) of l@laﬁon 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

7.2 Constrai2<Q~O

If th e constraints imposed on the ownership of securities of your company
to ensur your company has a required level of Canadian ownership, describe the
mechﬁw if any, by which the level of Canadian ownership of the securities is or will

Q red and maintained.

Ratings
(1) If you have asked for and received a credit rating, or if you are aware that you
have received any other kind of rating, including a stability rating or a provisional rating,

from one or more credit rating organizations for securities of your company that are
outstanding, or will be outstanding, and the rating or ratings continue in effect, disclose
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(@) each rating received from a credit rating organization;

(b)  for each rating disclosed under paragraph (a), the name of the credit
rating organization that has assigned the rating;

organization rated the securities and the relative rank of each rating wi the

(c) a definition or description of the category in which each cred‘i]taﬁ'ﬁng
organization’s overall classification system;

b

(d) an explanation of what the rating addresses and what attQitlé, if any, of
the securities are not addressed by the rating; Q/

(e) any factors or considerations identified by the cre @19 organization as
giving rise to unusual risks associated with the securities; Q/

() a statement that a credit rating or, stablllty rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities a y be subject to revision or
withdrawal at any time by the credit rating organiz@n nd

(9) any announcement made by, any proposed announcement known to
your company that is to be made by, a cr Qfbatlng organization to the effect that the
organization is reviewing or intends to e or withdraw a rating previously assigned
and required to be disclosed under thls sdetion.

(2) If payments were, or re Igbly will be, made to a credit rating organization that

provided a rating described niubsectlon (1), state that fact and state whether any

payments were made to t dit rating organization in respect of any other service

provided to your compagg e credit rating organization during the last 2 years.
INSTRUCTI

There Q%; factors relating to a security that are not addressed by a credit
rating org jon when they give a rating. For example, in the case of cash settled
derivativ uments, factors in addition to the creditworthiness of the issuer, such as
the c@md subsistence of the underlying interest or the volatility of the price, value or
lev he underlying interest may be reflected in the rating analysis. Rather than
gﬁ addressed in the rating itself, these factors may be described by a credit rating
nization by way of a superscript or other notation to a rating. Any such attributes

ust be discussed in the disclosure under section 7.3.

A provisional rating received before the company’s most recently completed
financial year is not required to be disclosed under section 7.3.
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Item 8 Market for Securities
8.1 Trading Price and Volume
Q) For each class of securities of your company that is traded or quoted on a

Canadian marketplace, identify the marketplace and the price ranges and vol n&
traded or quoted on the Canadian marketplace on which the greatest volume of Iéhg

or quotation generally occurs. (l/

(2) If a class of securities of your company is not traded or quoted oﬂ%‘énadian
marketplace, but is traded or quoted on a foreign marketplace, id he foreign
marketplace and the price ranges and volume traded or quot the foreign
marketplace on which the greatest volume of trading or quotation IIy occurs.

3) Provide the information required under subsections nd (2) on a monthly
basis for each month or, if applicable, partial months of ost recently completed

financial year.
8.2 Prior Sales OCO

For each class of securities of your ¢ 'Xy that is outstanding but not listed or
guoted on a marketplace, state the prlce hich securities of the class have been
issued during the most recently comple %nanmal year by your company, the number
of securities of the class issued at that [pfmze and the date on which the securities were

issued. Q;\«
Item 9 Escrowed Sec ﬂ'l)es and Securities Subject to Contractual
Restriction on Transfer &“

9.1 Escrowed Sec@ies and Securities Subject to Contractual Restriction on
Transfer

(1) State, | Q%antlally the following tabular form, the number of securities of each
class of yo pany held, to your company’s knowledge, in escrow or that are subject
restriction on transfer and the percentage that number represents of the
securities of that class for your company’s most recently completed

@ROWED SECURITIES AND SECURITIES SUBJECT
CONTRACTUAL RESTRICTION ON TRANSFER

Designation of class Number of securities held in | Percentage of class
escrow or that are subject to a
contractual restriction on transfer
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(2) In a note to the table disclose the name of the depository, if any, and the date of
and conditions governing the release of the securities from escrow or the date the
contractual restriction on transfer ends, as applicable.

INSTRUCTIONS

(1) For the purposes of this item, escrow includes securities subject to a p@ng
agreement. (l/

(i) For the purposes of this item, securities subject to contractual r %ﬁons on
transfer as a result of pledges made to lenders are not required to be digQlos€d.

Item 10 Directors and Officers %Q/
10.1 Name, Occupation and Security Holding ,&§

(1) List the name, province or state, and country o idence of each director and
executive officer of your company and indicate thej ective positions and offices
held with your company and their respective @n pal occupations during the 5
preceding years. &

(2)  State the period or periods during m{&a each director has served as a director
and when his or her term of office will e

3) State the number and perc e of securities of each class of voting securities
of your company or any of its sybs(Jiaries beneficially owned, or controlled or directed,
directly or indirectly, by all diriai(s and executive officers of your company as a group.

(4)  Identify the mem;e@ each committee of the board.

(5) If the princi upation of a director or executive officer of your company is
acting as an off a person other than your company, disclose that fact and state
the principal Qudess of the person.

|NSTRL§§9

For @urposes of subsection (3), securities of subsidiaries of your company that are

r&icially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by directors or

utive officers through ownership, or control or direction, directly or indirectly, over
&curities of your company, do not need to be included.

10.2 Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions
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If a director or executive officer of your company is, as at the date of the AlF, or
was within 10 years before the date of the AlF, a director, chief executive officer or chief
financial officer of any company (including your company), that:

(@) was subject to an order that was issued while the director or executive
officer was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief finar@k

officer,
>

or qﬂ

(b)  was subject to an order that was issued after the direqlr:l( executive
officer ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financi icer and which
resulted from an event that occurred while that person was act] the capacity as
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer, state t and describe the
basis on which the order was made and whether the order is effect.

(1.1) For the purposes of subsection (1), “order” mearéy of the following, if in effect
for a period of more than 30 consecutive days: (‘O

(&) acease trade order; &O
(b)  an order similar to a cease tradébder; or

(c) an order that denied the re‘l}aant company access to any exemption under
securities legislation. (b )
(1.2) If a director or execuy fficer of your company, or a shareholder holding a
sufficient number of security your company to affect materially the control of your
company @

(@) is, as &date of the AIF, or has been within the 10 years before the
date of the AlF, ctor or executive officer of any company (including your company)
that, while th efson was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person
ceasing to that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation
relating kruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings,
arran t or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or
tru ppointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or

% (b) has, within the 10 years before the date of the AIF, become bankrupt,

Xade a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or
had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director,
executive officer or shareholder, state the fact.
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(2) Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which they were
imposed, or the terms of the settlement agreement and the circumstances that gave rise
to the settlement agreement, if a director or executive officer of your company, or a
shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of your company to affect
materially the control of your company, has been subject to

(@) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to secethes
legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a s ent

agreement with a securities regulatory authority; or

b
(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or, atory body
that would likely be considered important to a reasonable inve% in making an
investment decision. %
3) Despite subsection (2), no disclosure is required ettlement agreement

entered into before December 31, 2000 unless the disclogyr&would likely be important
to a reasonable investor in making an investment decis'@?

INSTRUCTIONS O%

0] The disclosure required by subsectiq&é})), (1.2) and (2) also applies to any
personal holding companies of any of the pQr ns referred to in subsections (1), (1.2)

and (2). q/

(i) A management cease trade okie-r which applies to directors or executive officers
of a company is an “order” fo flb purposes of paragraph 10.2(1)(a) and must be
disclosed, whether or not th 'ngector, chief executive officer or chief financial officer
was named in the order. %‘

@ii) A late filing fee%ch as a filing fee that applies to the late filing of an insider
report, is not a “pen r sanction” for the purposes of section 10.2.

officer was rector, chief executive officer or chief financial officer when the order was

(iv) The di CQS e in paragraph 10.2(1)(a) only applies if the director or executive
issued §&e company. You do not have to provide disclosure if the director or

execuj ficer became a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer after
theQ was issued.

@8 Conflicts of Interest

Disclose particulars of existing or potential material conflicts of interest between
your company or a subsidiary of your company and any director or officer of your
company or of a subsidiary of your company.
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ltem 11 Promoters
11.1 Promoters

For a person that has been, within the 2 most recently completed financial years
or during the current financial year, a promoter of your company or of a subsidiar&bﬁ

your company, state (19

(@) the person name; Q) .

(b) the number and percentage of each class of voting secQél’and equity
securities of your company or any of its subsidiaries beneficially ownég,Yor controlled or
directed, directly or indirectly;

(c) the nature and amount of anything of value, J ing money, property,
contracts, options or rights of any kind received or to eived by the promoter
directly or indirectly from your company or from a subgjay of your company, and the
nature and amount of any assets, services or oth sideration received or to be
received by your company or a subsidiary of your (@1 ny in return; and

(d)  for an asset acquired within thesg mdst recently completed financial years
or during the current financial year, or an asBQ 0 be acquired, by your company or by a
subsidiary of your company from a pron}ci/

(1) the considera%grspaid or to be paid for the asset and the method by
which the consideration has beio ill be determined;

(i) the per ?making the determination referred to in subparagraph (i)
and the person relations &h your company, the promoter, or an associate or affiliate
of your company or of romoter; and

(iii e date that the asset was acquired by the promoter and the cost
of the asset tq thV promoter.
Item 12 C)Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions

12.§®gal Proceedings

ﬁ Describe any legal proceedings your company is or was a party to, or that any of
\IPS property is or was the subject of, during your company’s financial year.

(2) Describe any such legal proceedings your company knows to be contemplated.
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(3) For each proceeding described in subsections (1) and (2), include the name of
the court or agency, the date instituted, the principal parties to the proceeding, the
nature of the claim, the amount claimed, if any, whether the proceeding is being
contested, and the present status of the proceeding.

INSTRUCTION
N

You do not need to give information with respect to any proceeding that invoIveJB?Aim
for damages if the amount involved, exclusive of interest and costs, does tﬂ ceed
10% of the current assets of your company. However, if any proceedin %sents in
large degree the same legal and factual issues as other proceedings dirffg or known
to be contemplated, you must include the amount involved in the o% roceedings in

computing the percentage. %

12.2 Regulatory Actions &

Describe any Qg

(@) penalties or sanctions imposed agai ur company by a court relating
to securities legislation or by a securities regulap( thority during your financial year,

(b)  any other penalties or sancti ‘bmposed by a court or regulatory body
against your company that would lik e considered important to a reasonable
investor in making an investment decisioriand

M)
(c) settlement agree rgbyour company entered into before a court relating
to securities legislation or w'm securities regulatory authority during your financial

year. §
INSTRUCTION @

You do not nee Qgtve information with respect to any proceeding that involves a claim
for damages, iINthre amount involved, exclusive of interest and costs, does not
exceed 10%4A&f, the current assets of your company. However, if any proceeding
presents rge degree the same legal and factual issues as other proceedings
pendi@?known to be contemplated, you must include the amount involved in the
othQ ceedings in computing the percentage.

@m 13 Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions
13.1 Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions

Describe, and state the approximate amount of, any material interest, direct or
indirect, of any of the following persons in any transaction within the 3 most recently
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completed financial years or during the current financial year that has materially affected
or is reasonably expected to materially affect your company:

(@) adirector or executive officer of your company;

(b)  a person that beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indire&tb‘
more than 10% of any class or series of your outstanding voting securities; and Q

(© an associate or affiliate of any of the persons referred to in paregr;ks (@)
or (b).

INSTRUCTIONS Q/Q

0] The materiality of the interest is to be determined on the v of the significance
of the information to investors in light of all the circumstance particular case. The
importance of the interest to the person having the in , the relationship of the
parties to the transaction with each other and the nt involved are among the
factors to be considered in determining the si nce of the information to
securityholders. O

(i) This Item does not apply to any interqgléfsing from the ownership of securities
of your company if the securityholder recei 0 extra or special benefit or advantage
not shared on an equal basis by all ot Iders of the same class of securities or all
other holders of the same class of se&mt who are resident in Canada.

M)
(i)  Give a brief description f tQ® material transactions. Include the name of each
person whose interest in any t!';o,saction is described and the nature of the relationship

to your company. ?‘

(iv) For any transa&t@N involving the purchase of assets by or sale of assets to your
company or a subsid @ of your company, state the cost of the assets to the purchaser,
and the cost of t Sets to the seller if acquired by the seller within 3 years before the
transaction.
(v) Y d&ot need to give information under this Item for a transaction if

@) the rates or charges involved in the transaction are fixed by law or
d§tgﬁnined by competitive bids,
\ (B) the interest of a specified person in the transaction is solely that of a

director of another company that is a party to the transaction,

(C) the transaction involves services as a bank or other depository of funds, a
transfer agent, registrar, trustee under a trust indenture or other similar services, or
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(D) the transaction does not involve remuneration for services and the interest
of the specified person arose from the beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, of less
than 10% of any class of equity securities of another company that is party to the
transaction and the transaction is in the ordinary course of business of your company or
your company's subsidiaries.

N
(vi)  Describe all transactions not excluded above that involve remuneration (iﬂ@ing
an issuance of securities), directly or indirectly, to any of the specified gons for
services in any capacity unless the interest of the person arises so rom the
beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, of less than 10% of any class o leksecurltles
of another company furnishing the services to your company @‘r company's
subsidiaries.

Item 14 Transfer Agents and Registrars ,&§
14.1 Transfer Agents and Registrars Q/

State the name of your company's tran r@%nt(s) and registrar(s) and the
location (by municipalities) of the register(s) of t;& rs of each class of securities.

[tem 15 Material Contracts ?{b
15.1 Material Contracts ‘1/

M)
Give particulars of any rﬂ&@l contract

@) required to b under section 12.2 of the Regulation at the time this
AlF is filed, as required §n Section 12.3 of the Regulation, or

(b) would quired to be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation at the
time this AIF is as required under section 12.3 of the Regulation, but for the fact
that it was previngsly filed.

|NSTRL§§9 S

(|) @)u must give particulars of any material contract that was entered into within the

ancial year or before the last financial year but is still in effect, and that is required

e filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation or would be required to be filed under

&ctlon 12.2 of the Regulation but for the fact that it was previously filed. You do not

need to give particulars of a material contract that was entered into

before January 1, 2002 because these material contracts are not required to be filed
under section 12.2 of the Regulation.
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(i) Set out a complete list of all contracts for which particulars must be given under
this item, indicating those that are disclosed elsewhere in the AlF. Particulars need only
be provided for those contracts that do not have the particulars given elsewhere in the
AlF.

(i)  Particulars of contracts must include the dates of, parties to, conader@
provided for in, and general nature and key terms of, the contracts.

ltem 16 Interests of Experts (2)
b

16.1 Names of Experts Q:l/
Name each person %Q/
@1 report, valuation,
red to in a filing, made

sure Obligations by your
tly completed financial year,

(@ who is named as having prepared or ce
statement or opinion described or included in a filing, o
under Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Y
company during, or relating to, your company's mos

and O
(b)  whose profession or busmesspégs authority to the report, valuation,
statement or opinion made by the person

16.2 Interests of Experts (1/

M)
(2) Disclose all registered or b(ebaficial interests, direct or indirect, in any securities
or other property of your com a'n\( or of one of your associates or affiliates

(@) held by a @ert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not an
individual, by the desigga®ed professionals of that expert, when that expert prepared the
report, valuation, sta @ nt or opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a);

individual, e designated professionals of that expert, after the time specified in

(b) % d by an expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not an
paragra &g@ (1)(a); or

to be received by an expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not
a &ilwdual by the designated professionals of that expert.

}1.1) For the purposes of subsection (1), a “designated professional” means, in
relation to an expert named in section 16.1,
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(@) each partner, employee or consultant of the expert who participated in and
who was in a position to directly influence the preparation of the report, valuation,
statement or opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a); and

(b) each partner, employee or consultant of the expert who was, at any time
during the preparation of the report, valuation, statement or opinion referred t ﬁg
paragraph 16.1(a), in a position to directly influence the outcome of the prepara@of
the report, valuation, statement or opinion, including, without limitation

0] any person who recommends the compensation(I?;) or who
provides direct supervisory, management or other oversight of, the partg®r ployee or
consultant in the performance of the preparation of the report, valu@statement or
opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a), including those at all suc ely senior levels
through to the expert's chief executive officer;

(i) any person who provides consult
industry-specific issues, transactions or events for
valuation, statement or opinion referred to in paragra

regarding technical or
preparation of the report,

(i) any person who provides W\ control for the preparation of the
report, valuation, statement or opinion referre to " paragraph 16.1(a).

(2) For the purposes of subsectio @ If the person's interest in the securities
represents less than 1% of your outsmlng securities of the same class, a general
statement to that effect is sufficien&.{;\ N

(2.1) Despite subsection (1 auditor who is independent in accordance with the
auditor's rules of professio %‘rduct in a jurisdiction of Canada or who has performed
an audit in accordance i .S. PCAOB GAAS or U.S. AICPA GAAS is not required to
provide the disclosurg\® subsection (1) if there is disclosure that the auditor is
independent in acdoryance with the auditor's rules of professional conduct in a
jurisdiction of C or that the auditor has complied with the SEC's rules on auditor
independenc Q

3) If Qe) on or a director, officer or employee of a person referred to in subsection
(1) i& expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, officer or

em% of your company or of any associate or affiliate of your company, disclose the
fact'Qr expectation.
i§STRUCTIONS

0] (paragraph revoked);

(i) Section 16.2 does not apply to
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(A) auditors of a business acquired by your company provided they have not
been or will not be appointed as your company's auditor subsequent to the acquisition,
and

(B) your company's predecessor auditors, if any, for periods when they VR§‘

not your company's auditor. Q
(i)  Section 16.2 does not apply to registered or beneficial interests, direct%rgﬁirect,
held through mutual funds. (L

Item 17 Additional Information 2

17.1 Additional Information &

(1) Disclose that additional information relating to yo '%any may be found on
SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Q?

(2) If your company is required to distribumq%orm 51-102F5 to any of its
securityholders, include a statement that addltlog formation, including directors' and
officers’' remuneration and indebtedness, pri holders of your company's securities
and securities authorized for issuance unde r}Géguty compensation plans, if applicable, is
contained in your company's informatiq ular for its most recent annual meeting of
securityholders that involved the election pf directors.

M)
3) Include a statement th %ﬂitional financial information is provided in your
company's financial stateme nd MD&A for its most recently completed financial

year. §
INSTRUCTION @

Your company o be required to provide additional information in its AIF as set
out in Form Audlt Committee Information Required in an AlF.
d

[tem 18
Clrcu

ditional Disclosure for Companies Not Sending Information

1 {( Additional Disclosure
\ For companies that are not required to send a Form 51-102F5 to any of their

securityholders, disclose the information required under Items 6 to 10, 12 and 13 of
Form 51-102F5, as modified below, if applicable:
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Form 51-102-F5 Reference

Modification

Holders of Voting Securities

ltem 6 -Voting Securities and Principal

Include the disclosure specified in section 6.1 without
regard to the phrase “entitled to be voted at the
meeting”. Do not include the disclosure specified in
sections 6.2, 6.3 and 6.4. Include the disclosure
specified in section 6.5.

Item 7 - Election of Directors

disclosure specified in section 7.1 without rega he
word “proposed” throughout. Do not inclu the
disclosure specified in section 7.3. (b 2N

| N
Disregard the preamble of section 7.1. Inc@\é

Item 8 - Executive Compensation

y
Disregard the preamble and paragra@ , (b) and (c)
of ltem 8. A company that not send a

management information circ s securityholders
must  provide the dis e required by

Form 51-102F6. Q/
4

under Equity Compensation Plans

Item 9 - Securities Authorized for Issuance

Disregard subsectioQ ).

CA

Executive Officers

ltem 10 - Indebtedness of Directors and

Include the dis€gBure specified throughout; however,
replace t ase “date of the informtion circular” with
“date the  AIF”  throughout. Disregard

para h 10.3(a).
R

Item 12 - Appointment of Auditor

an

e th auditor. If the auditor was first appointed
phin the last 5 years, state the date when the auditor

\was first appointed.

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102
s. 7; M.O. 2008-06, s.

*‘v

.0. 2005-25, s. 3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 39; M.O. 2007-08,

nd 11;

M.O. 2008-18, s. 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 29;

M.O. 2011-02, s. 2; M%{ 2-05, s. 3; M.O. 2013-09, s. 2.
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FORM 51-102F3 MATERIAL CHANGE REPORT
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Confidentiality

If this Report is filed on a confidential basis, state in block C@NS

“CONFIDENTIAL” at the beginning of the Report. (l/
(b)  Use of “Company” (f}) °
Wherever this Form uses the word “company” the term incl other types of

business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other unj orated business
entities. g§

(c) Numbering and Headings Q&

The numbering, headings and ordering of th%s included in this Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in respons y item need not be repeated

elsewhere &
$o)

(d) Defined Terms r\

If a term is used but not defined i‘nlﬁnis Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclos e'\@bligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24) and to
Regulation 14-101 respecting Dgfiridons (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this
Form and is defined in b e securities statute of a local jurisdiction and in
Regulation 51-102 respec@ntinuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of

Regulation 51-102 respgc ontinuous Disclosure Obligations.
(e) Plain Langue@

Write t g(g;ort so that readers are able to understand it. Consider both the
level of de rovided and the language used in the document. Refer to the plain
languag ripCiples listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respe&ontinuous Disclosure Obligations (Decision 2012-PDG-0236, 2012-12-20).
If y technical terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner.

\%RT 2 CONTENT OF MATERIAL CHANGE REPORT
Item 1 Name and Address of Company

State the full name of your company and the address of its principal office in
Canada.
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Item 2Date of Material Change
State the date of the material change.
Item 3News Release '\b‘

State the date and method(s) of dissemination of the news release issu@&der
section 7.1 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obllg&lth@

Item 4 Summary of Material Change

Provide a brief but accurate summary of the nature and s é{e of the material
change.
Item 5 Full Description of Material Change

5.1  Full Description of Material Change (§/

Supplement the summary required unK m 4 with sufficient disclosure to
enable a reader to appreciate the significggce Yand impact of the material change
without having to refer to other materia nagement is in the best position to
determine what facts are significant ust disclose those facts in a meaningful
manner. See also ltem 7.

Some examples of signi (bacts relating to the material change include: dates,
parties, terms and condition *&scrlptlon of any assets, liabilities or capital affected,
purpose, financial or dollar s, reasons for the change, and a general comment on
the probable impact on th uer or its subsidiaries. Specific financial forecasts would
not normally be requir

Other ad q disclosure may be appropriate depending on the particular
situation.

52 Dj 695ure for Restructuring Transactions
@ns item applies to a material change report filed in respect of the closing of a
gﬁcturlng transaction under which securities are to be changed, exchanged, issued
%lstrlbuted. This item does not apply if, in respect of the transaction, your company
nt an information circular to its securityholders or filed a prospectus or a securities

exchange takeover bid circular.

Include the disclosure for each entity that resulted from the restructuring
transaction, if your company has an interest in that entity, required by section 14.2 of
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Form 51-102F5. You may satisfy the requirement to include this disclosure by
incorporating the information by reference to another document.

INSTRUCTIONS

0] If your company is engaged in oil and gas activities, the disclosure under It &
must also satisfy the requirements of Part 6 of Regulation 51-101 respecting Stau@ds
of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (chapter V-1.1, r. 23).

(i) If you incorporate information by reference to another document, d@%/ﬂidentify
the referenced document or any excerpt from it. Unless you have ady filed the
referenced document or excerpt, you must file it with the material e report. You
must also disclose that the document is on SEDAR at www.sedar

Item 6 Reliance on subsection 7.1(2) of Regulation 2

If this Report is being filed on a confidential basi%?beliance on subsection 7.1(2)
of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclos% ligations, state the reasons
for such reliance.

<O
INSTRUCTION (b

Refer to subsections 7.1(5), (6) and (@egulaﬁon 51-102 respecting Continuous
Disclosure Obligations concerning contfuing obligations in respect of reports filed
under subsection 7.1(2) of Regga(ian 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure

Obligations. *

ltem 7 Omitted Infor n

State whether a@nformation has been omitted on the basis that it is confidential
information.

Inas p&at:; letter to the securities regulatory authority marked “Confidential”
provide the ons for your company's omission of confidential significant facts in the

Report | Gglcient detail to permit the applicable securities regulatory authority to
deter@wmether to exercise its discretion to allow the omission of these significant

facz(
@TRUCHONS

In certain circumstances where a material change has occurred and a Report has been
or is about to be filed but subsection 7.1(2) or (5) of Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations is not or will no longer be relied upon, your company
may nevertheless believe one or more significant facts otherwise required to be
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disclosed in the Report should remain confidential and not be disclosed or not be
disclosed in full detail in the Report.

[tem 8 Executive Officer

company who is knowledgeable about the material change and the Report, or the

Give the name and business telephone number of an executive officer of ov
@?ﬁe
of an officer through whom such executive officer may be contacted.

Item 9 Date of Report (f})ﬁ
Date the Report. @2

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 40; M.O. 200 . 8; M.O. 2008-18,

13 (<</2&
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FORM 51-102F4 BUSINESS ACQUISITION REPORT

PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

(@) Description of Business Acquisition Report

significant acquisition. See Part 8 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Co us

Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24). The Business Acquisi'@ eport
describes the significant businesses acquired by your company and the('i/ t of the

acquisition on your company. Q‘

Your company must file a Business Acquisition Report after complﬂﬁa

(b)  Use of “Company” %
Wherever this Form uses the word “company”, the t fcludes other types of
business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and unincorporated business

entities. Q/
‘b

(c) Focus on Relevant Information

When providing the disclosure requw thls Form, focus your discussion on
information that is relevant to an investor, a tor other reader.

(d) Incorporating Material By Refer ce

You may incorporate inf rﬁbon required by this Form, by reference to another
document. Clearly identify t ferenced document, or any excerpt of it, that you
incorporate into this Report &Ress you have already filed the referenced document or
excerpt, including any d ents incorporated by reference into the document or
excerpt, you must file @h this Report. You must also disclose that the document is on
SEDAR at www. sed r

(e) Define

Cg/ls used but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respe ontinuous Disclosure Obligations and to Regulation 14-101 respecting
Def (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this Form and is defined in both the
ities statute of a local jurisdiction and in Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous
losure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
\ESpectlng Continuous Disclosure Obligations (Decision 2012-PDG-0236, 2012-12-20)

for further guidance.

This Form also uses accounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises. For further guidance, see
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subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

() Plain Language

Write this Report so that readers are able to understand it. Consider both,t
level of detail provided and the language used in the document. Refer to th in
language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 02
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you UE.)tg‘ nical
terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner. (L

(@ Numbering and Headings &

The numbering, headings and ordering of items inc in this Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any i ed not be repeated
elsewhere in the Report. Q

PART 2 CONTENT OF BUSINESS ACQUISITI&PORT
Item 1 Identity of Company &O
1.1 Name and Address of Company r{b

State the full name of your comgzny and the address of its principal office in
Canada. N

o

1.2  Executive Officer *

company who is kno able about the significant acquisition and the Report, or the
name of an officer t whom such executive officer may be contacted.

Give the name @siness telephone number of an executive officer of your
St
Item 2 %i of Acquisition
21 N Crp of Business Acquired
Q@scribe the nature of the business acquired.
@ Acquisition Date

State the acquisition date used for accounting purposes.

2.3 Consideration
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Disclose the type and amount of consideration, both monetary and non-
monetary, paid or payable by your company in connection with the significant
acquisition, including contingent consideration. Identify the source of funds used by your
company for the acquisition, including a description of any financing associated with the

acquisition.
N

2.4  Effect on Financial Position Q

Describe any plans or proposals for material changes in your busme ?frs or
the affairs of the acquired business which may have a significant effect o flnanC|aI
performance and financial position of your company. Examples mclud n roposal to
liquidate the business, to sell, lease or exchange all or a substantial ts assets, to
amalgamate the business with any other business organization o ke any material
changes to your business or the business acquired such nges in corporate
structure, management or personnel. &&/

2.5 Prior Valuations Qg

months by the acquired business or your comp uired by securities legislation or a
Canadian exchange or market to support thg comsideration paid by your company or
any of its subsidiaries for the business, |ncI I% the name of the author, the date of the
opinion, the business to which the opi elates, the value attributed to the business
and the valuation methodologies used.

M)

Describe in sufficient detail any valuatargg?on obtained within the last 12

2.6 Parties to Transaction\kn.)

State whether the t |on is with an informed person, associate or affiliate of
your company and, if s identity and the relationship of the other parties to your
company. &

2.7 Date of
Dat&)@?eport.
Item b Financial Statements and Other Information
Include the financial statements or other information required by Part 8 of

ulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations. If applicable, disclose
\uat the auditors have not given their consent to include their audit report in this Report.

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F4; M.O. 2006-04, s. 41; M.O. 2008-18, s. 13; M.O. 2010-17,
s. 30.
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FORM 51-102F5 INFORMATION CIRCULAR
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

(@  Timing of Information

date not more than 30 days prior to the date you first send the information ci (o]

The information required by this Form 51-102F5 must be given as of a s‘[z)ﬁm
t
any securityholder of the company.

b

(b)  Use of “Company” Q:l/
Wherever this Form uses the word “company”, the term i é’s other types of
business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other m&c rporated business

entities. &

(c) Incorporating Information by Reference Qg

You may incorporate information require c?e included in your information
circular by reference to another document. CleglWdentify the referenced document or
any excerpt of it that you incorporate into ygur mformation circular. Unless you have
already filed the referenced document or exbergt, including any documents incorporated
by reference into the document or exce Qou must file it with your information circular.
You must also disclose that the docum is on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and that,
upon request, you will promptly pr \Ne\a copy of any such document free of charge to
a securityholder of the cor@: However, you may not incorporate information

required to be included in For, -102F6 by reference into your information circular.

(d) Defined Terms @

Ifatermisu gut not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102

respecting Co s Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24) and to
Regulation 14- especting Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this
Form and j ined in both the securities statute of the local jurisdiction and in

Regulatigrh\5)-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of
ment to Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations
2012-PDG-0236, 2012-12-20) for further guidance.

% This Form also uses accounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian
xAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises. For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations.
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(e) Plain Language

Write this document so that readers are able to understand it. Refer to the plain
language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use technical
terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner.

(f)  Numbering and Headings (19
The numbering, headings and ordering of items included in tlﬂ'ﬁarm are

guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need gt ¥ repeated
elsewhere.

(g) Tables and Figures &
%

Where it is practicable and appropriate, present inf n in tabular form. State
all amounts in figures. Q/
(h)  Omitting Information OCO

You do not need to respond to any i%n this Form that is inapplicable. You
may also omit information that is not km\ to the person on whose behalf the
solicitation is made and that is not reas @y within the power of the person to obtain, if
you briefly state the circumstances that rggder the information unavailable.

?\o,
You may omit informatign t was contained in another information circular,
notice of meeting or form Xy sent to the same persons whose proxies were

solicited in connection wit same meeting, as long as you clearly identify the

particular document conta the information.
PART 2 CONT@

Item 1 %%Q‘

S ify the date of the information circular.

Ite%o Revocability of Proxy

% State whether the person giving the proxy has the power to revoke it. If any right
Xf revocation is limited or is subject to compliance with any formal procedure, briefly
describe the limitation or procedure.

Item 3 Persons Making the Solicitation
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3.1 If a solicitation is made by or on behalf of management of the company, state
this. Name any director of the company who has informed management in writing that
he or she intends to oppose any action intended to be taken by management at the
meeting and indicate the action that he or she intends to oppose.

3.2 If a solicitation is made other than by or on behalf of management of tlﬁ;
company, state this and give the name of the person by whom, or on whose behatf\INs

made. (l/

3.3 If the solicitation is to be made other than by mail, describe the cbo“d to be
employed. If the solicitation is to be made by specially engaged emploQgs r soliciting
agents, state,

(@) the parties to and material features of any contra; rrangement for the
solicitation; and &
(b) the cost or anticipated cost thereof. Qg

3.4  State who has borne or will bear, directly orz %:tly, the cost of soliciting.
ltem 4 Proxy Instructions 0.';&

4.1  The information circular or the @of proxy to which the information circular
relates must indicate in bold-face type th the securityholder has the right to appoint a
person to represent the security Iberxat the meeting other than the person, if any,
designated in the form of proxy gnddnust contain instructions as to the manner in which
the securityholder may exerci§~ e right.

4.2  The information i&r or the form of proxy to which the information circular
relates must state tha%securities represented by the proxy will be voted or withheld
from voting in accorayte with the instructions of the securityholder on any ballot that
may be called fgK&ad that, if the securityholder specifies a choice with respect to any
matter to be cgq pon, the securities will be voted accordingly.

4.3  The\njormation circular must include the following, if applicable:

@) a statement that the reporting issuer is sending proxy-related materials to

r &ered holders or beneficial owners using notice-and-access, and if stratification will

sed, a description of the types of registered holders or beneficial owners who will

\ECeive paper copies of the information circular and, if applicable, the documents in
paragraph 9.1.1(2)(b);

(b) a statement that the reporting issuer is sending proxy-related materials
directly to non-objecting beneficial owners under Regulation 54-101 respecting
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Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer
(chapter V-1.1, r. 29);

(c) a statement that management of the reporting issuer does not intend to
pay for intermediaries to forward to objecting beneficial owners under
Regulation 54-101 respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities &?g

{

Reporting Issuer the proxy-related materials and Form 54-101F7 — Request for g
Instructions Made by Intermediary, and that in the case of an objecting benefici er
the objecting beneficial owner will not receive the materials unless thebob ecting
S . . . a

beneficial owner’s intermediary assumes the cost of delivery. (L
Item 5 Interest of Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted g

Briefly describe any material interest, direct or indire way of beneficial
ownership of securities or otherwise, of each of the followi ons in any matter to

be acted upon other than the election of directors or the aQo trent of auditors:

@) if the solicitation is made by or on behaﬁﬁanagement of the company,
each person who has been a director or executi\@j1 Cer of the company at any time
r

since the beginning of the company's last finam&

(b) if the solicitation is made othe %n by or on behalf of management of the
company, each person by whom, o % whose behalf, directly or indirectly, the
solicitation is made; (1/

N
(c) each proposed ntﬂi% for election as a director of the company; and

to (c).

INSTRUCTIONS §

0] The fol ang persons and companies are deemed to be persons by whom or on
whose bek&) solicitation is made (collectively, “solicitors” or individually a “solicitor”):

(d) each associ@afﬁliate of any of the persons listed in paragraphs (a)

ﬁ* any member of a committee or group that solicits proxies, and any person
wh or not named as a member who, acting alone or with one or more other

raQns, directly or indirectly takes the initiative or engages in organizing, directing or
éncing any such committee or group;

(B) any person who contributes, or joins with another to contribute, more
than $250 to finance the solicitation of proxies; or
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(C) any person who lends money, provides credit, or enters into any other
arrangements, under any contract or understanding with a solicitor, for the purpose of
financing or otherwise inducing the purchase, sale, holding or voting of securities of the
company but not including a bank or other lending institution or a dealer that, in the
ordinary course of business, lends money or executes orders for the purchase or sale of
securities.

(i) Subject to paragraph (i), the following persons and companies are deemd@t to

be solicitors: .

person who merely transmits proxy-soliciting material or performs rial or clerical
duties;

(A) any person retained or employed by a solicitor to s:@gﬁes or any

(B) any person employed or retained by a solicitg e capacity of lawyer,
accountant, or advertising, public relations, investor relgg r financial advisor and
whose activities are limited to the performance of thgiyduties in the course of the
employment or retainer; (‘O

(C) any person regularly employed as@gﬁicer or employee of the company
or any of its affiliates; or 0.')

(D) any officer or director oh/% any person regularly employed by, any
solicitor.

M)
Item 6 Voting Securities;ﬁﬁbPrincipal Holders of Voting Securities
6.1 For each class of @’securities of the company entitled to be voted at the

meeting, state the numRe securities outstanding and the particulars of voting rights
for each class.

For eac %ss of restricted securities, provide the information required in
subsectlon 10 Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

meet | be determined or particulars as to the closing of the security transfer
as the case may be, and, if the right to vote is not limited to securityholders of
: as of the specified record date, indicate the conditions under which

6.3 ?Cye record date as of which the securityholders entitled to vote at the

rityholders are entitled to vote.

6.4 If action is to be taken with respect to the election of directors and if the
securityholders or any class of securityholders have the right to elect a specified
number of directors or have cumulative or similar voting rights, include a statement of
such rights and state briefly the conditions precedent, if any, to the exercise thereof.
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6.5 If, to the knowledge of the company’s directors or executive officers, any person
beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, voting securities carrying
10% or more of the voting rights attached to any class of voting securities of the
company, name each person and state

(@) the approximate number of securities beneficially owned, or contro@\)r
directed, directly or indirectly, by each such person; and (l/

(b) the percentage of the class of outstanding voting secw@ﬂ of the
company represented by the number of voting securities so own%c ntrolled or

directed, directly or indirectly. Q/

ltem 7 Election of Directors @

7.1 If directors are to be elected, provide the following ation, in tabular form to
the extent practicable, for each person proposed to ominated for election as a
director (a “proposed director”) and each other persorﬁfse term of office as a director
will continue after the meeting: O

(@) State the name, province or @%/te&, and country of residence, of each
director and proposed director. r\

(b)  State the period or perioélduring which each director has served as a
director and when the term of offic?g}(aach director and proposed director will expire.

(© Identify the menab% of each committee of the board.

(d) State the pr t principal occupation, business or employment of each
director and proposed €gctor. Give the name and principal business of any company in
which any such em ent is carried on. Furnish similar information as to all of the
principal occup @s usinesses or employments of each proposed director within the
5 preceding y: nless the proposed director is now a director and was elected to the
present ter fice by a vote of securityholders at a meeting, the notice of which was
accomp y an information circular.

@) If a director or proposed director has held more than one position in the
c r*any, or a parent or subsidiary, state only the first and last position held.

\ () State the number of securities of each class of voting securities of the

company or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly
or indirectly, by each proposed director.
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(9) If securities carrying 10% or more of the voting rights attached to all voting
securities of the company or of any of its subsidiaries are beneficially owned, or
controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by any proposed director and the proposed
director’s associates or affiliates,

0] state the number of securities of each class of voting secur@‘
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by the associa@ r
affiliates; and (l/

(i) name each associate or affiliate whose security holdm@é‘re 10%

or more. Q~

7.2  If a proposed director

(@) is, as at the date of the information circular, o @een, within 10 years
before the date of the information circular, a director, c ’g\e ecutive officer or chief
financial officer of any company (including the cor@ in respect of which the
information circular is being prepared) that, (‘O

0] was subject to an order tha}@issued while the proposed director
was acting in the capacity as director, chief eﬁsu e officer or chief financial officer; or

(i) was subject to an o‘f@'}]at was issued after the proposed director
ceased to be a director, chief executigr officer or chief financial officer and which
resulted from an event that occur, eR\whiIe that person was acting in the capacity as
director, chief executive officer i@@f financial officer,

ct; or

whether the order is still jn
(b) is, as @date of the information circular, or has been within 10 years

before the date information circular, a director or executive officer of any company
(including the c&‘u any in respect of which the information circular is being prepared)
that, while person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person
ceasing In that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation
relati é‘bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings,
arr@went or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or
g e appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or

N\

state the fact ;&“describe the basis on which the order was made and

(c) has, within the 10 years before the date of the information circular,
become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or
insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or
compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to
hold the assets of the proposed director, state the fact.

151



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 31, 2013 TO SEPTEMBER 29, 2014

7.2.1 Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which they were
imposed, or the terms of the settlement agreement and the circumstances that gave rise
to the settlement agreement, if a proposed director has been subject to

(@) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to secur'ti&
legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlé@nt
agreement with a securities regulatory authority; or (l/

(b)  any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or reg'(l(%o?y body
that would likely be considered important to a reasonable securityhgf§er¥n deciding
whether to vote for a proposed director. Q/

7.2.2 Despite section 7.2.1, no disclosure is required of Q?ement agreement
entered into before December 31, 2000 unless the disclosu Id likely be important
to a reasonable securityholder in deciding whether to vote /Qr'® proposed director.

INSTRUCTIONS %Q/

0] The disclosure required by sections 7.2@.2.1 also applies to any personal
holding companies of the proposed director. 0.')

(i) A management cease trade ord %'}1 applies to directors or executive officers
of a company is an “order” for the egmrposes of paragraph 7.2(a)(i) and must be
disclosed, whether or not the propQ%éq director was named in the order.

(i) A late filing fee, such a'éa filing fee that applies to the late filing of an insider
report, is not a “penalty or s n” for the purposes of section 7.2.1.

(iv)  The disclosure 4 ragraph 7.2(a)(i) only applies if the proposed director was a
director, chief exec officer or chief financial officer when the order was issued
against the co . You do not have to provide disclosure if the proposed director
became a di&/ r,-chief executive officer or chief financial officer after the order was
issued.

7.2.3 &he purposes of subsection 7.2(a), “order” means

E << (@) acease trade order;

(b)  an order similar to a cease trade order; or

(c) an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under
securities legislation,
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that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days.
7.3 If any proposed director is to be elected under any arrangement or understanding
between the proposed director and any other person, except the directors and executive
officers of the company acting solely in such capacity, name the other person and
describe briefly the arrangement or understanding. '\
Item 8 Executive Compensation (19

Despite section 9.3.1 of the Regulation, if you are sending thiq%c;‘rmation

circular in connection with a meeting Q~

(@) thatis an annual general meeting, %

(b) at which the company’s directors are to be elecy&g,

(© at which the company’s securityholders vy asked to vote on a matter
relating to executive compensation, include a comple rm 51-102F6.
Item 9 Securities Authorized for Issuary@der Equity Compensation
Plans 0.')
9.1 Equity Compensation Plan Inf ion

(2) Provide the information in stection (2) if you are sending this information
circular in connection with a mﬂ%

(@ thatisan an@'éneral meeting,

(b)  atwhich ompany’s directors are to be elected, or

(c) at the company’s securityholders will be asked to vote on a matter
relating to ex Iv&é compensation or a transaction that involves the company issuing
securities. é/
(2) tabular form under the caption set out, provide the information specified in
secj .2 as of the end of the company's most recently completed financial year with
respRct to compensation plans under which equity securities of the company are

\é«orized for issuance, aggregated as follows:
(@) all compensation plans previously approved by securityholders; and

(b)  all compensation plans not previously approved by securityholders.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities to Weighted-average Number of securities
be issued upon exercise price of remaining available for
exercise of outstanding | outstanding options, future issuance under
options, warrants and warrants and rights equity compensation
rights (b) plans (excluding b‘
(@) securities reflectedN
column (a
(c) )
Plan Category v

approved by securityholders

Equity compensation plans \bﬁ
A(l/

Equity compensation plans not \<~
approved by securityholders Q/

Total

N
9.2 Include in the table the following information as of th %/of the company's most
recently completed financial year for each category of C(Qp sation plan described in
section 9.1:

(@) the number of securities to be issu@upon the exercise of outstanding
options, warrants and rights (column (a));

(b)  the weighted-average exerc E\:)?ce of the outstanding options, warrants
and rights disclosed under subsection 9@ (column (b)); and

(© other than securitie '\bé issued upon the exercise of the outstanding
options, warrants and rights didclosed in subsection 9.2(a), the number of securities
remaining available for futurei?i nce under the plan (column (c)).

9.3 For each compergaNon plan under which equity securities of the company are
authorized for issua&d that was adopted without the approval of securityholders,
describe briefly, i% tive form, the material features of the plan.

INSTRUCTI g

0] TQ‘Sd\sclosure under Item 9 relating to compensation plans must include
indivi@ ompensation arrangements.

i Provide disclosure with respect to any compensation plan of the company (or
rent, subsidiary or affiliate of the company) under which equity securities of the
company are authorized for issuance to employees or non-employees (such as
directors, consultants, advisors, vendors, customers, suppliers or lenders) in exchange
for consideration in the form of goods or services. You do not have to provide disclosure
regarding any plan, contract or arrangement for the issuance of warrants or rights to all
securityholders of the company on a pro rata basis (such as a rights offering).
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(i) If more than one class of equity security is issued under the company's
compensation plans, disclose aggregate plan information for each class of security
separately.

(iv)  You may aggregate information regarding individual compensation arrangem?{bg
with the plan information required under subsections 9.1(a) and (b), as applicable.Q

connection with a merger, consolidation or other acquisition transactio suant to
which the company may make subsequent grants or awards of its equig)seturities with
the plan information required under subsections 9.1(a) and (b), as able. Disclose
on an aggregated basis in a footnote to the table the infor required under
subsections 9.2(a) and (b) with respect to any individual op;% warrants or rights

(v) You may aggregate information regarding a compensation planfrgu?(ed in

outstanding under the compensation plan assumed in tion with a merger,
consolidation or other acquisition transaction. Q

(vi) To the extent that the number of securitiq%ﬁwaining available for future
issuance disclosed in column (c) includes securitigasavdilable for future issuance under
any compensation plan other than upon the Qse of an option, warrant or right,
disclose the number of securities and type %5' separately for each such plan in a
footnote to the table. r\

(vii) If the description of a compens{amon plan set forth in the company's financial
statements contains the disclosur, thuired by section 9.3, a cross-reference to the
description satisfies the requiremgehl9 of section 9.3.

(viii)  If an equity compen k’n plan contains a formula for calculating the number of
securities available for i s@ce under the plan, including, without limitation, a formula
that automatically in es the number of securities available for issuance by a
percentage of the er of outstanding securities of the company, describe this
formula in a foot 0 the table.

Item 10 @iebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers

10.1 §g7egate Indebtedness
Z,

[(AOGREGATE INDEBTEDNESS ($)

@erose To the Company or its Subsidiaries To Another Entity
' (a) (b) (€)

Share purchases
Other
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Q) Complete the above table for the aggregate indebtedness outstanding as at a
date within 30 days before the date of the information circular entered into in connection
with:

(a)

(b)

a purchase of securities; and

all other indebtedness.

(2) Report separately the indebtedness to Q)
4
(a) the company or any of its subsidiaries (column (b)); and Q:l/
(b)  another entity if the indebtedness is the subject of rantee, support

agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or u nding provided by
the company or any of its subsidiaries (column (c)), ,&/

former executive officers,
diaries.

of all executive officers, directors, employees
directors and employees of the company or any of its

(3)  “Support agreement” includes, but is
assistance in the maintenance or serwcmg
provide compensation for the purpose of
the borrower. (1/

10.2 Indebtedness of Directors NExecutlve Officers under (1) Securities
Purchase and (2) Other Progr ‘S)

|ted to, an agreement to provide
indebtedness and an agreement to
|n|ng or servicing any indebtedness of

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORZS&ECUTIVE OFFICERS UNDER (1)
SECURITIES PURCHASE AND ( R PROGRAMS
Name and Involvement of Margest Amount Financially Security for Amount
Principal Company o Amount Outstanding as Assisted Indebtedness Forgiven
Position Subsidiaro\ Outstanding at [Date within Securities 0) During [Most
(@) (b During [Most 30 days] Purchases Recently
Recently %) During [Most Completed
Completed (d) Recently Financial
@ Financial Completed Year]
C) Year] Financial (%)
(%) Year] (9)
Q‘ © #)
<<O ©

%;%urities Purchase Programs

Other Programs
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(2) Complete the above table for each individual who is, or at any time during the
most recently completed financial year was, a director or executive officer of the
company, each proposed nominee for election as a director of the company, and each
associate of any such director, executive officer or proposed nominee,

(@ who is, or at any time since the beginning of the most recently compl t@g
financial year of the company has been, indebted to the company or anyg\is
subsidiaries, or

(b)  whose indebtedness to another entity is, or at any tima%iﬁce the
beginning of the most recently completed financial year has been, g; bject of a
guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other simil rangement or
understanding provided by the company or any of its subsidiaries, %

and separately disclose the indebtedness for security ase programs and all
other programs.

(2) Note the following: COQ?

Column (a) - disclose the name and p}qe | position of the borrower. If the
borrower was, during the most recently corpplet®d financial year, but no longer is a
director or executive officer, state that factNf<he borrower is a proposed nominee for
election as a director, state that fact. e borrower is included as an associate,
describe briefly the relationship of the rower to an individual who is or, during the
financial year, was a director or wtive officer or who is a proposed nominee for
election as a director, name thaj i idual and provide the information required by this
subparagraph for that |nd|V|d

Column (b) - disclo hether the company or a subsidiary of the company is the
lender or the provide a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or similar
arrangement or und nding.

Column(() - disclose the largest aggregate amount of the indebtedness
outstandin&) y time during the most recently completed financial year.

\ﬁmﬂn (d) - disclose the aggregate amount of indebtedness outstanding as at a
datg'< in 30 days before the date of the information circular.

% Column (e) - disclose separately for each class or series of securities, the sum of
\ue number of securities purchased during the most recently completed financial year
with the financial assistance (security purchase programs only).

Column (f) - disclose the security for the indebtedness, if any, provided to the
company, any of its subsidiaries or the other entity (security purchase programs only).
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Column (g) - disclose the total amount of indebtedness that was forgiven at any
time during the most recently completed financial year.

3) Supplement the above table with a summary discussion of

each guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrange r

(@) the material terms of each incidence of indebtedness and, if applic;%é,\of
0
understanding, including

b

(1) the nature of the transaction in which the in@gﬂness was

incurred; Q/
(i) the rate of interest; &
L&

(i) the term to maturity; Q
(iv)  any understanding, agreement or@(tion to limit recourse; and
(v) any security for the indebte&@;

(b)  any material adjustment or ew;%adment made during the most recently
completed financial year to the term the indebtedness and, if applicable, the
guarantee, support agreement, letter of qgedit or similar arrangement or understanding.
Forgiveness of indebtedness repa)rkwl«in column (g) of the above table should be

explained; and *

(c) the class or s E‘of the securities purchased with financial assistance or
held as security for th &)tedness and, if the class or series of securities is not
publicly traded, all r%uial terms of the securities, including the provisions for
exchange, conversi ercise, redemption, retraction and dividends.

10.3 Youdg nQn ed to disclose information required by this Item

( C) you are not sending this information circular in connection with a
meeti@~

E << 0] that is an annual general meeting,

(i) at which the company’s directors are to be elected, or

(i) at which the company’s securityholders will be asked to vote on a
matter relating to executive compensation,
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(b) for any indebtedness that has been entirely repaid on or before the date of
the information circular, or

(c) for routine indebtedness.

“Routine indebtedness” means indebtedness described in any of the follow

clauses: Q

0] If the company or its subsidiary makes loans to employees genéslu‘ ,

(A) the loans are made on terms no more favourable (J(e terms on
which loans are made by the company or its subsidiary to employeeS% rally, and

remaining unpaid under the loans to the director, exeg®f¥g* officer or proposed

(B) the amount, at any time during the last ted financial year,
&,OOO.

nominee, together with his or her associates, does not exrﬁz
(i) A loan to a person who is a full-time em@é of the company,
(A) thatis fully secured against,QQsidence of the borrower, and

(B) the amount of which in?{c?tal does not exceed the annual salary of
the borrower. (1/

(i) If the company or it bqbsidiary makes loans in the ordinary course of
business, a loan made to a persil er than a full-time employee of the company

(A) onsub ally the same terms, including those as to interest rate
and security, as are avgl when a loan is made to other customers of the company
or its subsidiary with césarable credit, and

(B QMA h no more than the usual risks of collectibility.

(iv) oan arising by reason of purchases made on usual trade terms or of
ordinary or expense advances, or for similar reasons, if the repayment
arran@ehts are in accord with usual commercial practice.

It 1 Interest of Informed Persons in Material Transactions
\ Describe briefly and, where practicable, state the approximate amount of any
material interest, direct or indirect, of any informed person of the company, any

proposed director of the company, or any associate or affiliate of any informed person
or proposed director, in any transaction since the commencement of the company's
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most recently completed financial year or in any proposed transaction which has
materially affected or would materially affect the company or any of its subsidiaries.

INSTRUCTIONS:

0] Briefly describe the material transaction. State the name and address of aﬁg
person whose interest in any transaction is described and the nature of the relati%\ip
giving rise to the interest. (l/

(i) For any transaction involving the purchase or sale of assets by or t %:?)mpany
or any subsidiary, other than in the ordinary course of business, stat?ﬂe cost of the
assets to the purchaser and the cost of the assets to the seller, if acquirsd by the seller
within 2 years prior to the transaction.

(i)  This Item does not apply to any interest arising from ﬁership of securities
of the company where the securityholder receives n &{r or special benefit or
advantage not shared on a proportionate basis by Iders of the same class of
securities or by all holders of the same class of securi ho are resident in Canada.

(iv)  Include information as to any material @Wming discounts or commissions
upon the sale of securities by the company wigreany of the specified persons was or is
to be an underwriter in a contractual relalprR&hip with the company with respect to
securities or is an associate or affili @ a person that was or is to be such an
underwriter. aﬁ/
N

(v) You do not need to di cf3§3 the information required by this Item for any
transaction or any interest in @ransaction if

(A) the rates o@arges involved in the transaction are fixed by law or
determined by competgbids,

(B) th est of the specified person in the transaction is solely that of

director of angti Company that is a party to the transaction,

( C)t e transaction involves services as a bank or other depositary of funds,
transfé nt, registrar, trustee under a trust indenture or other similar services, or

ices, and

E<< (D) the transaction does not directly or indirectly, involve remuneration for

() the interest of the specified person arose from the beneficial
ownership, direct or indirect, of less than 10% of any class of voting securities of
another company that is a party to the transaction,
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(1 the transaction is in the ordinary course of business of the company
or its subsidiaries, and

(1 the amount of the transaction or series of transactions is less
than 10% of the total sales or purchases, as the case may be, of the company and its
subsidiaries for the most recently completed financial year.

(vi)  Provide information for transactions not excluded above Whichﬂ@lve
remuneration, directly or indirectly, to any of the specified persons for sery s In any

capacity unless the interest of the person arises solely from the benefici nership,
direct or indirect, of less than 10% of any class of voting securities of th€r company
furnishing the services to the company or its subsidiaries. Q/

Item 12 Appointment of Auditor

Name the auditor of the company. If the auditor wagsl %ppointed within the last
5 years, state the date when the auditor was first appoi

If action is to be taken to replace an audj %ovide the information required
under section 4.11 of Regulation 51-102 respec& ontinuous Disclosure Obligations.

Item 13 Management Contracts ?{b

If management functions of the%pany or any of its subsidiaries are to any
substantial degree performed othggshan by the directors or executive officers of the

company or subsidiary, \\

management functions ar rformed, including the name and address of any person
who is a party to the aé&ment or arrangement or who is responsible for performing the
management functi

(@) give details §?ﬁhe agreement or arrangement under which the

(b) iQt e names and provinces of residence of any person that was, during
the most Iy completed financial year, an informed person of any person with
which th pany or subsidiary has any such agreement or arrangement and, if the
foIIow@ormaﬁon is known to the directors or executive officers of the company, give
the s and provinces of residence of any person that would be an informed person

y person with which the company or subsidiary has any such agreement or

\ ngement if the person were an issuer;
(© for any person named under paragraph (a) state the amounts paid or

payable by the company and its subsidiaries to the person since the commencement of
the most recently completed financial year and give particulars; and
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(d) for any person named under paragraph (a) or (b) and their associates or
affiliates, give particulars of,

0] any indebtedness of the person, company, associate or affiliate to
the company or its subsidiaries that was outstanding, and

(i) any transaction or arrangement of the person, company, ass@%(e
or affiliate with the company or subsidiary,

at any time since the start of the company's most recenﬂac/a)?npleted

financial year. Q~

INSTRUCTIONS: Q)
(1) Do not refer to any matter that is relatively insignificag{Q/§

(i) In giving particulars of indebtedness, state th@gest aggregate amount of
indebtedness outstanding at any time during the peri e nature of the indebtedness
and of the transaction in which it was incurre@t amount of the indebtedness
presently outstanding and the rate of interest pa& harged on the indebtedness.

(i) Do not include as indebtedness a ‘b!ts due from the particular person for
purchases subject to usual trade terms ordinary travel and expense advances and
for other similar transactions.

N
Item 14 Particulars of Mﬁ:‘rbto be Acted Upon

14.1 If action is to be t on any matter to be submitted to the meeting of
securityholders other thgn approval of annual financial statements, briefly describe
the substance of the n%r or related groups of matters, except to the extent described
under the foregoin s, in sufficient detail to enable reasonable securityholders to
form a reasone ment concerning the matter. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, suc&m tters include alterations of share capital, charter amendments,

property a %itlons or dispositions, reverse takeovers, amalgamations, mergers,
arrange t3 Or reorganizations and other similar transactions.

14. ®t e action to be taken is in respect of a significant acquisition as determined
u Part 8 of Regulation 51-102 under which securities of the acquired business are
g exchanged for the company’s securities, or in respect of a restructuring
\tansaction under which securities are to be changed, exchanged, issued or distributed,
include disclosure for

(@) the company, if the company has not filed all documents required under
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations,
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(b)  the business being acquired, if the matter is a significant acquisition,

(c) each entity, other than the company, whose securities are being changed,
exchanged, issued or distributed, if b‘

(1) the matter is a restructuring transaction, and Q

(i) the company’s current securityholders will have an intﬁ)s?ﬁ that
entity after the restructuring transaction is completed, and (L

(d) each entity that would result from the signific %cquisition or
restructuring transaction, if the company’s securityholders will h interest in that
entity after the significant acquisition or restructuring transacti% pleted.

The disclosure for the company, business or e@ ust be the disclosure
(including financial statements) prescribed under secur legislation and described in
the form of prospectus that the company, businesﬁ&ntity, respectively, would be
eligible to use immediately prior to the sending fihg of the information circular in
respect of the significant acquisition or restru& transaction, for a distribution of
securities in the jurisdiction.

14.3 If the matter is one that is required to be submitted to a vote of
securityholders, state the reasons for sgbmitting it to securityholders and state what
action management intends to t&{ge\ in the event of a negative vote by the

securityholders. \\(b

14.4 Section 14.2 does n ?pply to an information circular that is sent to holders of
voting securities of a r ;&g issuer soliciting proxies otherwise than on behalf of
management of the réﬂing issuer (a “dissident circular”), unless the sender of the
dissident circular i posing a significant acquisition or restructuring transaction
involving the re issuer and the sender, under which securities of the sender, or
an affiliate of ti sender, are to be distributed or transferred to securityholders of the
reporting isgr, However, a sender of a dissident circular shall include in the dissident
circular closure required by section 14.2 if the sender of the dissident circular is
propo& significant acquisition or restructuring transaction under which securities of
the er or securities of an affiliate of the sender are to be changed, exchanged,
i ﬁdor distributed.

I §

X .5 A company satisfies section 14.2 if it prepares an information circular in
connection with a Qualifying Transaction, for a company that is a CPC, or in connection
with a Reverse Take-Over (as Qualifying Transaction, CPC and Reverse Take-Over are
defined in the TSX Venture Exchange policies) provided that the company complies
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with the policies and requirements of the TSX Venture Exchange in respect of that
Qualifying Transaction or Reverse Take-Over.

INSTRUCTION

For the purposes of section 14.2, a securityholder will not be considered to hav
interest in an entity after an acquisition or restructuring transaction is completede« the
securityholder will only hold a redeemable security that is immediately rede for
cash. .

Item 15 Restricted Securities q’

15.1 If the action to be taken involves a transaction that wo
converting or subdividing, in whole or in part, existing
securities, or creating new restricted securities, the info
include, as part of the minimum disclosure required, a detgs

{2? e the effect of
es into restricted
N circular must also
escription of:

(@) the voting rights attached to the restrict%ﬁurities that are the subject of
the transaction or that will result from the tran either directly or following a
conversion, exchange or exercise, and the)@ rights, if any, attached to the
securities of any other class of securities of mpany that are the same or greater
on a per security basis than those attachb% the restricted securities that are the
subject of the transaction or that wil t from the transaction either directly or
following a conversion, exchange or exer

(b)  the percentage ‘b&njggregate voting rights attached to the company's
securities that are represente% the class of restricted securities;

particular whether the icted securities may or may not be tendered in any takeover
bid for securities of eporting issuer having voting rights superior to those attached
to the restricted rties, that do not apply to the holders of the restricted securities
that are the % ect of the transaction or that will result from the transaction either

(© any signifi%a ovisions under applicable corporate and securities law, in

directly or ing a conversion, exchange or exercise, but do apply to the holders of
another f equity securities, and the extent of any rights provided in the constating
docu r otherwise for the protection of holders of the restricted securities; and

<< (d)  any rights under applicable corporate law, in the constating documents or
rwise, of holders of restricted securities that are the subject of the transaction either
Xlrectly or following a conversion, exchange or exercise, to attend, in person or by
proxy, meetings of holders of equity securities of the company and to speak at the
meetings to the same extent that holders of equity securities are entitled.
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15.2 If holders of restricted securities do not have all of the rights referred to in
section 15.1, the detailed description referred to in section 15.1 must include, in bold-
face type, a statement of the rights the holders do not have.

ltem 16 Additional Information

www.sedar.com. Disclose how securityholders may contact the company to ¢r t
copies of the company's financial statements and MD&A.

16.1 Disclose that additional information relating to the company is on SE([zﬁ\at
es

“

16.2 Include a statement that financial information is provided ir@fal/company's
comparative annual financial statements and MD&A for its most % tly completed
financial year.

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F5; M.O. 2006-04, s. 42; M.O. 2
s. 10 and 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 10 and 13; M.O. 2010-17,

, S. 8; M.O. 2008-06,
.0.2013-01,s. 7.
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FORM 51-102F6 STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION (in respect of
financial years ending before December 31, 2008)

ltem 1 General Provisions

1.1  The purpose of this Form is to provide disclosure of all compensation, what v&

the source, earned by certain executive officers and directors in connection wit e

or employment by your company or a subsidiary of your company. Wherever tH rm

uses the word “company”, the term includes other types of business organiz@on such
. . . . “

as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business entities. (L

The particular requirements in this Form should be interpreted%% regard to this
purpose, the definition of “executive officer” in the Regulation, a manner that
gives priority to substance over form.

1.2  You should prepare the Form in the prescribed fo@&)u may omit a table or
column of a table if it is not applicable. Q/

1.3  For the purposes of this Form O

“Chief Executive Officer” or “CEO” m@gs each individual who served as chief
executive officer of your company or acted it\ imilar capacity during the most recently
completed financial year; q/Q

“Chief Financial Officer” or “&g@” means each individual who served as chief
financial officer of your compan (gbcted in a similar capacity during the most recently
completed financial year;

“long-term inceng
intended to motivate
do not include opti
that are subject

v@an” or “LTIP” means a plan providing compensation

mance over a period greater than one financial year. LTIPs
SAR plans or plans for compensation through shares or units
rictions on resale;

“me ment period” means the period beginning at the “measurement point”
which is Ished by the market close on the last trading day before the beginning of
your @mny's fifth preceding financial year, through and including the end of your
co 's most recently completed financial year. If the class or series of securities has

ré%publicly traded for a shorter period of time, the period covered by the comparison
\ correspond to that time period,;

“Named Executive Officers” or “NEOs” means the following individuals:

(a) each CEO;
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(b) each CFO;

(© each of your company's 3 most highly compensated executive officers,
other than the CEO and CFO, who were serving as executive officers at the end of the
most recently completed financial year and whose total salary and bonus exceeds
$150,000; and \b‘

(d)  any additional individuals for whom disclosure would have been @ed
under (c) except that the individual was not serving as an officer of your con@rl‘ at the
end of the most recently completed financial year-end,; (L

“normal retirement age” means normal retirement age as de{l in a pension
plan or, if not defined, the earliest time at which a plan participant tire without any
benefit reduction due to age;

“options” includes all options, share purchase W&@ and rights granted by a
company or its subsidiaries as compensation for em ent services or office. An
extension of an option or replacement grant is a gr@'é1 a new option. Also, options
includes any grants made to a NEO by a third paggaora non-subsidiary affiliate of your
company in respect of services to your companyQ subsidiary of your company;

“plan” includes, but is not limited to hﬂ%rrangement, whether or not set forth in
any formal document and whether or n %p icable to only one individual, under which
cash, securities, options, SARS, phanto%istock, warrants, convertible securities, shares
or units that are subject to restric 'chw*on resale, performance units and performance
shares, or similar instruments a{/'&.'be received or purchased. It excludes the Canada
Pension Plan, similar govern plans and group life, health, hospitalization, medical
reimbursement and relocay plans that are available generally to all salaried
employees (for example, & not discriminate in scope, terms or operation in favour of
executive officers or di rs;

“replace rant” means the grant of an option or SAR reasonably related to
any prior or % ial cancellation of an option or SAR;

ic)rig” of an option or SAR means the adjustment or amendment of the
base price of a previously awarded option or SAR. Any repricing occurring
he operation of a formula or mechanism in, or applicable to, the previously
a ed option or SAR equally affecting all holders of the class of securities underlying
\éoption or SAR is excluded; and

“stock appreciation right” or “SAR” means a right, granted by a company or any
of its subsidiaries as compensation for employment services or office to receive cash or
an issue or transfer of securities based wholly or in part on changes in the trading price
of publicly traded securities.
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If a term is used but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24) and to
Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this
Form and is defined in both the securities statute of a local jurisdiction and in
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1 4&
Policy Statement to RegulatiOn 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Oblig@ﬂs

(Decision 2012-PDG-0236, 2012-12-20). q/
1.4  In preparing this Form: (f})ﬂ

@) Determination of Most Highly Compensated Exech6 Officers. The
determination of your company’s most highly compensated exec fficers is based
on the total annual salary and bonus of each executive office g your company’s
most recently completed financial year. &

(b) Change in Status of a NEO During t%%inancial Year. If the NEO
served in that capacity during any part of a finalﬁJ ear for which disclosure is
required, disclose all of his or her compensation fo Il financial year.

(© Exclusion Due to Unusual (éénpensation or Compensation for
Foreign Assignment. In limited circumsllsQ S, you can exclude disclosure of an
individual, other than a CEO or CFO, @is one of the 3 most highly compensated
executive officers. Factors to consider in getermining to exclude an individual are

M)
0] a payment O(rbaccrual of an unusually large amount of cash
compensation (such as b or commission) that is not part of a recurring
arrangement and is unlikely ntinue; or

(i) th yment of additional amounts of cash compensation for
due to an assignment outside of Canada.

and non-p mpensation for each NEO, and each director in accordance with Iltem

increased living ex
(d) ‘@%mpensation Covered. This Form requires disclosure of all plan
I
11. Exc; a9 expressly provided, no amount, benefit or right reported as compensation

for a f val year need be reported as compensation for any subsequent fiscal year.
<< (e) Sources of Compensation. Compensation to officers and directors must
de compensation from the company and its subsidiaries. Also, the company must
\lhclude in the appropriate compensation category any compensation paid under an
understanding, arrangement or agreement existing among

0] any of
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(A)  the company,

(B) its subsidiaries, or

(C) an officer or director of the company or its subsidiary, and
(i) another entity, Q\

for the purpose of the entity compensating the officer or dseiclgr for

employment services or office. (L

If the company’s executive management is employed or retai y an external
management company (including a subsidiary, affiliate or associ d the company
has entered into an understanding, arrangement or agree any kind for the
provision of executive management services by the exter agement company to
the company directly or indirectly, the company mus ose any compensation
payable

(i)  directly by the company to sons employed or retained by
the external management company who are ac a@ executive officers and directors of
the company; and

(iv) by the external m ement company to such persons that is
attributable to services rendered to the cagpany directly or indirectly.

() Compensation thed to Associates. Any compensation to an
associate, under an under a'niung or agreement among any of the company, its
subsidiaries or another en % an officer or director of the company or its subsidiary
for the purpose of the ny, its subsidiary or the other entity compensating the
officer or director for eé@yment services or office, must be included in the appropriate
compensation cate

(9) Qcition of Compensation — If the company’s executive management
is provided gh an external management company, and the external management
company.Raj other clients in addition to the company, the company must disclose
either é‘

<< 0] the portion of the compensation paid to the officer or director by the
rnal management company that can be attributed to services rendered to the
mpany; or

(i) the entire compensation paid by the external management
company to the officer or director.
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If the company does allocate the compensation paid to the officer or director, it
should disclose the basis for the allocation.

Item 2 Summary Compensation Table
2.1 Summary Compensation Table b‘
N
Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation AN
Awards Payouts v
NEO Year Salary | Bonus | Other Annual | Securities | Shares of | LTIP 4  Other
Name (b) (©)] (%) Compensation | Under Units Subject Payouts( pensation
and (c) (d) (%) Options /| to Resale | ($) )
Principal (e) SARs Restrictions ( 0]
Position Granted (%) )
@ (# © 20
0 Q\
CEO XXX3 Q/
XXX2 &
XXX1 N
CFO XXX3 A 4
XXX2 <~
XXX1 )
A XXX3 O
XXX2 &
XXX1 ~
B XXX3 ¢
XXX2 ]\D
XXX1 A
C XXX3 N
XXX2 N~ v
XXX1 Oa
J

1. Complete this table f %ch of the NEOs for your company’s 3 most recently
completed financial years@he following:

- Colum and (d) — include any cash or non-cash base salary and
bonus earned by EO. For non-cash compensation, disclose the fair market value
of the compen%?at the time the compensation is earned. Amounts deferred at the
election of a NEN must be included in the financial year in which earned. If the amount
of salary bonus earned in a given financial year is not calculable, that fact must
n a footnote and the amount must be disclosed in the subsequent financial

column for the financial year in which earned.

Any salary or bonus earned in a covered year that was foregone, at the

ction of a NEO, under a program of your company under which non-cash
compensation may be received in lieu of a portion of annual compensation, need not be
included in the salary or bonus columns. Instead, you may disclose the non-cash
compensation in the appropriate column for that year (i.e. columns (f), (g) and (i)). If the
election was made under a LTIP and therefore is not reportable at the time of grant in
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this table, a footnote must be added to the salary or bonus column disclosing this fact
and referring to the table in section 3.1.

- Commissions can be treated as salary or bonus. You can add a footnote
to the table to indicate that such amounts are paid under a commission arrangement
and disclose details of the arrangement in the compensation committee report (Item &)b‘

- Column (e) — disclose all other compensation of the NEO thaﬂ@not

properly categorized as salary or bonus, including .

(]Jf property,

0 and 10% of

(@) Perquisites and other personal benefits, securifg
unless the aggregate amount of such compensation is less than $
the total of the annual salary and bonus of the NEO for the fina
perquisite is the cost or value of a personal benefit provide
available to all employees. Examples of things that could be&

- Car allowance Q
&

- Car lease

- Cars y{b

- Corporate ai@

- Club m esship

- Fi jal assistance to provide education to children

- ancial counselling

OQParking

Tax return preparation

A

The following are not considered perquisites and thus need not be

- Contributions to professional dues
- Canada Pension Plan or Québec Pension Plan
- Dental

- Employee relocation plans available to all employees
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- Group life benefits available to all employees

- Long-term benefits available to all employees

- Medical '\b‘

Each perquisite or other personal benefit exceeding 25%§the
total perquisites and other personal benefits reported for a NEO must be igentiffed by
type and amount in a footnote to column (e). Perquisites and other periﬁ benefits
must be valued on the basis of the aggregate incremental cost to yourQLn any and its

subsidiaries; Q/
&/idends or other
@irrights (SARs), loans,

Ing the financial year or
the NEO. Above-market or

(b)  The above-market portion of all inter
amounts paid concerning securities, options, stock apprecj
deferred compensation or other obligations issued to a N
payable during that period but deferred at the electio
preferential means a rate greater than the rate ordi paid by the company or its
subsidiary on securities or other obligations havin same or similar features issued
to third parties. Any above-market portion not re& d in column (e) should be reported

in column (i); 0.')

(c) Earnings on LTIP c@%saﬁon or dividend equivalents paid during
the financial year or payable during that pgtriod but deferred at the election of the NEO;

M)
(d)  Amounts rein‘lbrsed during the financial year for the payment of
taxes;

(e) The oﬁence between the price paid by a NEO for a security of
your company or |ts sidiaries that was purchased from your company or its
subsidiaries and the arket value of the security at the time of purchase, unless the
discount was e generally, either to all securityholders or to all salaried
employees of yO{r Company;

The imputed interest benefits from loans provided to, or debts
incur@ behalf of, the NEO by your company and its subsidiaries as computed in
accQ ce with the Income Tax Act (R.S.C. 1985, c.1 (5" Suppl.)); and

% (9) The amounts of loan or interest obligations of the NEO to your

mpany, its subsidiaries or third parties that were serviced or settled by the company
or its subsidiaries without the substitution of an obligation to repay the amount to the
company or subsidiaries in its place.
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- Column (f) — includes the number of securities under option
(with or without SARs awarded with the options) and, separately, the number of
securities subject to freestanding SARs. The figures in this column for the most recent
fiscal year should equal those reported in the table in section 4.1, column (b). These
figures are not cumulative.

- If at any time during the most recently completed fi \al
year your company repriced options or freestanding SARs previously awar a
NEO, disclose the repriced options or SARs as new options or SAR ra ts in

column (f). (L

- Column (g) — includes the dollar value ( g?:onsideration
paid by the NEO) of any shares or units that are subject to tions on resale
(calculated by multiplying the closing market price of your ny’'s freely trading
shares on the date of grant by the number of stock or stock arded).

- In a footnote to column (g) d@se

- the number and vaIue@% aggregate holdings of shares
and units that are subject to restrictions on at the end of the most recently
completed financial year;

- for any shar r units that are subject to restrictions on
resale that will vest, in whole or in part, iprless than 3 years from the date of grant, the
total number of securities awarded(%hq the vesting schedule; and

- r dividends or dividend equivalents will be paid on the
shares and units that are S@K to restrictions on resale disclosed in the column.

- Column (h) — includes the dollar value of all payouts under
LTIPs. O
QT Awards of shares or units that are subject to restrictions on
resale tha Q? subject to performance-based conditions prior to vesting may be
disclose t)_ IP awards under the table in section 3.1 instead of under column (g). If
this a\@ah is selected, once the share or unit vests, it must be reported as an LTIP

pa)Q column (h).
- If any specified performance target, goal or condition to
yout was waived regarding any amount included in LTIP payouts, disclose this fact in
a footnote to column (h).

- Column (i) — must include, but is not limited to,
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(@) The amount paid, payable or accrued to a NEO for

(1) the resignation, retirement or other termination
of the NEO’s employment with your company or one of its subsidiaries; or

(i) a change in control of your company or on&?ﬁ
its subsidiaries or a change in the NEO’s responsibilities following such a cha@e n

control. (l/

(b)  The dollar value of the above-market pt%o?l of all
interest, dividends or other amounts earned during the financial year, al€ulated with
respect to that period, excluding amounts that are paid during that%’ d, or payable
during that period at the election of the NEO that were rep s other annual
compensation in column (e). See the description for colu , point (b) for an
explanation of the above market portion. &

(© The dollar value g? mounts earned on LTIP

compensation during the financial year, or calculate respect to that period, and
dividend equivalents earned during that period ept that amounts paid during that
period, or payable during that period at the eIgK of the NEO must be reported as
other annual compensation in column (e).

(d  Annu %'}tributions or other allocations by the
company or its subsidiaries to vestegland unvested defined contribution plans or
employee savings plans. These l}%hgfﬁs are not considered to be perquisites due to
their all-inclusive nature.

( ?‘ The dollar value of any insurance premium paid by, or
on behalf of, your com its subsidiaries during the financial year with respect to
term life insurance @the benefit of a NEO. If there is an arrangement or
understanding, whe ormal or informal, that the NEO has received or will receive or
be allocated an | t in any cash surrender value under the insurance policy, either

0] the full dollar value of the remainder of the
premiuua~ by, or on behalf of, the company or its subsidiaries; or

O (i) if the premiums will be refunded to the

c any or its subsidiaries on termination of the policy, the dollar value of the benefit to

NEO of the remainder of the premium paid by, or on behalf of, the company or its

&bsidiaries during the financial year. This benefit must be determined for the period,
projected on an actuarial basis, between payment of premium and the refund.

() If the NEO’s compensation takes the form of a
contribution to assist in the NEO’s purchase of shares, the amount of the contribution,
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unless the contribution was available generally, either to all securityholders or to all
salaried employees of the company.

- The same method of reporting under this paragraph must be
used for each NEO. If your company changes methods of reporting from one year to the
next, that fact and the reason for the change must be disclosed in a footnot?\wg

column (i). (19

- The following need not be reported in column (i): (2).\

(1) LTIP awards and amounts receive(Qvg xercise of

(i) information on defined benefi &ctuarial plans.

2. The $150,000 threshold only applies to the most reéﬁs scal year in determining

the NEOs. Q/

3. If, during any of the financial years covermb the table, your company or its
subsidiaries did not employ a NEO for the entire,% cial year, disclose this fact and the
number of months the NEO was so employecHi) g the year in a footnote to the table.

options and SARs; and

|
url
4. If during any of the financial‘.@lrs covered by the table, a NEO was

compensated by a non-subsidiary affiliag of your company, disclose in a note to the
table N

o)

(@) the amount and re of such compensation; and

(b) whether th pensation is included in the compensation reported in the
table.

5. Informati Cn)w respect to a financial year-end prior to the most recently

completed fin al'year-end need not be provided if your company was not a reporting
issuer at aei)@e during such prior financial year.

ltem bQ‘ LTIP Awards Table

§<( LTIP Awards In Most Recently Completed Financial Year

“stimated Future Payouts Under
Non-Securities-Price-Based Plans

NEO Name | Securities, Units | Performance or | Threshold Target Manimum
(@) or Other Rights Other Period | ($ or #) ($or#) (Sor#)
(#) Until  Maturation | (d) (e) )
(b) or Payout
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(©

CEO

CFO

A

B

C

"Na

1. Complete this table for each LTIP award made to the NEOs duri

recently completed financial year. Note the following:

such unit or right.

the estimated payout or range estimated payouts under

{b«

\N)
n tl’(l}mOSt

other rights

Column (b) — Include the number of securities, unj QT' [
awarded under any LTIP and, if applicable, the number of sec&underlying any

Columns (d) to (f) — For plans not based on gfrice, the dollar value of
ward (threshold, target and

maximum amount), whether such award is denomina

Threshold

is the minimum a

performance under the plan.

Target is the amount pa
reached. You should provide a repres

tock or cash.

m}@payable for a certain level of

aq%\lf the specified performance target(s) is

ve amount based on the previous financial
year’s performance if the target awal&s\ not determinable.

Maximum is the imum payout possible under the plan.

2. Describe in a footn@the table, the material terms of any award, including a

general descriptio
payable. You are n
affect your comp

3. A

n o,

&.

Options and SARs

e* formula or criteria applied in determining the amounts
ired to disclose confidential information that would adversely
petitive position.

of* 2 instruments in conjunction with each other, only one of which is

gr
under an L(TTRY

Ite?<OQ~

need be reported only in the table applicable to the other instrument.

@ Option/SAR Grants During The Most Recently Completed Financial Year

NEO Name
()

Securities,

Under
Options
SARs
Granted

/

% of Total
Options /
SARs Granted
to Employees
in Financial

Exercice of Base
Price
($/Security)

(d)

Market Value of
Securities
Underlying Options /
SARs on the Date of
Grant

Expiration
Date
®
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#) Year ($/Security)
(b) (©) (e)
CEO
CFO
A
: X
C [

NS
1. Complete this table for individual grants of options to purchase sacquire
securities of your company or any of its subsidiaries (whether or not in cohjjCtion with

SARs) and freestanding SARs made during the most recently compl Q.ti ancial year
to each of NEO. Note the following: %/

- The information must be presented for each N R\ Yroups according to
each issuer and class or series of security underlying the o& or SARs granted and
within these groups in reverse chronological order. F ch grant, disclose in a
footnote the issuer and the class or series of secu@ underlying the options or
freestanding SARs granted.

- If more than one grant of option Qeestanding SARs was made to a
NEO during the most recently completed finanﬁal year, a separate row must be used to
provide the particulars of each grant. Hox@g “multiple grants during a single financial
year to a NEO can be aggregated if grant was made on the same terms (eg.

Exercise price, expiration date and vestingthresholds, if any).
M)

- A single grant of o(rh)ns or freestanding SARs must be reported as
separate grants for each tran@with a different exercise or base price, expiration date

or performance-vesting threYQ¥Id.

- Each | term of the grant, including but not limited to the date of
exercisability, the er of SARs, dividend equivalents, performance units or other
instruments gr in conjunction with options, a performance-based condition to
exercisability,a¥e-load feature or a tax-reimbursement feature must be disclosed in a
footnote to@able.

disclosed.

%@ Options or freestanding SARs granted in an option repricing transaction
m

\ik - If the exercise or base price is adjustable over the term of an option or
ffeestanding SAR in accordance with a prescribed standard or formula, include in a
footnote to the table, a description of the standard or formula.
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- If any provision of an option or SAR (other than an anti-dilution provision)
could cause the exercise or base price to be lowered, a description of the provision and
its potential consequences must be included in a footnote to the table.

- In determining the grant date market value of the securities underlying
options or freestanding SARS, use either the closing market price or any other forrp}th&
prescribed under the option or SAR plan. For options or SARs granted priog@r e

establishment of a trading market in the underlying securities, the initial offeri ice
may be used. .
4.2 Aggregated Option/SAR Exercises During The Most RecentlQ;g]ﬁpleted
Financial Year And Financial Year-End Option/SAR Values Q/
NEO Name | Securities, Aggregate Value | Unexercised &alue of Unexercised
€) Acquired on | Realized Options / S in-the-Money Options /
Exercice  (3) | (%) FY-End & SARs at FY-End
(b) (©) #) (%)
Exerct / | Exercisable /
Un able Unexercisable
N (e)
CEO '\
CFO R
A Nle)
B o\
C aON\)
v
1. Complete this table for e Xercise of options (or SARS awarded with the

options) and freestanding SARY duing the most recently completed financial year by
each NEO and the financial end value of unexercised options and SARs, on an
aggregated basis. Note th@ving:

- Columzﬁthe aggregate dollar value realized upon exercise. The dollar
value is equal to n (b) times the difference between the market value of the
securities unde@ﬁhe options or SARs at exercise or financial year-end, respectively,
and the exer'&s/e r base price of the options or SARs.

- C)Column (d) — the total number of securities underlying unexercised options

and eld at the end of the most recently completed financial year, separately
idegltiyg the exercisable and unexercisable options and SARSs.
i' - Column (e) — the aggregate dollar value of in-the-money, unexercised

options and SARs held at the end of the financial year, separately identifying the
exercisable and unexercisable options and SARs. The dollar value is calculated the
same way as in column (c). Options or freestanding SARs are in-the-money at financial
year-end if the market value of the underlying securities on that date exceeds the
exercise or base price of the option or SAR.
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Item 5 Option and SAR Repricings
5.1 Table of Option and SAR Repricings
NEO | Date of | Securities Market Exercise Price | New  Exercise | Length of Ori ir&
Name | Repricing | Uner Price of | at Time of | Price Option 'gégm
(a) (b) Options /| Securities Repricing or | ($/Security) (f) Remaini ate
SARS at Time of | Amendment of Repric or
Repriced Repricing or | ($/Security) Ame@je\nt
or Amendment | (e) (g)(l/
Amended ($/Security) Q~
#) (©) (d) Z
CEO O
CFO N\
A PANN
B AX/
C N\
%
1. Complete this table if at any time during theﬁ;? recently completed financial

year, your company has repriced downward any

<

any NEO.

2.

held by any NEO during the shorter of

3.

disclosed even if the
replacement grant
terms of the gra&

The&m
series u
chron
R

4.

Iltem 6

s or freestanding SARs held by

State the following information for ah@wnward repricings of options or SARs

(@)
(b)

the 10 year period e

P>

qu?g ®n the date of this Form; and

the period duri %ich your company has been a reporting issuer.

Information abou @)Iacement grant made during the financial year must be
sponding original grant was cancelled in a prior year. If the

S

made at the current market value, describe this fact and the
footnote to the table.

ation must be presented in groups according to issuer and class or

ICal order.

rity underlying options or SARs and within these groups in reverse

In a narrative immediately before or after this table, explain in reasonable detall
@basis for all downward repricings during the most recently completed financial year
of options and SARs held by any of the NEOs.

Defined Benefit or Actuarial Plan Disclosure

179
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6.1 Pension Plan Table

Remuneration Years of Service

($) 15 20 25 30 35

125,000

150,000

175,000 y\b‘
200,000 A
225,000 ‘1,

250,000 .
300,000 ﬂ% '
400,000 A Y

\
[insert additional rows as appropriate for additional increments] %Q/

1. Complete this table for defined benefit or actuarial pla @r which benefits are
determined primarily by final compensation (or average figg\c¥mpensation) and years
of service. The estimated annual benefits payable upo% irement (including amounts

attributable to any defined benefit supplementary or, SS pension awards plan) for
the specified compensation and years of service s@ e disclosed .

2. Immediately following the table disclos;b/&

(@) the compensation covere '}e plan(s), including the relationship of the
covered compensation to the compensatighn reported in the table in section 2.1;
N
(b)  the current compe Q})’on covered by the plan for any NEO whose total
compensation differs substantt (by more than 10%) from that set out in the table in
section 2.1;

(c) a state
example; straight-lif

table are subjec
Canada Pensio
(d: cg(e estimated credited years of service for each NEO.

@) pensation disclosed in the table must allow for reasonable increases in
e &ng compensation levels or, alternately, you may present, as the highest
glpensation level in the table, an amount equal to 120% of the amount of covered
mpensation of the most highly compensated of the NEOs.

as to the basis upon which benefits are computed (for
uity amounts), and whether or not the benefits listed in the
y deduction for social security or other offset amounts such as
n or Québec Pension Plan amounts; and

3.
i

4. For defined benefit or actuarial plans which are not reported in the table in
section 6.1 because the benefits are not determined primarily by final compensation (or
average final compensation) or years of service, state in narrative form
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(@ the formula by which benefits are determined; and

(b) the estimated annual benefits payable upon retirement at normal
retirement age for each of the NEOs.

Item 7 Termination of Employment, Change in Responsibilities@sd
Employment Contracts q/

7.1 Describe the terms and conditions, including dollar amounts, of(’t%ﬁ‘ of the
following contracts or arrangements which are in existence at the @ the most
recently completed financial year: Q/

(@ any employment contract between your compan&;&’subsidiaries and a

NEO; and &

(b) any compensatory plan, contract or arran@nt, where a NEO is entitled
to receive more than $100,000 from the issuer or @.) sidiaries, including periodic
payments or instalments, in the event of O

(1) the resignation, retirem oM any other termination of the NEO's
employment with your company and its subﬂq ies;

(i) a change of control‘&zyour company or any of its subsidiaries; or
M)
(i)  achange T%EOIS responsibilities following a change in control.

7.2 A cross reference t losure already made of any payments, instalments or
contributions to defined PeR™Mt pension plans under Items 2 or 6 is permitted.

Item 8 Com @ n of the Compensation Committee

financial yg&’ under the caption “Composition of the Compensation Committee”,

ember of your company's compensation committee (or other board
erforming equivalent functions or in the absence of any such committee, the
ard of directors) during the most recently completed financial year. Also,
te each committee member who

8.1 If any (E‘OQD nsation is reported in Items 2 to 6 for the most recently completed

\ (@ was, during the most recently completed financial year, an officer or
employee of your company or any of its subsidiaries;

(b)  was fo